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Saint John, NB /Saint-Jean (N.-B.) 

--- Upon commencing on Tuesday, May 10, 2022 

    at 9:30 a.m. / L'audience débute le 

    mardi 10 mai 2022 à 9 h 30 

 

Opening Remarks 

 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Good morning and welcome 

to the public hearing of the Canadian Nuclear Safety 

Commission on the application by New Brunswick Power for 

the renewal of the licence for the Point Lepreau Nuclear 

Generating Station. 

 Mon nom est Rumina Velshi.  Je suis la 

présidente de la Commission canadienne de sûreté nucléaire. 

 I would like to begin by recognizing that 

participants in this hearing are located in many different 

parts of the country.  The Point Lepreau Nuclear Generating 

Station, which we will be talking about today, as well as 

Saint John, where the Commission is gathered today, are 

located in the territory covered by the Peace and 

Friendship Treaties with the Maliseet, Passamaquoddy and 

the Mi'kmaq peoples. 

 I will pause for a few seconds in silence 

so that each of us can acknowledge the Treaty and/or 

traditional territory for our respective locations.  Please 
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take this time to provide your gratitude and acknowledgment 

for the land. 

--- Pause 

 LA PRÉSIDENTE : Je vous souhaite la 

bienvenue, and welcome to all those joining us in person or 

remotely. 

 First of all, let me on behalf of the 

Commission tell you how delighted we are to be here for the 

next three days.  This is our first in-person public 

hearing since March 2020 and the first hearing in hybrid 

mode, with participants in attendance in person and some 

joining remotely. 

 We enjoy the opportunity to hold hearings 

in the community and provide members of the public with the 

chance to participate by intervening or observing the 

hearing. 

 Thank you very much for all of those who 

have made our presence here possible and to the staff of 

the Delta Hotel for accommodating our many needs. 

 Under my authority to do so in section 22 

of the Nuclear Safety and Control Act, I have established a 

four-member Panel of the Commission to conduct this licence 

renewal hearing. 

 I will preside over the hearing, and I 

have with me on the Panel, to my right, Dr. Sandor Demeter, 
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and to my left, Dr. Tim Berube and Mr. Randall Kahgee. 

 Ms. Lisa Thiele, Senior General Counsel to 

the Commission, is joining us remotely, and Mr. Denis 

Saumure, Commission Registrar, is with us on the podium 

today. 

 I will, as always, begin with a Safety 

Moment and today's topic is Tick Safety. 

 The snow is gone, the flowers are 

blooming, and our favourite hiking trails are starting to 

open. 

 Of course, we aren't the only ones excited 

to get back out on the trails.  While many of the insects 

we encounter outdoors are undeniably irritating, some can 

also transmit serious disease. 

 Lyme disease, for instance, is spread by 

the bite of infected blacklegged ticks, also known as deer 

ticks.  These ticks can be found anywhere you might find 

white-tailed deer.  Adult ticks are most active during the 

spring and fall, while the juvenile “nymphs” are most 

active during the spring and summer. 

 Tick bites are usually painless, so you 

may not notice that you have been bitten.  Lyme disease can 

infect humans or pets, and while a pet cannot directly 

spread this disease to its human companion, they can bring 

infected ticks into the home.  The best precaution against 



 

 

 

 

 

 
 

  

4 

Lyme disease is to be aware of the risk ticks pose and to 

take precautions. 

 Choose an insect repellent registered with 

Health Canada that has a Pest Control Products, or PCP, 

number on the label. 

 Wear light-coloured, long-sleeved 

clothing. 

 Stick to well-cleared paths and avoid 

heavily wooded or grassy areas. 

 When you return, particularly if you have 

ventured into a grassy or wooded area, check yourself, your 

children and your pets for ticks. 

 With simple precautions, everyone can 

safely enjoy everything the outdoors has to offer. 

 I will now turn the floor to Mr. Saumure 

for a few opening remarks. 

 Denis, over to you. 

 MR. SAUMURE:  Thank you, President Velshi. 

 Bonjour, Mesdames et Messieurs.  Welcome 

to the public hearing of the Commission. 

 During today's business we have 

simultaneous interpretation.  La version française est au 

poste 5, and the English version is on channel 6.  Headsets 

are available at the reception in the back of the room. 

 Please keep the pace of your speech 
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relatively slow so that the interpreters have a chance to 

keep up. 

 L'audience est enregistrée et transcrite 

textuellement.  Les transcriptions se font dans l'une ou 

l'autre des langues officielles, compte tenu de la langue 

utilisée par le participant à l'audience publique.  Les 

transcriptions seront disponibles sur le site Web de la 

Commission dans une à deux semaines. 

 To make the transcripts as meaningful as 

possible, we would ask everyone to identify themselves 

before speaking. 

 I would also like to note that this 

proceeding is being video webcast live and that the 

proceeding is also archived on our website for a 

three-month period after the closure of the hearing. 

 As usual, the President will be 

coordinating the questions.  For the participants joining 

on Zoom, to avoid having two people talking at the same 

time during the question period, please use the “Raise 

Hand” function if you wish to provide an answer or add a 

comment. 

 As a courtesy to others in the room, 

please silence your cell phones and other electronic 

devices. 

 Please note where the emergency exits are.  
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The bathrooms are located across the hall to your far 

right. 

 As mentioned by President Velshi, we are 

happy for the opportunity to hold our first in-person 

public hearing since March 2020 here in Saint John.  Though 

we see the light at the end of the tunnel, we are not quite 

done with COVID. 

 The health and safety of all participants 

and of our staff is our priority.  As such, and in 

accordance with the federal public health and safety 

directives, all participants in the public hearing room are 

required to wear a mask while in the hearing room, except 

when presenting.  Masks are available at the entrance of 

the hearing room. 

 We also urge you to practise physical 

distancing and wash your hands frequently.  These measures 

are very effective to avoid getting or spreading COVID-19.  

Thank you for your cooperation. 

 Madame Velshi, présidente et première 

dirigeante de la CCSN, présidera cette audience. 

 Ms. Velshi...? 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Thank you, Denis. 

 Before calling for the adoption of the 

agenda by the Panel Members, I understand that you wish to 

note a few changes. 
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 Denis...? 

 MR. SAUMURE:  Thank you. 

 I wish to note a change to the Revised 

Agenda published on May 2nd.  The presentation from the 

International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers, Local 37, 

listed for May 11th in the morning will be presented on May 

12th.  This is Commission Member Document CMD 22-H2.209. 

 There may be other changes as we go along. 

 President Velshi...? 

 

CMD 22-H11.A 

Adoption of Agenda 

 

 THE PRESIDENT:  With this information, I 

would now like to call for the adoption of the agenda by 

the Commission Members, as outlined in Commission Member 

Document 22-H11.A. 

 Do I have concurrence? 

 For the record, the agenda is adopted. 

 Denis...? 

 MR. SAUMURE:  This is Part 2 of the public 

hearing.  Part 1 was held on January 26, 2022. 

 The public was invited to participate 

either by oral presentation or written submission at the 

Part 2 hearing.  March 28, 2022, was the deadline set for 
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filing by intervenors.  The Commission received 243 

requests for intervention. 

 Participant funding was available to 

intervenors to prepare for and participate in Part 2 of the 

hearing.  The Funding Review Committee, independent of the 

Commission, reviewed the applications.  Funding was 

provided to seven applicants.  The PFP decision is 

available on the CNSC website. 

 I want to note that representatives from 

other provincial and federal governmental departments are 

joining us in person or remotely and will be available for 

questions after the presentations. 

 Today, we will first hear the 

presentations by NB Power and CNSC staff, followed by the 

presentations by intervenors as listed on the agenda.  The 

presentations from intervenors will continue on Wednesday 

and Thursday.  The hearing will end on Thursday with final 

rounds of questions, including questions on the written 

submissions. 

 Today, the break for lunch will be at noon 

and the dinner break at 5:00.  There will also be a health 

break in the morning and in the afternoon. 

 All the documents presented this week are 

available electronically on the CNSC website or upon 

request to the Commission Registry. 
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 Your key contact persons will be 

Ms. Louise Levert and Ms. Julie Bouchard, who are in the 

back of the room.  You will see them going around 

throughout the proceeding.  If you need information 

regarding timing of presentations, et cetera, don't 

hesitate to reach out to them. 

 Madam President...? 

 THE PRESIDENT:  As we begin Part 2 of the 

hearing to consider NB Power's application for the renewal 

of the licence to operate the Point Lepreau Nuclear 

Generating Station, I want to make it clear what the matter 

before the Commission is. 

 The Commission has before it an 

application to renew the existing power reactor operating 

licence of the Point Lepreau Nuclear Generating Station for 

a period of 25 years. 

 Many interventions in this hearing discuss 

possible future developments such as the construction of a 

small modular reactor or the transportation of nuclear 

waste to an offsite waste storage facility. 

 It is important to remind the participants 

that such activities are not part of this renewal 

application and authorization for such activities will come 

before the Commission, be subject to the Commission's 

hearing process and review in due course. 



 

 

 

 

 

 
 

  

10 

 The Commission is a safety regulator.  The 

Commission's mandate is to regulate the use, possession and 

storage of all nuclear substances in Canada to protect the 

health and safety of Canadians, as well as our environment.  

Though economic factors and considerations are of interest 

to the Commission, they are not determinative in our 

legislated decision-making framework. 

 NB Power has applied to renew the power 

reactor operating licence for the Point Lepreau Nuclear 

Generating Station.  The Commission will assess the 

information before it in order to make a decision on the 

activities that would be authorized under a renewed power 

reactor operating licence. 

 The Commission expects participants making 

oral submissions to focus on the matter that is before the 

Commission in this hearing. 

 Let's begin with the presentation from NB 

Power, as outlined in Commission Member Document CMD 

22-H2.1B. 

 I will turn the floor to Mr. Power for 

this presentation. 

 Mr. Power, please proceed. 
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CMD 22-H2.1B 

Oral presentation by NB Power 

 

 MR. POWER:  Good morning.  For the record, 

my name is Mark Power and I am the Site Vice President at 

Point Lepreau Nuclear Generating Station. 

 Before we begin out presentation, I would 

like to thank the Commission and the CNSC staff for 

providing a public hearing in person today.  Although COVID 

has taught us that remote work capabilities are valuable, 

we appreciate the opportunity to conduct this key licence 

renewal activity in person. 

 We would like to start by recognizing and 

honouring the significance and culture of First Nations 

people as we have participants who have joined us from 

various parts of the province as well as other regions of 

Canada here today.  In peace and friendship we invite you 

to reflect upon the ancestral lands where you now sit and 

respect the contributions that Indigenous people have made 

historically and presently, and how we may all work 

together as we move into the future. 

 I will now introduce my team. 

 Presenting with me here today we have 

Kathleen Duguay, who is the Manager of Community Affairs 

and Nuclear Regulatory Protocol, as well as various members 
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of the NB Power site and corporate team, including: 

 - Jason Nouwens, Director of Regulatory 

and External Affairs; 

 - Jennifer Allen, Senior Health Physicist; 

 - Jennifer Lennox, Director of Engineering 

and our Chief Nuclear Engineer; 

 - Andrea McGathey, Environment Technical 

Specialist; 

 - Carolyn Campbell, Environmental 

Specialist; 

 - Pierre Michaud, Manager of Strategic 

Engineering; 

 - Derek Mullin, Superintendent of 

Deterministic Safety Analysis; 

 - Austin Paul, First Nation Specialist and 

Community Liaison; 

 - Nick Reicker, Manager of Regulatory 

Affairs and Emergency Preparedness; 

 - Herb Thompson, Computer Design 

Supervisor; 

 - Krista Ward, Director of Continuous 

Improvement and Emergency Services; and 

 - Jesse Perley, Acting Director of First 

Nations Affairs and Indigenous Relationships. 

 Next slide, please. 
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 What we will hear about today in our 

presentation is the rationale for our 25-year operating 

licence; we will hear some more detail that we have been 

asked for from the Part 1 hearing; we will have some slides 

on First Nations community and public engagement, which 

Ms. Duguay will cover for us; and she will turn it back to 

me for our closing remarks. 

 Next slide, please. 

 A 25-year licence. 

 A 25-year licence will cover the remainder 

of the current anticipated operating life of the station. 

 A 25-year licence will reflect the 

advancements in the regulatory framework of the Canadian 

nuclear industry, including key aspects such as Periodic 

Safety Review and the rigorous annual regulatory reports. 

 It will reflect the consistency with 

international regulatory best practices with respect to 

longer-term and/or lifecycle licensing. 

 A 25-year licence will not impede regular, 

informative and continuous engagement with the public 

through formal and informal venues. 

 It will reflect the consistency in 

advancing the reliable safe performance of the Canadian 

nuclear industry. 

 A 25-year licence will reflect the 
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safety-focused, preventative and sustainable nature of 

modern codes and standards and regulatory documents, 

including in our current licences. 

 It will also demonstrate commitment to 

meeting Canadian carbon reduction targets and climate 

change responsibilities, and it will support New 

Brunswick's safe and reliable power generation under the 

long-range provincial power integrated resource plan. 

 A 25-year licence will be founded on NB 

Power's commitment to ensuring safety is always top 

priority and it will be founded on NB Power's continued 

commitment to openness and transparency. 

 Over the next three days we will hear a 

lot of discussions around the optimal licence duration.  

Why 25 over 10 years?  What you will hear in our 

presentation and from the intervenors and others is that 

regardless of our granted licence term we will commit to 

continuing to regularly consult and to regularly listen to 

any concerns about our operation of the station.  Above 

all, we will commit to safety being our overriding 

priority. 

 Next slide, please. 

 Some of the things we heard in Part 1 that 

we wanted to add additional detail on were: 

 - around climate change; 
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 - around our culture, safety culture at 

Point Lepreau; 

 - about our Periodic Safety Review; 

 - about our Asset Management Program; 

 - about our system health monitoring; 

 - more detail on the Seismic Program at 

our station; 

 - more detail on the Waste Management 

Program; 

 - more detail about international 

safeguards; and 

 - the distribution of the potassium iodide 

pills in the local surrounding areas. 

 Next slide, please. 

 Regarding climate change, NB Power will 

ensure climate change impacts over the 25-year licensing 

duration are supported and assessed through: 

 - continued production of low carbon 

energy supporting Canada's efforts to mitigate potential 

climate change impacts; 

 - planning for the future by assessing 

long-range potential climate change impacts through 

proactive and programmatic approaches in key areas of 

safety analysis; hazard assessments; environmental risk 

assessments, which are completed every five years; and  
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 - continually affirming operational 

practices and strategic plans, incorporate industry best 

practices for long-range sustainability under the Climate 

Change Adaptation Committee. 

 Next slide, please. 

 Regarding safety culture at Point Lepreau, 

we are recognized as an industry strength in this area and 

we regularly validate our safety culture at the station 

through safety culture assessments, which are conducted 

every five years. 

 There was one recently completed in 2021.  

It included over 800 participants.  This most recent survey 

identified a continued positive trajectory and it 

identified a key strength in staff and contractors' 

recognition of nuclear as being special and unique, and 

maintaining a high focus on safety. 

 Shown here is one of our highly skilled 

and trained senior power plant operators doing routine 

monitoring.  We are very proud of our staff, who make our 

station a great place to work. 

 Some of the other values around having 

females in the workforce in the stem environment of 

science, technology and engineering and math, we very much 

take this as a core value of ours. 

 Next slide, please. 
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 Regarding Periodic Safety Review, Point 

Lepreau Nuclear Generating Station ensures it meets and 

maintains compliance with current codes and standards.  In 

accordance with Regulatory Document 2.3.3 Periodic Safety 

Reviews, NB Power completed a multi-year Periodic Safety 

Review (PSR) and submitted the Integrated Implementation 

Plan (IIP) on June 30 of 2021. 

 This review confirmed there were no 

significant safety or operational concerns. 

 The improvements identified were mostly 

process-focused, that was 87 percent of them, and 

85 percent of all actions were completed by December 31st 

of 2021.  The remaining small percentage of actions are in 

progress and will be completed by December 31st of 2030.  

One third of these are comprised of field work, inspections 

and/or upgrades to the station. 

 An update to the PSR/IIP will be completed 

every 10 years in alignment with REGDOC-2.3.3 Periodic 

Safety Reviews. 

 Next slide, please. 

 Regarding additional detail of our Asset 

Management Program, Point Lepreau Nuclear Generating 

Station has a robust long-term Asset Management Program and 

Aging Management Program which ensures the continued 

long-term reliable operation of the station. 
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 These programs assess the long-term needs 

of the key station equipment and ensures sustainable 

reliability. 

 Some of the components recently upgraded 

are: 

 - the calandria tubes, pressure tubes, 

feeders and end fittings; 

 - our main fire pumps; 

 - our low-pressure turbines; 

 - our high-pressure turbine is currently 

in progress of being changed out; 

 - we have upgraded our fuelling machines; 

and  

 - upgraded our primary heat transport pump 

motors. 

 Shown here are two of our highly skilled 

and trained engineers reviewing some aspects of our Asset 

Management Program. 

 Next slide, please. 

 Regarding our System Health Monitoring 

Program, Point Lepreau Nuclear Generating Station 

continuously conducts thorough system health monitoring to 

support the safe, reliable long-term operation of the 

station.  This is a rigorous program which ensures 

condition and performance-based surveillance is continually 
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conducted on key station systems, structures and 

components. 

 In accordance with the applicable CSA and 

regulatory documents, this process is applied to aspects 

such as: 

 - ensuring safety systems are available 

and poised; 

 - ensuring safety support systems are 

available and ready; 

 - ensuring fuel bundle integrity is 

consistently maintained, including management of foreign 

material ingress; 

 - ensuring steam generator (boilers) 

reliability, which is an integral part of both the primary 

and secondary side of our operations; 

 - ensuring strict chemistry controls are 

upheld; and 

 - ensuring inspection programs are 

adequate to confirm the long-term integrity of key 

equipment. 

 Next slide, please. 

 Regarding our Seismic Program, Point 

Lepreau is committed to ensuring it meets all seismic 

regulatory requirements. 

 An integral aspect of ensuring long-term 
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sustainable safe operations is understanding potential 

seismic implications, focusing on rigorous safety analysis, 

continual monitoring and prevention. 

 Point Lepreau maintains an effective 

process for ensuring seismic requirements and meets the 

program requirements of CSA N289.1. 

 Compliant with CSA N289.1, ongoing 

enhancements are in progress to fully establish our program 

requirements within our process-based management system. 

 Next slide, please. 

 Regarding our Waste Management Program, NB 

Power is committed to industry best practices for the safe, 

reliable processing of active and inactive waste and 

storage of these materials over the anticipated 25-year 

licence. 

 This commitment will be ensured: 

 - by physical onsite storage requirements 

adequate to support the station needs for over 25 years; 

 - by continued implementation of waste 

minimization at the source through our Likely Clean 

Program; 

 - by continued efforts on volume reduction 

of legacy low-level waste, reducing our waste volumes by 

approximately 90 percent; and 

 - by aligning to NRCan and NWMO objectives 
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and strategies for long-term waste management. 

 Next slide, please. 

 Regarding international safeguards, NB 

Power is committed to meeting or exceeding international 

obligations for safeguards, and the safe use and accounting 

of nuclear material. 

 NB Power reports all activities related to 

the use of nuclear fuel as part of our fuelling cycle. 

 In addition, IAEA employs remote 

continuous monitoring surveillance systems to verify 

information provided by the licensee and provides real-time 

views of all areas of importance to the IAEA. 

 IAEA conducts numerous in-person 

inspections, including announced and unannounced visits to 

the station.  We will be hearing more about this from an 

intervenor over the next couple of days. 

 Next slide, please. 

 Regarding potassium iodide (KI) 

distribution in the local surrounding areas, NB Power is 

committed to ensuring the protection of our neighbouring 

communities, the public and our staff through robust 

emergency planning. 

 Point Lepreau, in coordination with the 

NBEMO, continues to ensure that KI pills are properly 

distributed, including updated demographic surveys for all 
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residents within the 20-kilometre Detailed Planning Zone. 

 In 2021, KI pills were redistributed to 

all residents within the Detailed Planning Zone, which is 

20 kilometres of the station. 

 KI pills are also stored and managed by 

NBEMO for the Contingency Planning Zone and Ingestion 

Planning Zone, which are 20 to 57 kilometres, and are also 

available upon request. 

 Next slide, please. 

 I will now turn it over to Ms. Duguay for 

the community engagement portion. 

 MS. DUGUAY:  Bonjour.  For the record, my 

name is Kathleen Duguay and I am the Manager of Community 

Affairs and Nuclear Regulatory Protocol at Point Lepreau. 

 It is my pleasure to speak with you today 

about the integral part of our operations, our social 

licence and the activities associated with First Nations 

Community and Public Engagement Program. 

 We maintain a strong relationship with the 

surrounding community through regular engagement with 

community members, organizations and government agencies.  

We meet regularly with representatives of the First Nations 

communities to discuss station operations, projects and 

First Nations interest. 

 Before I provide additional details, I 
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would like to highlight the photo on this slide.  This is a 

meeting that we facilitated between the Members of our 

First Nations communities and the Fundy North Fishermen's 

Association, who you will hear from later today. 

 The two groups shared information about 

the history of their respective communities, fishing 

practices, interests and share parties that focused on the 

sustainability of the environment.  It was a tremendous 

opportunity for learning and knowledge transfer for all 

participants.  Personally, I learned a lot about the common 

interest in the health of the Bay of Fundy. 

 This is just one example on how Point 

Lepreau and our staff strive to be a catalyst for positive 

change in our community. 

 Next slide. 

 The pictures that you see here show the 

importance of preservation of traditional medicine, sweet 

grass, at the Point Lepreau site.  Youth from the First 

Nations communities visited the sweet grass field at the 

Point Lepreau site. 

 Our Public Information Program is designed 

to proactively answer a variety of needs.  It serves a 

broad range of audiences, sharing information on topics of 

interest which I deliver through various methods of 

communication.  It's not one size fits all.   



 

 

 

 

 

 
 

  

24 

 It also incorporates activities and forum 

that encourage open dialogue and the exchange of feedback 

between our station, First Nation representative, and local 

community and the general public. 

 Open dialogue is essential as the valuable 

information we receive allows us to regularly check and 

adjust our public information program against the ongoing 

needs and preference of the communities.  We are committed 

on maintaining the trust and confidence of our local 

communities and broader public which is the foundation of 

our social licence.  And we know we must work hard to earn 

this every day. 

 We do this by operating the station in a 

safe and environmentally responsible manner, by respecting 

and nurturing relationship with our communities, and by 

upholding our commitment to open and transparent 

communication through the activities of our public 

information and engagement program. 

 As the Commission is aware, we have a 

applied for a 25-year licence.  Our commitment to 

delivering a comprehensive program is independent of the 

duration of the station's operating licence.  There will be 

no impact on our commitment to engage with our rights 

holders, shareholders, and stakeholders on a regular basis.  

Next slide. 
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 The picture on this slide show our 

commitment as well, not only to share information, but to 

learn from.  So we have member of our MTI team that came to 

the station to visit the plant but also provide their 

insight and perspective on our station operation. 

 We recognize the significant distinct 

interest in cultures of New Brunswick First Nation people 

and as such continue to work hard to build and strengthen 

those positive relationship.  We have a strategic approach 

to First Nation affairs which enhances and complements 

corporate policies and guides NB Power in its relationship 

with First Nation.   

 The approach is built upon interdependent 

pillars which are in direct alignment to Call to Action 

number 57 and number 92 of the Truth and Reconciliation 

Report, engagement and community relation designed to build 

and maintain relationship with First Nation groups and 

communities, educating NB Power's organization to 

understand and appreciate First Nation culture, and build 

awareness and sensitivity to support improved relationship.  

We facilitate direct and indirect employment and 

capacity-building opportunities for First Nation.   

 NB Power understand the importance of 

designing with, not for, when collaborating with First 

Nation.  Here's a few example.  We have an independent 
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environmental monitoring program that was designed with MTI 

and WNNB to respond to their interest, additions, and 

innovative approaches which made the sampling program 

effective.  We have an online cultural orientation course 

that is available for all employees to complete, and we 

promote cultural awareness through various activities 

throughout the year, such as the Blanket Ceremony, National 

Truth and Reconciliation Day, the Red Dress Campaign, and 

the Moose Hide Campaign. 

 Last year, we hosted a workshop for First 

Nation youth at our site to learn about station operation, 

potential careers in the industry, and to facilitate 

opportunities to connect with the land.  And we have a 

dedicated Indigenous employment officer on staff to 

advocate, champion, and coordinate Indigenous hiring. 

 On a parallel note, I want to share that 

NB Power is aware of the United Nation Declaration of the 

Rights of Indigenous Peoples Act.  We will be carefully 

reviewing the associated direction from the federal and 

provincial government and will work to support it, making 

whatever change necessary to NB Power processes.  Next 

slide. 

 As previously mentioned, there is a public 

interest in our request for a 25-year licence, and we 

anticipated this interest, given it is the first request in 
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Canada for a licence of this duration.  In support of this 

submission of our application, we undertook proactive 

communication and engagement of our application and the 

upcoming CNSC hearing and included information about the 

duration of licence that we were requesting.   

 Our outreach and communication activities 

regarding the licensing application included meeting with 

First Nation representative, meeting with community 

representative, public webinar, open houses, media 

briefing, technical discussion, station visit, posted 

information on our website, made presentation to various 

community and stakeholders group, and issued a special 

edition of the “From the Point” that really explained about 

licence renewal.  We had dedicated emails and continuous 

dialogue with various members that we meet with on a 

regular basis. 

 I'd like to stress this point again, 

because our commitment to maintaining open and transparent 

communication into engaging with First Nation and the 

public is independent of the length of the licence.  When 

we noted this misconception that perhaps a longer licence 

may impact public engagement, we immediately took action to 

clarify this through our various communication channel.  

Where possible, I personally reach out to our stakeholders 

and intervenor to answer any question they may have had 
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about the licence duration.  We continue to provide 

information to clarify our commitment to sharing 

information about our station activities. 

 In parallel, we're also actively 

considering how our public information activities must 

evolve to support the continuous operation of the 25-year 

licence if granted.  For example, it's very important that 

we continue to have an effective and engaged station 

community liaison committee that is going to be sustainable 

going forward for the operation life of the station.   

 The committee has embarked on a program to 

proactively consider succession planning for the membership 

into the future, considering our best to recruit future 

members that will allow for mentorship and knowledge 

transfer as well as providing strong and sustainable 

community representation well into the future. 

 It is a priority for NB Power and Point 

Lepreau to maintain, strengthen, and nurture our 

relationship with our First Nation and community, who have 

been really steward of the land since time immemorial. 

 NB Power will continue its engagement 

throughout the entirety of the lifespan of the power plant.  

Through both formal and informal agreement in relationship, 

NB Power will assure that the nation, that their interest 

and concern will be heard, understood, and continue to be 



 

 

 

 

 

 
 

  

29 

addressed as we move forward together.  We have a 

continuous improvement culture here in everything that we 

do, including our public information and engagement 

activities, which is why we also continue to employ a 

number of activities to seek feedback and evaluate our 

program on an ongoing basis. 

 Quelque soit la durée du permis accordé, 

l'engagement de longue date d'Énergie NB à communiquer de 

façon ouverte et transparente avec les collectivités des 

Premières Nations et les membres du public ne changera pas.  

Nous allons continuer à offrir un programme d'information 

publique complet qui offre diverses occasions publiques de 

donner son avis, de poser des questions et d'obtenir des 

renseignements sur la sécurité, l'exploitation et le 

rendement environnemental de la centrale, mais surtout on 

s'engage à faire en sorte que la sécurité soit toujours sa 

priorité absolue. 

 There will be no change to our commitment 

to open and transparent communication or to being 

responsive to the interest and involvement of First Nation 

communities and the public and to earning the trust of them 

each and every day. 

 Thank you.  It's really a privilege to be 

part of this community. 
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 I will turn it over to Mark Power, our 

station vice-president, to deliver the closing remark. 

 MR. POWER:  Thank you, Kathleen. 

 Prior to wrapping up our presentation in 

closing remarks, shown here are two of our highly skilled 

and trained operators performing some routine monitoring in 

our main control room.  Once again, we are very proud of 

our highly skilled workforce of nuclear professionals.  

Next slide, please. 

 For our closing remarks, we'd like to 

thank the intervenors who took time to participate in 

advance of this public hearing.  We would like thank the 

Commission for holding this hearing in our community, 

recognizing that this is our first in-person public meeting 

since the beginning of the COVID-19 pandemic. 

 We are very pleased with the new 

connections that we are making through this process, the 

new relationships, the new learnings, which means new 

insights and better understanding for us.  NB Power will 

continue to make adequate provision for the environment, 

health, and safety of persons and maintenance of national 

security and measures as described in the Nuclear Safety 

and Control Act.   

 We are pleased to participate in this 

licence application hearing.  As you have heard in this 
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presentation, you will hear in the next three days these 

programs and engagement initiatives will continue and 

continue to improve, regardless of the term of our licence 

duration. 

 Point Lepreau Nuclear Generating Station's 

[sic] 25-year licence and feel that this term is 

appropriate based on the reasons outlined in this 

presentation.  We look forward to answering any questions 

you may have.   

 This concludes our presentation. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Thank you, Mr. Power and 

Ms. Duguay, for the presentation. 

 We'll now move to the presentation from 

CNSC staff as outlined in CMDs 22-H2.B and 22-H2.C. 

 Dr. Viktorov, you may proceed. 

 

CMD 22-H2.B/22-H2.C 

Presentation by CNSC staff 

 

 DR. VIKTOROV:  Good morning, President 

Velshi and Members of the Commission.  My name is Alex 

Viktorov.  I am the director general of the Directorate of 

Power Reactor Regulation at the CNSC. 

 Presenting with me today are staff from 

the Point Lepreau Regulatory Program Division, including 
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Ms. Anu Bulkan, the director of the division, and Mr. 

Patrick Collins, senior regulatory program officer. 

 Of course, many other CNSC staff members 

are joining us either in person or virtually to be able to 

respond to your questions. 

 CNSC staff presentation and the 

supplementary CMD 22-H2.B provide information on several 

key themes.  These themes are recurring in the 

interventions, and they were also raised during part 1 of 

the hearing on January the 26th earlier this year. 

 I would like to assure the Commission that 

these topics as well as many others have been subject of 

the thorough regulatory compliance during the current 

licensing period as well as they were carefully examined as 

part of the licence application review.  Conclusions of the 

CNSC staff assessment on these topics support our 

recommendation to the Commission. 

 New Brunswick Power applied to renew their 

operating licence for the Point Lepreau facility because 

the current operating licence expires on June 30th this 

year.  CNSC staff reviewed the application and considered 

the history of safety performance in the period leading to 

and after the application.  We presented the summary of our 

conclusions in a presentation during the part 1 of the 

hearing. 
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 The supplemental CMD, 22-H2.B, developed 

after part 1 of the hearing, provides additional 

information and details on the topics that were brought up 

by the Commission Members.  The presentation touched on key 

themes that were of interest to the intervenors.  Of 

course, there are many overlaps within the subject 

discussed in the CMD and in the presentation. 

 I will now pass the presentation to Ms. 

Anu Bulkan. 

 MS. BULKAN:  Thank you, Dr. Viktorov. 

 Good morning, President Velshi, Members of 

the Commission.  For the record, my name is Anu Bulkan.  I 

am the director of the Point Lepreau Regulatory Program 

Division. 

 The following slides provide information 

regarding key themes noted in the interventions.   

 CNSC staff propose a licence period of 20 

years based on comprehensive regulatory reviews that 

confirmed that New Brunswick Power has completed major work 

and technical assessments including, but not limited to, 

major component replacements during refurbishment, such as 

the replacement of pressure tubes, multiple periodic safety 

reviews, environmental risk assessment, safety report, and 

probabilistic safety assessment updates, and an 
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environmental assessment that remains valid for the solid 

radioactive waste management facility. 

 CNSC staff confirmed that New Brunswick 

Power's assessments and life extension activities have 

demonstrated that the plant can continue to operate safely 

for up to another 20 years.  CNSC staff have not received 

any updated analyses that demonstrates New Brunswick 

Power's capability to operate beyond the proposed 20-year 

period. 

 In 2002, the Commission approved staff's 

approach for recommending licence periods.  A licence 

period of five years for a nuclear power plant was 

recommended, based on establishing standardized licence 

criteria, using a risk-informed approach, applying 

comprehensive compliance oversight, and implementing 

regular reporting to the Commission.  A licence period of 

10 years was recommended based on the completion of a 

periodic safety review.   

 Since then, the CNSC has made significant 

improvements to the regulatory program, including 

maintaining and continuously improving a comprehensive set 

of regulatory requirements for the safe operation of 

nuclear power plants, refining and continuously improving 

compliance oversight, improving reporting by updating the 

regulatory oversight report and developing the 
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environmental protection review report, investing in 

ongoing engagement with Indigenous nations, communities, 

and representative organizations and the public.  CNSC 

staff are confident that the regulatory program will 

continue to be effective regardless of the licence period. 

 In 2015, the Commission approved 

Regulatory Document REGDOC-2.3.3, Periodic Safety Reviews, 

to supersede RD-360:  Life Extension of Nuclear Power 

Plants.  Previously, RD-360 required that the Commission 

determine the acceptability of the integrated 

implementation plan.  However, as approved by the 

Commission, REGDOC-2.3.3 now delegates that function to 

CNSC staff. 

 CNSC staff have reviewed and accepted the 

PSR-2 basis document and the associated integrated 

implementation plan.  As per direction from the Commission, 

in 2018, the status of the IIP actions, including any 

deviations, will be brought to the Commission on an annual 

basis during the regulatory oversight report for nuclear 

generating stations.  Any changes that impact safety in a 

non-conservative direction will be brought to the 

Commission for decision. 

 New Brunswick Power is currently 

implementing periodic safety review 2 IIP actions.  The 

diagram on the left depicts that New Brunswick Power has 
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completed and requested closure of 291 of the 346 

safety-significant IIP actions.  CNSC staff have determined 

that 195 of the 291 can now be closed, and reviews are in 

progress for the remaining 96 actions.  Approximately 79 

per cent of the IIP actions are process-based, and 

approximately 21 per cent are equipment-based. 

 CNSC staff will continue to verify that 

the IIP actions are implemented. 

 I will now pass the presentation to Mr. 

Patrick Collins. 

 MR. COLLINS:  Thank you, Ms. Bulkan.   

 President Velshi and Members of the 

Commission, for the record, my name is Patrick Collins and 

I'm a senior regulatory program officer for the Point 

Lepreau Regulatory Program Division. 

 The following slide continue to provide 

information regarding key themes noted in the 

interventions. 

 CNSC staff confirm that New Brunswick 

Power implements and maintains an effective environmental 

protection program.  NB Power's environmental monitoring of 

effluent and air emissions and aquatic and terrestrial 

habitats demonstrate that the environment remains 

protected.   
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 NB Power is required to conduct an 

environmental risk assessment -- an ERA -- every five years 

in accordance with CSA standard N288.6, Environmental Risk 

Assessments at Class I Nuclear Facilities and Uranium Mines 

and Mills, and REGDOC-2.9.1, Environmental Protection:  

Environmental Principles, Assessments and Protection 

Measures, to demonstrate that risk remains low. 

 Estimated radiological doses to a member 

of the public around Point Lepreau Nuclear General Station 

have remained well below regulatory limits, resulting in 

negligible risk. 

 CNSC staff confirm that NB Power's hazard 

assessment remains valid for potential tsunami flood 

hazards analysis and effects of climate change.  CNSC staff 

note that Point Lepreau Nuclear Generating Station is also 

capable of withstanding extreme external flood hazards 

caused by a probable maximum storm and there are procedures 

in place to protect the station during severe weather 

events. 

 CNSC staff will continue to assess the 

model every five years to account for any changing 

conditions. 

 In accordance with REGDOC-2.10.1, Nuclear 

Emergency Preparedness and Response, NB Power ensures 

adequate pre-distribution of potassium iodide, which is 
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effective in reducing the risk of thyroid cancer within the 

designated emergency planning zone of 20 kilometres.  

Potassium iodide is stockpiled in numerous locations around 

Point Lepreau Nuclear Generating Station and is also 

available upon request for interested individuals within a 

57-kilometre zone around Point Lepreau.  The New Brunswick 

Emergency Management Organization, NBEMO, ensures that 

adequate inventory of fresh potassium iodide is maintained 

and shares safety information to the public. 

 The solid radioactive waste management 

facility is used to store radioactive waste from Point 

Lepreau Nuclear Generating Station.  CNSC staff performed 

inspections of the facility and verified that there were no 

adverse environmental effects.  In 2003, the Commission 

approved the phase 2 extension of the solid radioactive 

waste management facility to provide adequate storage 

capacity for the entire production of spent fuel until end 

of life of Point Lepreau Nuclear Generating Station.  The 

environmental assessment that was completed at that time 

remains valid for the proposed licensing period. 

 CNSC staff determined that the latest 

preliminary decommissioning plan meets regulatory 

requirements as well as the cost estimates which are used 

as a basis for establishing the financial guarantee.  NB 
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Power has a financial guarantee with sufficient funds for 

decommissioning activities. 

 Shortly after CNSC staff received the 

Point Lepreau licence renewal application in June of 2021, 

notification letters which included information on the 

two-part hearing and details regarding the participant 

funding program were sent to Indigenous nations, 

communities, and representative organizations.  During 

regular meetings, CNSC staff shared information and 

answered questions on the licence renewal application, 

including information on how to intervene and where to find 

relevant materials.   

 Since 2017, CNSC staff have met with the 

Indigenous representative organizations throughout New 

Brunswick on 35 occasions.  During these meetings, CNSC 

staff discussed Indigenous knowledge studies and topics 

such as compliance activities, updates on small modular 

reactors, information on environmental assessments, the 

regulatory oversight report, radioactive waste management, 

and transportation of nuclear waste, and updates were also 

provided on the Fisheries Act authorization process by 

Fisheries and Oceans Canada, DFO. 

 In February of 2022, CNSC staff met with 

representatives of Kopit Lodge to provide an overview of 

the CNSC and its role in regulating the nuclear sector in 
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Canada and are planning to have regular meetings moving 

forward. 

 CNSC staff have also conducted several 

activities with Indigenous nations and representative 

organizations.  CNSC staff developed the 2020-2021 

Independent Environmental Monitoring Program (IEMP) 

Sampling Plan in collaboration with Indigenous 

environmental monitors, including sharing the Draft 

Sampling Plan, soliciting input on items of interest to 

Indigenous Nations and conducting sampling together in the 

local area of Point Lepreau. 

 CNSC staff were able to learn from the 

environmental monitors how to properly harvest some 

medicinal plants and their uses, as well as learn about the 

area around Point Lepreau. 

 As depicted on this slide, in June 2019 

CNSC staff hosted several individuals from the Indigenous 

representative organizations at the CNSC lab.  This tour 

included demonstration on how IEMP samples are processed 

and analyzed. 

 In 2019 an individual from one of the 

Indigenous representative organizations expressed an 

interest in environmental monitoring inspections.  CNSC 

staff invited that individual to participate as an observer 

on the inspection.  The individual was able to observe the 
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inspection process, the criteria used to assess the 

licensee on a given topic and the results of the 

inspection. 

 CNSC staff were also very fortunate to be 

able to visit Nations’ offices, cultural centres and 

communities across New Brunswick as part of the information 

sharing. 

 CNSC staff remain committed to continuing 

engagement with Indigenous Nations and communities. 

 In accordance with the CNSC’s mandate, 

CNSC staff disseminate objective scientific, technical and 

regulatory information to the public. 

 CNSC staff routinely engage with the 

public and interested stakeholders in various ways, as 

listed on this slide. 

 At a local level, CNSC staff conduct 

outreach activities with schools, including career fairs, 

judging of science fairs and presentations to students 

regarding the nuclear industry and the role of the CNSC. 

 To encourage public engagement, CNSC staff 

hosted webinars prior to the Part 1 and Part 2 hearings.  

The webinars covered the role of the Regulator, NB Power’s 

application, CNSC staff’s review of the licence 

application, the public hearing process, along with a 

question-and-answer period after each of the presentations. 
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 CNSC staff also were present at three NB 

Power organized open houses and answered questions 

pertaining to licensing and compliance activities. 

 CNSC staff remain committed to continuing 

public engagement. 

 The Commission intervenors expressed 

interest regarding whether a long-term operating licence 

would impact stakeholder engagement.  The Commission may 

hold public proceedings at any time and may opt to include 

written and oral interventions, depending on the subject. 

 The slide depicts some of the ways CNSC 

staff, licensees and intervenors engage directly with the 

Commission.  This may include the Commission requesting an 

update on any subject of concern at the time throughout the 

proposed licensing period. 

 At the time of writing this CMD, the check 

marks under Intervenors indicate the current practice as 

established by the Commission.  Interventions with a double 

asterisk may be done at the discretion of the Commission. 

 In the case of the Annual Regulatory 

Oversight Report, participant funding is offered to assist 

intervenors in reviewing and submitting comments in writing 

to the Commission.  In addition, the CNSC offers Indigenous 

intervenors the opportunity to make oral presentations, as 

denoted by the single asterisk on the slide. 
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 Another opportunity to engage interested 

parties and enhance transparency was proposed and endorsed 

by the Commission earlier this year.  CNSC staff proposed 

to develop new engagement tools, such as Dashboards and 

other mechanisms, to be hosted on the CNSC website to share 

relevant information on the facility. 

 This approach will provide timely, focused 

and relevant information on the facility’s safety 

performance and current activities.  This would also allow 

the Regulatory Oversight Reports to be more focused. 

 The Commission may decide to hold 

additional public proceedings at any time. 

 I will now pass the presentation to Dr. 

Viktorov for CNSC staff’s overall conclusions and 

recommendations. 

 DR. VIKTOROV:  Thank you, Mr. Collins.  

Alex Viktorov, for the record. 

 With respect to paragraphs 24(4)(a) and 

(b) of the Nuclear Safety and Control Act, CNSC staff’s 

conclusions presented during the Part 1 of the Point 

Lepreau Licence Renewal Hearing remain the same, and they 

are reproduced on this slide. 

 CNSC staff recommendations from the Part 1 

of the Point Lepreau Licence Renewal Hearing also remain 

the same and are set out on this final slide of our 
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presentation. 

 This concludes CNSC staff’s presentation.  

We are available to take any questions you may have. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Thank you, Dr. Viktorov, 

Ms. Bulkan and Mr. Collins for the presentation. 

 Denis? 

 THE REGISTRAR: We will now move to the 

interventions. 

 Before we start, I would like to remind 

intervenors appearing before the Commission today that we 

have allocated ten minutes for each oral presentation, and 

I would appreciate your assistance in helping us to 

maintain that schedule. 

 Your more detailed written submission has 

already been read by the Members and will be duly 

considered. 

 There will be time for questions from the 

Commission after each presentation, and there is no time 

limit for the question period. 

 Madam President. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  The first presentation is 

by Generation Atomic, as outlined in CMD 22-H2.183. 

 I understand that Mr. Scarborough and Mr. 

Myer are presenting remotely.  The floor is yours. 
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CMD 22-H2.183 

Oral Presentation by Generation Atomic 

 

 THE PRESIDENT:  I think you are on mute. 

 MR. SCARBOROUGH:  Can you hear me now? 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Yes, perfect. 

 MR. SCARBOROUGH:  Thank you. 

 Good morning, ladies and gentlemen.  

Bonjour, mesdames et messieurs. 

 My name is Chapman Scarborough, and I am a 

certified public accountant from Atlantic Georgia. 

 I speak now representing the organization 

Generation Atomic and am joined by our Executive Director, 

Eric Myer.  I extend my gratitude to the Canadian Nuclear 

Safety Commission for granting this opportunity to testify 

and express our views concerning the licence renewal 

submitted by NB Power for the Point Lepreau Nuclear 

Generating Station. 

 I speak before you today to express our 

support for the continued operation and licence renewal of 

Point Lepreau Nuclear Generating Station.  No matter where 

we live, we face the challenges of climate change and the 

energy transition to low carbon power sources it will 

require.  As a low carbon power source, Point Lepreau is a 

vital part of New Brunswick’s just transition and future 
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prosperity. 

 We consider Point Lepreau to be the crown 

jewel of New Brunswick’s clean energy production, producing 

nearly half of the province’s low carbon generation.  Even 

though Point Lepreau is just a single CANDU unit, the sheer 

amount of power it generates is incredible.  Without Point 

Lepreau, just to maintain current levels of low carbon 

output, over 5 terawatt hours of carbon free generation 

would have to be replaced every year. 

 To put this in perspective, all of the 

province’s hydro and wind resources combined only generated 

3.42 terawatt hours in 2018.  We hold that Point Lepreau 

and other nuclear generating facilities like it are the 

bedrock upon which a carbon free New Brunswick and Canada 

will be built.  It is the shining example that nuclear 

power is possible for even the smaller provinces, and you 

don’t have to be Ontario to enjoy the benefits of nuclear 

power. 

 As a CPA, my research into the subject 

allows me to speak to one of the many benefits of nuclear 

power: the fact that it is more economically advantageous 

than many people realize.  Of course, nuclear generation 

has a large up-front CAPEX costs, but given that once it's 

built it can be operated safely and economically for many 

decades more than makes up for that.  Not to put too fine a 
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point on it, but the fact that it is so inexpensive, 

especially when considering existing facilities in 

comparison to other choices, is something that is not as 

appreciated as it should be. 

 Ultimately, nuclear generation results in 

power that is lower cost.  This lower cost power that 

nuclear provides allows us to be able to afford in greater 

quantities things that are required as a part of the energy 

transition to lower carbon economy.  In a sense, it creates 

a surplus not only in energy but also in the economic 

aspect. 

 To focus for a moment on the price of 

electricity and its economic effects, lower cost power is 

not only vitally important in terms of affordability for 

everyday people, like more middle-class families able to 

afford an electric car, for society as a whole, the high 

economic output provides for the resources to pay for 

things like greater electrification. 

 While the purpose of this public hearing 

today is not concerned with the near-term shutdown of Point 

Lepreau, the decisions that this Commission takes may very 

well be deciding how long it operates, and in terms of 

economic effects is worth consideration.  To that, we have 

seen the economic consequences of early phase-outs and 

shutdowns of nuclear power.  A principal example, and not 
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the only one either, of which being Germany, now which has 

some of the highest power prices in Europe, along with 

operating a grid that remains six times more carbon 

intensive than its neighbour, France.  As well for Germany, 

highlighted in the context of recent geopolitical events, 

it should also be noted that their supply of electricity 

and power is far less secure in comparison to what their 

French and more hydro and nuclear powered neighbours enjoy 

as well. 

 All this was brought into focus especially 

in a time of unprecedented, ever-increasing energy prices 

and, more worryingly, energy security, highlighting the 

need and greater focus that must be put on energy 

sovereignty. 

 Unlike imports from countries as abundant 

in exports of energy solutions as they are abundant in 

human rights abuses, Point Lepreau is powered by 

Saskatchewan mines, governed by Canadian environmental and 

labour laws, taxed by Canadian revenue agencies and 

regulated by this very Commission in fact. 

 For Canada, nuclear energy is a rare 

strategic sector that has remained almost totally onshore.  

This has resulted in Canada being in an extremely small 

club of a few nations that possess the expertise to design 

and build nuclear reactors. 
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 We note that the CANDU design, which of 

course is the type at Point Lepreau, has many benefits, 

such as on-line refueling and the ability to run on natural 

uranium, the latter being notable in contrast to nations 

that operate light-water reactors, who potentially face a 

precarious reliance on Russian enrichment services. 

 The CANDU reactor at Point Lepreau faces 

no such concerns. 

 All in all, there are over 190 Canadian 

companies that sustain a nuclear supply chain that is 96 

percent within Canada, covering uranium mining, fuel 

fabrication, heavy manufacturing, construction and skilled 

trades, plant maintenance and operation and spent fuel 

handling, an entire clean energy economy that employs 

thousands of Canadians with long-term high paying jobs.  

For New Brunswick this doesn’t mean that all the money just 

goes to Saskatchewan and Ontario either.  In full 

consideration of local suppliers and over 2,700 people 

directly or indirectly that are provided jobs by Point 

Lepreau, over 75 percent of spending stays within the 

province. 

 These aforementioned are the economic 

benefits and the surplus I spoke of earlier.  It truly 

cannot be understated.  According to the IMF, nuclear 

energy has the highest economic multiplier effect, with 
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every dollar resulting in an average increase in GDP by 

$1.40. 

 While economic aspects are areas that we 

feel this Commission should consider, it goes without 

saying that we speak before the Canadian Nuclear Safety 

Commission.  In that regard, it is understood that the most 

paramount concern of this Commission is in fact safety. 

 I would submit to you, however, that safe 

operation and a 25-year licence are not contradictions.  

For one, regulatory oversight by this Commission will not 

change, nor will Section 47, subsection (1) powers be 

diminished in any way.  Requirements for periodic safety 

reviews and, as part of that process, the determination of 

reasonable and practical improvements to be implemented and 

integrated in the Integrated Implementation Plans and other 

oversight functions will not be affected. 

 I find that it is often not understood by 

the general public that nuclear power plants do not exist 

in a vacuum and are improved and made even safer over their 

lifetimes.  In that context, the Periodic Safety Review is 

one of the principal means by which this is done in Canada. 

 While we are aware that the Canadian 

Nuclear Safety Commission staff has recommended a 20-year 

renewal, we suggest under a 25-year licence there is a 

potential for a greater focus on the identification of 
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longer-term, potentially lifetime limiting factors in the 

next PSR, with the understanding of the remaining 15-year 

operating licence as opposed to a 10-year licence.  While 

licence renewals could of course be granted at the end of 

the Canadian Nuclear Safety Commission’s staff suggested 

period, it is by no means assured. 

 NB Power must of course demonstrate that 

they take safety seriously, and in that regard they have 

not come to you empty handed.  NB Power has completed the 

refurbishment of Point Lepreau and has brought the 

generating station to record capacity utilization levels, 

something that can only be accomplished by taking 

maintenance and operations seriously. 

 In preparation for this renewal, NB Power 

has completed a new off-site emergency response centre, and 

is more prepared than ever to effectively respond to a 

beyond design basis event.  This is enhanced by the two 

synergy challenge events during which a beyond design basis 

event was simulated province-wide in co-ordination with 

local emergency response agencies.  All this coupled with a 

sterling safety record of the CANDU reactor design, and of 

Point Lepreau, these measures, coupled with a strong safety 

culture at NB Power, we feel is more than satisfactory in 

mitigating any potential harm to the public or the 

environment. 
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 We submit to this Commission that safety 

should also be considered in other aspects, such as the 

safe and effective operation of nuclear generation as an 

enhancement to public health and safety that come from not 

having to use fossil fuels.  Unlike nuclear power, the 

by-product of fossil fuels generation is just exhausted 

into the atmosphere.  With nuclear generation these 

by-products are safely contained by design, such as in 

spent fuel storage facilities.  Such spent fuel has never 

harmed anyone, and there is no reasonable scenario that 

could be provided in which they ever will. 

 In the end, we all want the same thing: a 

cleaner environment, a fairer society, a just transition.  

Nuclear power is the gold standard in achieving these 

goals. 

 The record is clear.  In the absence of 

hydro resources, nothing has managed to eliminate carbon in 

the way that nuclear has achieved.  Thanks to the many jobs 

it provides, nuclear is far better in ensuring that fewer 

people are left behind either. 

 An example of this is the work at Bruce 

Nuclear Generating Station.  It has kick-started 

Indigenous-owned manufacturing companies due to the ongoing 

operational needs of the plant.  In comparison, wind and 

solar are largely jobless once they are erected.  So, such 
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opportunity would be absent at a hands-off wind and solar 

facility. 

 At the last, I’m here before you today 

because I genuinely believe that NB Power has the best 

interests of the people of New Brunswick in seeking this 

renewal.  They have impressed me with their efforts to show 

that they are prepared to take Point Lepreau into the next 

25 years safely and with a strong commitment to the people 

of New Brunswick and with the greater environment in mind. 

 Eric and I, and the rest of Generation 

Atomic, fully support NB Power’s application for renewal of 

a 25-year licence term.  We are asking this Commission to 

grant the renewed licence for a 25-year term, with the 

sincere belief that it will make New Brunswick and in a 

small way the rest of the world a better place. 

 Thanks. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Thank you, Mr. 

Scarborough, for the presentation. 

 I will open the floor for questions from 

Panel Members.  We will start with Dr. Demeter, please. 

 MEMBER DEMETER:  Thank you, Mr. 

Scarborough and Mr. Myer, for the presentation and written 

form. 

 I did have a chance to look at your 

website.  I wanted to know, based on your footprint:  Do 
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you have a Canadian connection?  I see you are mostly based 

in the USA, and I wanted to know, if you don’t have a 

Canadian connection, what stimulated your desire to 

intervene at this stage? 

 MR. MYER:  Sure.  Thank you for that 

question. 

 I’m getting a little bit of an echo there.  

Okay, it’s better now. 

 Yes.  I’m based in Minnesota here.  

Indeed, we have a nearby suburb called Little Canada, but 

that’s a little tenuous of a connection. 

 One of our Board members since the very 

beginning of our organization, and one of my closest 

friends, is a person by the name of Canon Bryan.  He is one 

of the co-founders and a CFO of Terrestrial Energy.  I also 

just have a lot of friends and close connections with folks 

at Canadians for Nuclear Energy.  We are constantly 

collaborating, working back and forth on advocacy 

strategies and ideas and sharing best practices. 

 So, I don’t know, I may be one of those 

people that would love to see in my lifetime America and 

Canada be one country, but I realize that’s probably not 

going to happen. 

 At any rate, that’s the connection. 

 MEMBER DEMETER:  Thank you.  That is way 
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beyond our mandate, but thank you. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Mr. Kahgee. 

 MEMBER KAHGEE:  Good morning.  Thank you 

very much for your intervention. 

 I just have a follow-up question to New 

Brunswick Power with respect to the discussion around 

waste. 

 I notice in your presentation, the CMD 

with respect to your Waste Management Program, you 

referenced that New Brunswick Power would ensure it aligns 

its program with NRCan and NWMO objectives. 

 I’m assuming this is in reference to 

Canada’s development of its Integrated Waste Management 

Strategy and NWMO’s siting process. Am I correct? 

 MR. NOUWENS:  Jason Nouwens, Director of 

Regulatory Affairs. 

 Yes, you are correct.  We understand those 

events are taking place and fully support them. 

 MEMBER KAHGEE:  Okay, perfect. 

 Can you just briefly let me know what NB 

Power’s involvement or level of engagement is in those 

processes? 

 MR. NOUWENS:  Sure.  There’s two, I guess, 

key aspects.  One is the event of the DGR.  The second one 

is the Integrated Strategy for Radioactive Waste, which you 
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just mentioned you are aware of. 

 So, our involvement in particular on the 

ISRW has been a facilitator approach. NWMO has had open 

houses with various members of the public and with the 

industry as well to receive input from us on what our 

perspectives are. 

 NWMO has a mandate to develop the strategy 

independent of industry and develop the strategy that’s 

best for Canada.  However, they were open and receptive to 

hearing from us what our perceptions are, what our 

challenges are and what our input may be into the 

development of the strategy. 

 But the strategy is MWMO to develop for 

Canada. 

 MEMBER KAHGEE:  More specific with respect 

to the siting process, what is NB Power’s plan in the event 

that MWMO is unsuccessful in its siting process? 

 MR. NOUWENS:  That’s a very excellent 

question. 

 So, two aspects of that.  I know NWMO has 

back-up plans, that if the original -- right now there’s 

two sites being sited.  If neither of those communities 

worked out to be the appropriate place for DGR, there are 

other plans that they have for potential other sites. 

 However, I think it’s important to 
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understand that our current strategy for maintaining our 

used fuel at site is essentially an indefinite plan.  There 

is no timeline on how long we can store it at site.  We 

have the capacity, we have the infrastructure to store all 

the fuel that we have for the next 25 years on site safely 

and have adequate means to make sure that we are verifying 

the integrity of that year after year. 

 So, from the strategy, we can basically 

continue to operate the way we are currently indefinitely. 

 MEMBER KAHGEE:  So, the plan then may be 

to manage it on site? 

 MR. NOUWENS:  Yes.  If there’s no 

opportunity for a DGR or a Canadian solution, our plan 

would be to manage it on site.  And like I said, we have 

the integrity and the structure to do that indefinitely. 

 MEMBER KAHGEE:  Thanks. 

 Perhaps, CNSC staff, could you clarify in 

terms of your analysis of the plan?  Was that taken into 

consideration in your analysis? 

 DR. VIKTOROV:  Alex Viktorov, for the 

record. 

 I will ask our specialist in nuclear waste 

to provide details, but generally, of course, nuclear waste 

is a subject of attention that is part of our oversight.  

Our specialists will be able to provide any details you may 
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wish. 

 Also, the representatives from NWMO will 

be available tomorrow for any further clarification, if you 

wish. 

 Nancy Greencorn. 

 MS. GREENCORN:  Nancy Greencorn, for the 

record, Director of Wastes and Decommissioning Division. 

 Currently in the Preliminary 

Decommissioning Plan and the cost estimates there is an 

assumption that the waste will be disposed of in the deep 

geological repository. 

 At this level of planning, that assumption 

is commensurate with their risk in planning for the 

facility.  The decommission plan is revised on a five-year 

basis.  So, we would have the opportunity to review New 

Brunswick Power’s plan should that option not be available. 

 To what Dr. Viktorov just said, NWMO will 

be available tomorrow to address any specific questions 

related to the long-term disposal plans for repository. 

 MEMBER KAHGEE:  Thank you.  So what I’ve 

heard, then, is that your analysis predisposes that there 

will be a site for the Hanover repository.  Am I correct? 

 MS. GREENCORN:  Nancy Greencorn, for the 

record. 

 The current Preliminary Decommissioning 
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Plan that has been provided for NB Power includes the 

assumption that there will be a disposal facility of a deep 

geological repository, yes. 

 MEMBER KAHGEE:  Okay, thank you. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Thank you. 

 Dr. Berube, please. 

 MEMBER BERUBE:  I would like to thank 

Atomic Canada for making a very thorough presentation, 

actually. 

 Looking at it, from my perspective most of 

that has to do with the economic side of nuclear power, and 

I think that’s a thing that we can’t completely ignore, 

although it’s not within our mandate to examine in detail. 

 However, decommissioning is.  I’m curious 

as to your -- and this is for Generation Atomic; is how 

thorough you’ve done the CAPEX and the OPEX comparative 

analysis within the industry.  And do you have any thoughts 

on the decommissioning activities and the actual long-term 

costs from an external standpoint anyway?  I know you are 

predominantly focused on accounting and accounting 

functions. 

 Could you give us your opinion of that, if 

you feel comfortable doing so? 

 MR. SCARBOROUGH:  We do quite a bit of 

study into various CAPEX requirements for various 
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generation sources, particularly in the realm of low carbon 

generation. 

 As to a basis of decommissioning costs, we 

found over time that they generally are actually coming 

down, at least in the United States.  I’m not sure how that 

would necessarily apply, if that would necessarily 

translate over to Canada, however. 

 MEMBER BERUBE:  That’s fine.  I just 

wanted to see if you had an opinion on it and if you had 

actually been tracking it against the industry.  Thanks. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  I have a question for New 

Brunswick Power based on this intervention.  It’s around 

level of public support. 

 In the written intervention Generation 

Atomic says 75 percent of respondents personally believe it 

is important that, I guess, Lepreau is operational, and 64 

percent believe that Lepreau is an important part of New 

Brunswick meeting its carbon emission targets. 

 Can you expand a bit around public polling 

and how that has been trending over the last little while? 

 MR. NOUWENS:  Jason Nouwens, for the 

record. 

 Sure, we would love to expand on that.  As 

you know, this is an area that is very key to us. 

 So, before I turn it over to Kathleen, I 
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just want to highlight that we have seen strong support 

year after year. 

 Kathleen does have more details on what we 

found and what we learned from that. 

 MS. DUGUAY:  Kathleen Duguay, for the 

record.  Thank you for the question. 

 Actually, we have one of our intervenors 

that will be presenting on that over the next few days. 

 However, the level of support has been 

quite constant over the past 10, 15, 20 years, and I think 

the gentleman that was looking at the survey must have been 

looking at the one previous to this one, because we just 

posted the result of this year’s survey last week. 

 It is very consistent.  With regard to the 

importance of keeping the public and the community 

informed, 95 percent of the people in New Brunswick said it 

is really important.  So, that continues to confirm our 

commitment to continuously keep the public informed. 

 There are other elements in it that I 

don’t want to go into details, because I would like the 

subject matter expert to be able to explain that when he 

delivers his submission. 

 THE PRESIDENT: Thank you.  We will save 

the follow-up questions until then. 

 So, Generation Atomic, thank you very much 
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for your intervention and appearing in front of the 

Commission today.  It’s much appreciated. 

 With that, we will take a short break.  We 

will come back at 11:05 ADT, please.  Thank you. 

 

--- Upon recessing at 10:53 a.m. / 

    Suspension à 10 h 53 

--- Upon resuming at 11:08 a.m. /  

    Reprise à 11 h 08  

 

 PRESIDENT VELSHI:  Our next presentation 

is by the Passamaquoddy Recognition Group Inc. as outlined 

in CMDs 22-H2.244 and 244.A. 

 I understand that Elder Harry Sapier will 

be offering an opening message. 

 Elder Sapier, the floor is yours. 

 

CMD 22-H2.244/22-H2.244.A 

Oral presentation by 

Passamaquoddy Recognition Group Inc. 

 

 ELDER SAPIER:  Thank you very much.  I 

first want to acknowledge that we’re on unceded and 

unsurrendered Wolastoqey territory. 

 (Maliseet-Passamaquoddy spoken) 
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 My name is Harry Sapier, I’m originally 

from Indian Township and I am Passamaquoddy. 

 (Maliseet-Passamaquoddy spoken) 

 This is not a prayer, this is just a 

statement. 

 (Maliseet-Passamaquoddy spoken) 

 Everybody open your heart and your eyes.  

I think of the earth as my mother. 

 (Maliseet-Passamaquoddy spoken) 

 Everyone hear me.  Don’t cheat on safety.  

All these people here deserve to know everything.  Nobody 

wants this.  Help one another protect the earth. 

 (Maliseet-Passamaquoddy spoken) 

 All my relations.  Thank you. 

 MR. SIMPSON:  Good morning President 

Velshi and Commission Members.  My name is Jamie Simpson 

and I’m speaking today on behalf of the Passamaquoddy 

Recognition Group and the Peskotomuhkati Nation. 

 Chief Akagi also address you, as will Ms. 

Kim Reeder for the Recognition Group. 

 The Peskotomuhkati territory extends 

eastward as far as the Lepreau River watershed and includes 

Point Lepreau. 

 Peskotomuhkati’s interests are rooted in 

the peace and friendship treaties and are confirmed by 
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Canada’s courts and judiciary.   

 The Peskotomuhkati did not surrender the 

lands or rights by way of the peace and friendship 

treaties, nor by any other means since, and nor have their 

rights been extinguished by the Canadian Government. 

 The treaties require a sharing of 

territory and of resources.  The treaties respect access to 

the land and its resources.  The treaties recognize and 

respect the pre-existing and continuing reality of 

Aboriginal existence in this part of the world, and of 

course its fundamental connection with the land. 

 Canada recently embraced the UN 

Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples by way of 

the Act of the same name.  The Act adopts the Declaration 

into Canadian law and underscores the fundamental 

importance of a robust interpretation of Aboriginal rights 

and of the Crown’s duty to consult. 

 Article 18 of the Declaration draws 

attention to Indigenous peoples rights to participate in 

decision making matters that affect their rights.   

 Article 19 of the Declaration requires the 

Crown to consult and cooperate in good faith with 

Indigenous peoples to obtain their free, prior and informed 

consent before adopting and implementing legislative or, in 

the case of this hearing, administrative measures that may 
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affect them. 

 Article 29 states, requires Canada to take 

effective measures to ensure that no storage or disposal of 

hazardous wastes takes place on lands or territories of 

Indigenous peoples without their free, prior and informed 

consent. 

 Chief Akagi has on several occasions let 

his concerns be known about the storage of nuclear wastes 

on his peoples’ territory, yet neither New Brunswick Power 

nor this Commission, nor the Government of Canada has 

undertaken to seek consent from Indigenous peoples to store 

hazardous wastes on this land, nor to negotiate agreement 

concerning the storage of hazardous wastes on this land. 

 The probability of a nuclear accident may 

be small, but the impacts of an accident would be 

monumental.  This risk of course is a combination of both 

probability and consequence.  And just because probability 

may be low does not mean that the overall risk to the 

Peskotomuhkati lands is low. 

 Dr. Gordon Edwards’ independent expert 

report submitted for this hearing raises concerns about the 

long-term feasibility of storing nuclear waste materials. 

 Has the central issue of the storage, the 

long-term storage of nuclear wastes really been adequately 

addressed when New Brunswick Power lacks a feasible 
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long-term storage plan for the hazardous wastes being 

stored on the Peskotomuhkati lands?   

 I would suggest that the fact that such a 

plan does not exist means that this does not pass the 

straight-face test. 

 Dr. Ian Fairlie’s expert report raises 

concerns about the potential health impacts of tritium.  

Considering the precautionary principle, can we say that 

tritium poses an insignificant health risk or are there 

questions remaining to be answered about the potential 

impacts of tritium?  

 Do we have enough data, enough research, 

enough results to say confidently that tritium poses no 

health concerns? 

 The Peskotomuhkati submit that the 

Commission has a duty to consult the Peskotomuhkati, and 

that this duty has not been fulfilled.  

 The decision before the Commission will 

determine the length of time that New Brunswick Power can 

operate the Point Lepreau facility and, necessarily, the 

length of time that New Brunswick Power will be putting 

fresh new hazardous wastes on the Peskotomuhkati lands. 

 The fact that additional hazardous 

materials are to be added to these lands, the 

Peskotomuhkati submit, triggers the duty to consult.  There 
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is a contemplated action that will likely affect the 

Peskotomuhkati’s rights.   

 The Commission may be tempted to rely on 

the 2020 Rio Tinto case, but the relicensing of Point 

Lepreau is distinguishable from the licensing involved with 

that particular case with Alcan.   

 In Rio Tinto the causal factor, the 

building of the dam, occurred decades ago and the Court 

held that for that reason the duty to consult would not be 

triggered. 

 But here, this licensing decision, results 

in fresh new hazardous wastes to be deposited on 

Peskotomuhkati’s lands. 

 Furthermore, there has been no 

justification per the Supreme Court of Canada cases Sparrow 

or Tsilhqot’in of this infringement of Peskotomuhkati 

rights and their lands.  In other words, there are 

unsettled issues at play with respect to the Commission’s 

authorization of New Brunswick Power’s continued 

infringement of Peskotomuhkati’s claimed rights and titles. 

 There has been issues with access to 

information, as detailed in the report submitted to the 

Commission.  Several instances where information has been 

heavily redacted or outright denied, as detailed in the 

report. 
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 Subject to any questions, that concludes 

my submissions. 

 MS. REEDER:  Kim Reeder, for the record.  

Good morning. 

 Then when I speak I will be referring to 

us and we, but I want to be clear however that I’m not 

representing myself as a Member of the Nation.  I work with 

and for the Passamaquoddy Recognition Group Inc. 

 This is our third CNSC relicensing hearing 

of Lepreau.  To date we have seen no reflection of these 

efforts in Commission decision making.  You can likely 

understand then that we had to think long and hard 

regarding whether we would even participate again. 

 But we’ve decided to show-up and we’ve 

decided to participate wholeheartedly because we are and we 

have been ready to advance this decades-long conversation 

into meaningful policy and action. 

 We understand that basing a decision on 

issues such as culture and spirituality and holistic 

health, it might not be easy for a person if it’s not part 

of your DNA.  Therefore, we offer you a multitude of 

alternate pathways for you to arrive at a relicensing 

decision which aligns with both your mandate and ours.  

 Our request is straightforward, we want 

you to follow your own guidelines, specifically ALARA.  And 
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for those in the room who don’t know, ALARA means as low as 

reasonably achievable.  And while the Commission uses this 

principle to guide radiation doses, we propose it should 

guide all risk-based decision making.  It should guide this 

relicensing decision. 

 Being guided by ALARA would mean not 

granting a licence of more than three years, if at all.  

The request is simply maintain the status quo, as far as 

relicensing length. 

 Of the 16 operating licences that NB Power 

has held for Point Lepreau 12 have been for two years or 

less.  In fact, only two have ever been for five years.  

For the 40 years that Lepreau has been in operation the 

average licence length has been 2.44 years, that’s it. 

 In relation to licence length, we’re 

asking only that you maintain the status quo.  We’re asking 

for your decision to be in alignment with ALARA, risks that 

are as low as reasonably achievable.  And there’s ample 

evidence that a three-year licenced is achievable. 

 On the topic of waste and emissions, I 

will relate to you in western science, elemental math.  The 

relicensing decision doesn’t need to be complicated.  

Radioactivity is a form of nuclear energy that cannot be 

turned off.  That’s why we have a radioactive waste 

problem.   
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 There’s no argument, there’s never been 

any argument that the waste and emissions are dangerous 

toxins and a near infinite problem. 

 Where our perspectives do differ, however, 

is that we believe there is no reasonable solution by to 

stop producing these wastes and emissions, while industry 

and government tend to act as if we can manage our way out 

of these problems.  However, if the past is a good 

indication of the future, we will continue to irresponsibly 

create and disburse these toxins. 

 Instead of being solved or mitigated or 

even diminished, both waste and tritium emissions have 

continued to grow.  

 As Dr. Fairlie pointed out in her 

submission, the tritium releases at Lepreau are increasing, 

and per power reactor in Canada Lepreau releases the most 

tritium.  This is significant.  We need to find out why and 

we need to stop it. 

 Regarding exactly how detrimental 

organically-bound tritium and tritiated water and water 

vapour is to our health, well, there is conflicting 

science, but this should act as a signal.  The conflicting 

science should raise alarm bells, it should initiate the 

use of the precautionary principle.   

 For instance, consider the implications of 
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the results in Pembroke recently regarding 

organically-bound tritium.  And the recent large-scale 

epidemiological studies of nuclear workers in the UK, US 

and France indicating a 47 per cent increase in solid 

cancers and a 580 per cent increase in leukemias. 

 Please don’t let your relicensing decision 

and the science you base it on be a rerun of the early 

science around cigarette smoking.  We know better. 

 One final very straightforward reason in 

which you can base your decisions to relicense Lepreau for 

not more than three years is the preliminary 

decommissioning plan and the financial guarantee.  It’s 

unacceptable. 

 Dr. Edwards has pointed us to the 

research, the Nuclear Energy Agency of the OECD, to which 

Canada belongs, published a large and detailed report 

titled, “Costs of Decommissioning Nuclear Power Plants.”   

 The result of the their work, the bottom 

line cost translates to about $1.83 billion in 2022 

Canadian currency, that’s 2 1/2 times larger than the 

financial guarantee that the Commissioners are being asked 

to approve at this hearing. 

 In the Nuclear Energy Agency’s cost 

breakdown the budget line for waste processing, storage and 

disposal is a full 28 per cent of the decommissioning cost.  
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Whereas Point Lepreau’s plan assigns only 5.6 per cent of 

overall cost to radioactive waste.  This is a huge 

disconnect. 

 The plan is not adequate, there is no 

repository NB Power can access for either used fuel or, 

specific to this plan, for decommissioning waste.  

Experience has shown that choosing a site for the permanent 

disposal of long-lived radioactive waste is not an easy 

manner, it takes time, money and a lot of patience.  And if 

NB Power expects to have one available by the time Lepreau 

is decommissioned, they’re already late in starting. 

 As articulated in the Nuclear Safety and 

Control Act, it’s your job to prevent unreasonable risk to 

the environment and to the health and safety of persons.   

 The easiest way to do so is to grant a 

licence of no more than three years, if at all, to make 

acceptance of the financial guarantee conditional on major 

improvements to the plan and to double or triple, at least, 

the size of the financial guarantee. 

 This is not a Staff decision.  This 

responsibility is placed squarely on your shoulders, and we 

ask that you use your positioning and your mandate to 

require a redesign of the decommissioning plan and 

financial guarantee within the next three years; aligning 

it with reality, experience and the Nuclear Energy Agency’s 
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findings. 

 In closing, we want to thank you for the 

financial support we received through the participant 

funding program.  It has enabled the capacity to act on our 

authentic interest in the issue before us. 

 Actually one of the analyses that we 

completed was focused on the interventions themselves.  We 

encourage you to do the same.  You might consider our 

findings biased.  But look at who supports this application 

and how they benefit.  Then look at who poses the 

application, who they represent and how they benefit. 

 If you approve of this application knowing 

what you know today, this will shape your legacy.   

 Instead, we offer a viable basis for an 

alternate future, a future and a legacy of which you can be 

proud. 

 Chief Akagi. 

 CHIEF AKAGI:  Honoured Panel, guests, 

Staff, friends, I would like to acknowledge that I am able 

to speak to you from the banks of the Wolastoq River, the 

home of the people of the beautiful river, a sister nation 

to the Peskotomuhkati peoples. 

 Our joint presentation is designed to help 

disentangle the volumes of information necessary to assess 

the impacts of this industry on my territory. 
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 Though I find the Staff willing in their 

attempts to answer the myriad of questions to which I need 

answers, health issues, cumulative effects, and scientific 

tests on organs, I often feel the answers are insufficient, 

often bias and misleading, especially when I question this 

change so the answer becomes an attack on wind and solar 

with the standard line, “the sun does not always shine and 

the wind won’t always blow, Hugh.” 

 I’ve got news for you, if that sun isn’t 

shining and that wind doesn’t blow somewhere on this plant, 

we’re not here. 

 So in the spirit of peer review, I offer 

you what I consider standalone testimony of experts who 

bring their own concerns to the table. 

 The nuclear story is no different from 

numerous other stories told throughout our territory since 

Europeans first arrived on our shores. 

 The temptation to use what was never 

theirs, creating their own rules, laws and regulations to 

justify that use were all designed to dispossess the 

original peoples of their home, their livelihood, and what 

others consider their resources.   

 The pattern is always the same.  Determine 

the use for the territory, which is convenient for today’s 

society, as a major source of profit for individuals and/or 
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entities tasked with finding such a location which is often 

controversial.  Basically, unwanted in areas which have 

either enough political or financial influence to prevent 

such location.  And if the industry itself is 

controversial, it is necessary to occupy an area of low 

population density to lessen the discovery of harmful 

impacts. 

 Another bullet point.  You sell the 

location to the powers that be using tried and true methods 

of promising success to the industry. 

 The third bullet point.  Then you use a 

similar process to purchase compliance of those within the 

territory using jobs, profit sharing and community wealth 

as incentives, not to buy into the nuclear dream, but to 

sell out the territory. 

 Often lies will be used to hide the truth.  

Short-term occupation and promises of no long-term storage 

of waste due to guaranteed solutions in the near future are 

but two. 

 The native in me would like to share a 

story with you.  In the audience today is a mother whose 

daughter wrote an article to the Telegraph-Journal when she 

was 12 years old.  She was asking that they not allow the 

toxic soup from the nuclear waste to be left in her 

backyard, to which she actually received a reply. 
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 She was told she need not worry, for the 

technology would be advanced by the time she grew up to 

where the problem would be eliminated and there would be no 

toxic waste. 

 This young lady is 41 this year and her 

concerns now span three generations.  

 I must apply the native yardstick to this 

situation, and though I risk sounding like a proverbial 

broken record I need to return to the original arrival of 

your ancestors on our shores. 

 When we first welcomed them into our home 

we thought we were talking about sharing, as described in 

our treaties.  Only to find that they were never worth the 

paper they were written on. 

 We soon learned the lessons of ownership, 

exclusion and, yes, racism in its darkest form.  How dare I 

draw such comparison to today’s nuclear industry in Point 

Lepreau, you might ask. 

 Once again, we are asked to sacrifice our 

territory.  This is not sharing.  We are asked to believe 

that the industry, what the industry tell us, though we 

have already experienced numerous delays, cost overruns and 

extensions which were never part of the original proposal.  

Now, we are to witness yet another extension, this time to 

extend safety hearing intervals which will guarantee that 
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this will be the last time you need hear my voice in these 

hearings. 

 If you plot a graph of how one-year 

intervals become two-year intervals and then three-year 

interval and five-year intervals, only to have industry 

request 25-year intervals, the curve violates any 

precautionary approach to safety relying on projections by 

the industry itself, which is simply giving the fox the 

keys to the henhouse.  In financial circles, this is known 

ask risk management. 

 Ironically, as we age we are encouraged to 

take less risk, never more.  Those who are compromised may 

feel they are on the winning side by supporting these 

actions.  But thousands of years of nuclear waste is not a 

winning scenario. 

 I am going to stand, and maybe other 

native communities, in support of this industry and, if so, 

I look forward to the discussions which will lead to the 

removal of said industry to their territory and the removal 

of toxic waste to their territory for long-term storage. 

 I’m not here to ask for what is not mine.  

A return of our land to our people uncontaminated would be 

the ultimate gift.  For you have nothing I want.  I do not 

consider this land yours, or else I would have witnessed 

the transfer of documents from my people. 
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 I seek only what is just.  We have never 

been consulted.  Our voice has been left out, in the case 

of the hearings ignored. 

 To ask to be part of any decisions moving 

forward would require a quantum leap of faith after 

reviewing the previous track record of this country with 

Indigenous peoples. 

 If this Commission wishes to truly 

convince me that our voice will be heard and have input 

into future decisions, it would need only return the 

following message; there will be no further extensions to 

the intervals and a review to include decommissioning will 

be considered in any future hearings on safety. 

 The native languages are endangered and 

the Indigenous memories of our people and our territory are 

vanishing as well.  Money has purchased more than 

compromise, it has bought compliance. 

 In a world in which the Peskotomuhkati 

agree to share our home with others I will ask your 

parents, your patience, as I share the pain of that 

relationship as well.   

 Only through sharing this will you truly 

understand the devastating impacts to the true native 

content and the real Indigenous peoples who have 14,000 

years of DNA in this place. 
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 But rest assured, the colonial model is 

alive and well, for I feel the objective was never to 

listen to us, but to convince us that you still know what 

is best for us.  

 Not being a speaker, I am often given 

words in the language with speakers feel would serve me 

well in seeking a better relationship with those around me.  

I would like to share these with you as well.   

 Kcitomitahatomuwakon is our word for 

respect.  Paluhse means to walk in a good way.  So I thank 

you for your time and your patience in I hope what will be 

in making the right decisions.   

 These are my words as Chief of 

Passamaquoddy peoples.  Thank you. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Thank you, Chief Akagi.   

 Are there any other presentations?  Was 

that -- thank you.  Thank you. 

 MS. REEDER:  We can keep going.   

 THE PRESIDENT:  I just want to make sure.   

 And thank you, Elder Sapier,  Mr. Simpson, 

Ms. Reeder, for showing up and being part of our process 

today.   

 We'll open the floor for questions, and 

we'll start with Mr. Kahgee, please. 

 MEMBER KAHGEE:  I just want to first say 
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chi-miigwech  for allowing us to be here today in your 

homeland and for sharing with us in a good way.  I'd like 

to acknowledge the Elder for his words -- chi-miigwech for 

that -- and for reminding us of the importance of that 

relationship in the Treaties.  Chi-miigwech for that. 

 I just want to go through some questions, 

and I'll ask for the indulgence of my colleagues here, but 

I want to get into some specifics around the engagement, 

but before I do, I want to talk and ask some questions with 

respect to reconciliation.  It seems to me that gets left 

out in this conversation.  We often talk about engagement, 

consultation, but we miss the objective, and that's to 

reconcile.   

 I want to start with CNSC staff, if I can.  

I'm going to refer to Table 1 in your written submissions, 

relating to international practice for licensing periods 

and public participation.  Sharing that, I thought, was 

helpful; however, I did notice there was one key indicator 

that wasn't reflected in the table, and that was indigenous 

participation. 

 When I look at the countries listed there, 

I noticed there was one key distinction from Canada, and 

that's Section 35 of the Constitution, which, as you know, 

both recognizes and protects the rights of indigenous 

peoples.  And we know there's extensive caselaw setting out 
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what is required to ensure the protection of these rights, 

including the requirement for consultation and 

accommodation, which is meant to promote reconciliation and 

serve as a strong check on Crown decision-making on matters 

impacting indigenous rights and interests. 

 Furthermore, as we know, Canada has moved 

forward to pass UNDRIP into law, is now embarking on a 

process for implementation,  and it not only recognizes 

indigenous peoples' right to self-determination, but also 

provides additional checks on Crown decision-making.  And I 

would refer to you Articles 8, 18, 25, 26, and 29, some of 

which the intervenor has referenced in their presentation 

this morning.   

 And finally, the Truth and Reconciliation 

Commission set out 10 principles for reconciliation, one of 

those being the reaffirmation of the treaty relationship, 

and second, the first principle, which states:   

  “The United Nations Declarations on 

the Rights of Indigenous Peoples is 

the framework for reconciliation at 

all levels and across all sectors of 

Canadian society.” 

 In light of all of this, my question is 

this: how will granting a 20-year licence on this 

application promote and facilitate reconciliation with 



 

 

 

 

 

 
 

  

82 

indigenous peoples? 

 DR. VIKTOROV:  Alex Viktorov, for the 

record.  Thank you for this question. 

 Before I turn over the mic to our Adam 

Levine, I would like to assure the Commission that CNSC 

staff very sincerely make every effort we can to engage 

with indigenous communities; reflect the evolving 

situation, expectations from the communities and nations; 

and follow the government rules.   

 And I'll ask Adam to elaborate what is 

being done right now. 

 MR. LEVINE:  Good morning.  Miigwech.  My 

name is Adam Levine.  I am the Team Lead for Indigenous 

Relations and Participant Funding for the Canadian Nuclear 

Safety Commission, and first of all I just want to say 

thank you so much, Chief Akagi and your whole team, for 

participating.  I know it is a lot of effort to prepare for 

these proceedings, and a lot of documentation, a lot of 

questions, a lot of discussions, and I just want to say 

that your voices really do matter in these proceedings and 

in the process.   

 And from the staff's perspective, our 

engagement is genuine and is committed to that path of 

reconciliation.  And that relationship started over a 

decade ago.  It may not seem so long in the grand scheme of 
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things, but I believe we have come a long way together 

already, and there's a lot more to be done on that front.  

We are always there, answering questions, wanting to 

understand the concerns, have them addressed, and making 

sure we're talking about the things that are important to 

the Passamaquoddy and other nations and bring that before 

the Commission.   

 And being here really does help the 

Commission, who are the decision-makers in these matters, 

hear those concerns and ensure that they are reflected in 

their decision-making.   

 In terms of the question from the 

Commission regarding, what does a 20- or 25-year licence 

renewal -- how does that contribute to reconciliation and 

our relationship with indigenous peoples -- our view is 

that we're a lifecycle regulator.  We are there no matter 

what the licensing term may be or what's going on at the 

different facilities.   

 Our commitment as staff is that we are 

always there to build relationships, collaborate, and 

advance that as there are new best practices, standards, 

more capacity amongst ourselves and the Nations and 

communities.  So what we've started is a regular dialogue 

and relationship with Chief Akagi and the Passamaquoddy 

Nation, and that's going to continue, and continue to 
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strengthen.   

 We've already put forward to Chief Akagi 

and his community that we would really be interested in 

formalizing that relationship through a terms of reference 

or other means.  We already meet multiple times a year, and 

any topic they would like to talk about, we always bring 

the experts to do so, and follow up to make sure they have 

all the information and that we're as transparent as 

possible with everything that we do with them. 

 And so, really it's got to be a two-way 

relationship, a two-way dialogue.  We are very much willing 

to do lots of different things together to ensure the 

Passamaquoddy and other Nations feel they have their true 

voices heard within the process, no matter whether it's 

part of this hearing or in the ongoing oversight of Point 

Lepreau.   

 So the 20-year renewal or 25 - whatever 

the Commission decides -- does not necessarily have a 

specific bearing on our path towards reconciliation.  We 

are there throughout the lifecycle of this facility and all 

the materials that are being safely managed there, and we 

want to hear directly from the Passamaquoddy on what that 

looks like for them as well.   

 But we have the ability, we have the tools 

and resources to do this together and really advance the 
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work we're doing, and so I think we have a long way to go 

but we've already started along that path to reconciliation 

and it will continue throughout the licensing term, no 

matter how long it is.   

 Miigwech.  Thank you. 

 MEMBER KAHGEE:  Thank you for that.   

 I just have a follow-up question to both 

CNSC and New Brunswick Power.  Passamaquoddy has expressed 

concerns and frustrations with efficiencies in the process.   

 What efforts have CNSC and NB Power taken 

to specifically address these concerns and raise any 

intervention, both historically and, more importantly, 

specific to this application? 

 MR. LEVINE:  So, specifically to this 

application, we go back multiple years to the previous 

licence renewal in 2017, and since that time, we have 

been -- oh, sorry -- Adam Levine, for the record, by the 

way.  I can't forget that.   

 So, and we've been continuing the 

engagement since that time and we've heard many of the 

concerns that Chief Akagi and team have raised today 

specific to the continual production of wastes that are 

being managed onsite; the fact that they were not 

originally consulted as part of the siting of the facility 

and legacy issues; and the compatibility of the site with 
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their specific values and in view of their territory.   

 And we take these concerns very seriously, 

and every time we meet, whether it's going to Chief Akagi's 

community or meeting at a restaurant or wherever we may be 

meeting, in person or virtually, we make sure that we're 

answering the questions and concerns from the staff point 

of view as honestly and openly and as thoroughly as we can.   

 And what we're always trying to 

demonstrate is that we fully hear the concerns, and we as 

CNSC staff are overseeing the operations at Point Lepreau 

to ensure that those values are being looked at as part of 

our regulatory oversight work to ensure that the site is 

operating safely, that the wastes onsite are being managed 

safely, that the community has access to all this 

information and understands what is going on at the site, 

and that we work to find that common ground.   

 We may not agree on everything in terms of 

the perspectives on the operations at the site, but I think 

through our dialogue over the years we've had a lot of 

learning on both sides and I think you can see, in terms of 

the intervention today, the Passamaquoddy are extremely 

well-prepared and have pored over so much documentation 

with the support of our funding program, et cetera, to help 

them inform themselves in terms of their position, and we 

feel that we've done the best we can to address their 
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concerns in advance of the Hearing within our mandate, but 

the Commission process today is part of hearing those 

concerns and having them addressed by the Commission as 

well.   

 So, happy to get into more details on -- 

on those discussions, but we’ve definitely put a lot of 

effort over the years to help hear the concerns and address 

them the best we can. 

 Thank you.  

 MEMBER KAHGEE:  Thank you.  NB Power? 

 MR. NOUWENS:  Thank you.  Jason Nouwens, 

for the record. 

 Before I turn this over to Kathleen 

Duguay, I just want to highlight one of the earlier 

comments that were made around this licence period and you 

know we understand the social licence that comes with 

running a nuclear station in our community, and we 

understand the sensitive issues from all of the members of 

the public, indigenous communities.   

 We strive day to day to run a very 

rigorous program and to really engage with our community 

of -- of all natures, to understand the concerns, and we’re 

collaboratively going forward. And whether our licence is 

twenty years or twenty-five years, that commitment is 

unwavering day to day to make sure that we are reaching out 
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as much as we can.   

 I’ll turn it over to Kathleen for more 

details of how our engagement activities specifically in 

Passamaquoddy have been conducted.  

 Kathleen.  

 MS. DUGUAY:  Kathleen Duguay, for the 

record.  

 Thank you very much for your presentation.  

I had the opportunity to meet with various members of Chief 

Akagi’s team over the years and especially in preparation 

for licence renewal, and Kim and I have become BFFs now.   

 There is a lot of documentation that we’ve 

shared over the years and we have certainly seen the team 

of Chief Akagi growing over the years and which has allowed 

us to have more interaction and more different topics of 

interest.  So, over the years we have done and been given 

an opportunity to visit the station.  We have met on 

several occasions with his team, private meetings where we 

have critical conversation and say, ‘Okay, how are we going 

to address this together?’  Not us building something for 

the nation, but working together.  And we often have this 

conversation of what good would look like, and Chief and I 

have that conversation very often. 

 We also, over the past few years, with our 

First Nation Affairs corporately have established regular 
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monthly meetings that shares information about all the 

different projects and initiatives at NB Power, and which 

provides, also, an opportunity to ensure that this 

follow-up conversation or meeting or discussion or material 

required based on those meetings.   

 The meeting doesn’t always take place in a 

conference room.  We walk the land.  We go to Chief Akagi’s 

community.  And we have an open-door policy, and he can 

call me at any time and I will always make myself available 

for his team.  And that will continue and we will always 

improve and we will work together on making that better for 

the next twenty-five years. 

 Thank you. 

 MEMBER KAHGEE:  Thank you.   

 MS REEDER:  Thank you.  And I think 

everything that has been said so far has been very 

accurate.  One thing -- Kim Reeder, for the record. 

 One thing I feel though, and I -- you, I 

am sure at least some of the Commissioners are aware, is 

that listening is not reconciliation. 

 Chief, is there anything you would like to 

add? 

 CHIEF AKAGI:  Thank you.  And I’d like to 

confirm both what Adam and Kathleen are saying.  It’s very 

true. 
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 I think I’d like to answer your question, 

Sir.  I mentioned the loss of indigenous memory.  A twenty 

or twenty-five-year process, to us, is a generation.  We’re 

losing the voice of a generation and that was the point I 

was trying to make and to answer your question on how this 

could impact us as indigenous peoples, will help us, I 

believe, with reconciliation. 

 I’m afraid I’m too simple and throwing in 

another word, leading in another direction, this is what I 

was referring to about how easy it is to deflect the course 

of a discussion.  And to me, I have to get back to 

something as simple as saying, ‘Please, let’s not leave a 

generation out of this, because we’re already behind.’ 

 The other thing that I think is pointed 

out by the very process of having started the discussion 

with a potential twenty or twenty-five-year extension, here 

is something else, that I am sitting here listening to all 

around me discuss, and we have not been part of that.  This 

is not our process, I understand, but we’re saying 

inclusion means that we’re not left out, that we do have a 

voice and that we will be part of those discussions.  And 

yet here I am hearing, once again, about this without us.   

 I am not here because I’m angry.  I’m not 

here to because I just want to complain.  I just want 

people to know that a simple direct path to truth, that’s 
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all I can hope for.  And I would like that to be a direct 

conversation.  I would like that to be an open 

conversation.  When someone asks me why I would do this if 

I believe we have not been heard, I’d like them to know 

that these are not the only ears in the room.  I’d like our 

words to resonate with others so they will understand.   

 Yes, it’s a direct appeal to everyone in 

front of me.  I am accountable.  I appreciate your 

questions and I wish we could answer more.  

 Thank you. 

 MEMBER KAHGEE:  Meegwetch, Chief.  That’s 

very helpful, very powerful. 

 DR. EDWARDS:  So, I'd like to add 

something, if I could.  Gordon Edwards, for the record. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Go ahead, Dr. Edwards. 

 DR. EDWARDS:  Yes.  I'd like to say that 

without meaning any disrespect, talk is cheap.  And the 

best thing that the Commissioners can do to try and restore 

a sense of reconciliation is to make sure that funds are 

adequate to really return this site to the state that it 

should be in, uncontaminated, back to green field status as 

much as possible.  And you are being asked today to approve 

a financial guarantee that is inadequate for that purpose.  

And this is something that you can do by keeping the 

licensing period shorter, you can revisit this issue more 
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than once.  And there are issues that are being quite 

ignored, I believe.   

 One clarification, a very important one, 

is, that talking about the NWMO, the Nuclear Waste 

Management Organization, under law they are responsible 

only for the irradiated nuclear fuel, not for the 

decommissioning waste.  So, when you talk about the 

decommissioning wastes which are going to be more 

voluminous than the refurbishment waste by far, it’s 

important to know where that waste is going to be going and 

how much money is going to be available to carry out those 

plans. 

 As Madam Velshi said quite -- quite 

correctly, the details of this will be licenced much later 

on, but the money has to be available now, because now is 

when the money has to be put aside so as to enable a proper 

procedure later on. 

 There are also other activities that 

should be done.  For example, as you know, CANDU reactors 

produce an enormous amount of tritium, radioactive 

hydrogen.  Between 100 and 200 Terabecquerels (TBq) of 

tritium per year are released into the environment from the 

Pointe Lepreau reactor.  But underneath the plant there has 

been an accumulation of tritium which goes down to the 

groundwater and into the soil, and I have not seen any data 
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on the measurements of what the levels of tritium are 

underneath the plant that may require extensive excavation 

and removal of contaminated soil in very large volumes. 

 In data which I have included in my 

report, in the appendix, Annex C, indicate that under the 

Pickering plant, for example, there are levels of tritium 

which are as high as one million becquerels (Bq) per litre, 

so that even after one hundred and twenty-three years, that 

one million becquerels (Bq) per litre would only be reduced 

to one thousand becquerels (Bq) per litre, which is still a 

very large amount.   

 So, what kind of measurements can the 

Commission insist upon that -- that this site will be 

completely restored, and that there will be adequate 

funding laid aside now so that that can be done when the 

time comes? 

 Thank you. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Thank you, Dr. Edwards.   

 We will come to the financial guarantee 

and decommissioning.  I want to make sure that I have given 

the other Commission members an opportunity to ask 

questions around reconciliation and engagement, and then 

we’ll move to the next issue, for sure, Dr. Edwards. 

 So, maybe I’ll talk to -- I’ll ask Dr. 

Berube, any questions around reconciliation, engagement? 
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 MEMBER BERUBE:  No. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  No? 

 Dr. Demeter? 

 MEMBER DEMETER: No. 

 THE PRESIDENT: No. 

 Do you have a follow-up question?  Go 

ahead, Mr. Kahgee. 

 MEMBER KAHGEE:  Thank you, President 

Velshi.  

 I know my colleagues will have other 

questions.  I have additional questions on engagement.  I’m 

just going to ask one, in particular. 

 All of a sudden, I segue into this 

question with respect to the Chief’s statement earlier, and 

Dr. Edwards, about being -- the importance of being heard, 

and process. 

 This is going to be directed to CNSC 

Staff.  At page 15 of your written submissions, you set out 

a number of opportunities for engagement and also suggest 

that the Commission can adjust a little engagement in 

proceedings at their discretion and, I think, obviously, 

would agree that any process must be robust enough to take 

into consideration issues and concerns raised by Indigenous 

peoples.  As we know, these issues are not always static 

and often are longstanding. 
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 I think it would be helpful to have a 

clear understanding in terms of the picture of the process 

in terms of how things would be decided, the process for 

decisions, how indigenous communities can participate, 

and -- this is crucial -- are there opportunities for 

redress in that process? 

 Can you help walk me through the process, 

please? 

 MR. LEVINE: Adam Levine, for the record. 

 I can start and then I’ll pass to some of 

my colleagues here who can speak to some of the other 

specifics of the opportunities to be involved throughout 

the licensing term. 

 The CNSC is a lifecycle regulator and 

covering all aspects of operations at the site in terms of 

health, safety and environment.  There’s a number of 

different ways for Indigenous communities to be involved, 

and we really want and encourage communities to be involved 

directly with Staff and one of the best ways to do that is 

through a long-term relationship arrangement where we have 

set activities and priorities that are mutually set by both 

parties to ensure that what we’re doing on a year-to-year 

basis is meeting their specific various interests and 

needs, and they get to be involved in our ongoing 

regulatory oversight work. That includes environmental 
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monitoring work as well as environmental risk assessments, 

you know looking at decommissioning plans, and all these 

areas that have been raised by Chief Akagi’s team that are 

areas of interest. And we want to create that list with 

them and make sure we actually put funding forward to 

support those activities and make sure that we’re meeting 

those needs of the community and their leadership. 

 So, to provide more details maybe I’ll 

pass it to my colleague beside me, Ms. Sauve, just to speak 

to some of the work we’ve done already on environmental 

monitoring, and what that can also look like moving forward 

in terms of collaboration. 

 MS. SAUVÉ:  Thank you.  Kiza Sauvé, for 

the record.  I’m the Director of Health Science, 

Environmental Compliance Division. 

 I’ll speak specifically to our independent 

environmental monitoring program and in specific with the 

Passamaquoddy Nation that we’ve had plenty of meetings to 

discuss the IEMP. But, as a broader term for all indigenous 

nations and communities, we’re meeting with nations and 

communities, before we sample, to talk about where and what 

me might be sampling.   

 We’re meeting and talking and trying to 

listen and learn about their lands. Many of our sampling 

campaigns now include an extra day to just walk the lands, 
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to learn from the communities, to learn how to harvest in a 

sustainable way.   

 And then post-sampling, there’s, as in the 

presentation, there was an example of some nations and 

communities coming to our laboratory to see how the samples 

are analyzed.  

 And then following, of course, presenting 

the results are very important, so we’re trying to work 

with nations and communities on a results card that clearly 

indicates what we have found or didn’t find in that 

community so that they can talk to their community members 

about that.  And it’s an ongoing relationship, so sometimes 

some years it’s a shorter conversation, and we know we’re 

going to be back in future years.   

 So, that’s the IEMP aspect of it. 

 I know you’re probably looking for more.  

I’m not sure if we should pass to someone else.  Yeah, I’m 

going to pass to Peter. 

 MR. ELDER:  Yeah, thanks.  Peter Elder, 

I’m the Vice-president of Technical Support, and Chief 

Science Officer. 

 For your specific question around Table 3 

and how this could work in terms of the process, I’m going 

to use a real example, and it’s been raised, about the 

decommissioning plans.   The decommissioning plans as Ms. 
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Reader pointed out, are approved by the Commission, they 

are not approved by Staff.  So, regardless of the length of 

a licence they get reviewed on a minimum every ten -- every 

five years.  And I say minimum because -- I’ll give a real 

example -- when OPG in 2009, there were financial crisis 

actually made it that their financial guarantee was less in 

the -- the ones actually in the bank.  Their refund value 

was less than their commitments.  So, there was actually a 

public hearing.  The Commission actually held a public 

hearing and allowed for intervention around the updating of 

that financial guarantee. 

 So, these are independent of the length of 

the licence.  There are certain events that, based on -- 

and these would be discussions, obviously, with the groups, 

of what made that -- those thresholds, but when we’re 

looking at this one, the financial guarantees have to be 

approved on a pure reactor basis.  They have to be by the 

Commission.   

 Depending on the level of interest, and 

obviously with a longer licence we would have to do our job 

in addressing, of identifying that level of interest with 

the indigenous communities.  I think we’ve heard very 

clearly today that there is interest in those financial 

guarantees. 

 And then allowing -- recommending the 
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Commission on how those voices get brought to making their 

decision.   

 So, there may be some financial guarantees 

that are very straightforward; there may be some that are 

more complex, that there is interest in understanding 

what’s going on.  The process allows the Commission to have 

intervention on this one.  I brought up the example from 

OPG to say this is not just theoretical, the Commission has 

done this in the past.   

 And that’s where we’re going, you know, in 

general.  We’ve been looking at rather than a periodic 

licence renewal, when you look at everything, we believe a 

longer licence will allow the Commission and Staff and the 

Intervenors to come up on much more strategic topical 

issues and have a more in-depth discussion around those 

issues.   

 So, again, I’ll use the financial 

guarantee as an example.  This is not getting much of 

in-depth when it has dealt with everything else.  You may 

or may not feel you have the time or ability to do an 

in-depth review of it.  If it's a stand-alone item, it does 

allow for a more in-depth consideration of one particular 

part of the licence. 

 Thank you. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  What was the status of the 
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framework agreement or terms of reference with 

Passamaquoddy? 

 MR. LEVINE:  Adam Levine, for the record.   

 So, after the licence renewal hearings in 

2017 for Pointe Lepreau, we followed up with all the 

nations and the representative organizations in New 

Brunswick, including the Passamaquoddy, with the 

opportunity to develop a Terms of Reference for long-term 

engagement, and indicated that is one tool we can use to 

formalize the relationship, or we can continue meeting 

regularly as we have.  To date, the Passamaquoddy haven’t 

indicated a direct interest in formalizing the relationship 

in that way, however, we continue to meet on a bi-annual 

basis or more and answer questions on an ongoing basis 

whenever they do arise.  But we’re certainly committed to 

looking at that again should the Passamaquoddy decide that 

is something they’re interested in.   

 And we personally feel -- CNSC Staff -- 

that is an excellent tool to capture all these different 

topics and make sure that we’re organized and we have that 

strong commitment that   really puts reconciliation on 

paper and makes sure that we’re working on a 

nation-to-nation basis.  But that is ultimately up to 

Passamaquoddy and how they want to proceed on that front 

with us. 
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 Thank you. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Thank you.  Maybe I'll ask 

you on what are your thoughts around a Terms of Reference 

that would address the full scope of the relationship? 

 MS. DUGUAY:  Is blinking good? 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Maybe try it again. 

 MS. REEDER:  Ah, thank you.  Kim Reeder, 

for the record.   

 Before I -- I pass it to Chief, one of the 

things I do want to say is that I do -- you know, we 

comprehend processes.  Reconciliation doesn’t belong on 

paper; I will say that. 

 I will also say that involving money and 

relationships is something we take great precaution with -- 

great precaution.   

 And I also want to say that we don’t want 

to be reactionary.  This is where we have been for so long.  

We don’t want to wait until a financial crisis, that is not 

the time to deal with things, in crisis.  This is -- so, in 

reconciling, you know, these -- you asked what we would 

like to do; we’re telling you let’s do this every three 

years, you know.  We’re telling you we want to do this more 

often.  That is what we’re saying.  We’re being pretty loud 

and clear, I think. 

 Hugh, would you like to join? 
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 CHIEF AKAGI:  Thank you, Madam  

Chair.   

 When it comes to official documents, it 

brings an extra level of caution, if you will.  Sorry, for 

overusing terms -- the overutilization of terms. 

 When we deal with Canada agencies, I’m 

always dependent upon legal advice, thank you, Jamie, by 

the way, and one of the biggest warnings that always comes 

across my plate, “Be very careful.  An agreement sounds 

good, but it’s a legally binding document and it can 

compromise -- compromise your treaty rights.  I hope you 

understand that.’  So, I’m very careful, very wary, and I 

don’t do show-and-tell.  I understand it’s important that 

we see the facility and that we understand that there are 

wonderful things happening on site. 

 What about the real conversations about 

what we’ve lost?  And I’m not looking for monetary 

compensation.  Money cannot pay for what we have lost.  

Let’s put that on the record, please.  There is no such 

thing as compensation.  There is no such thing as 

attrition.  If you want to fix it, we deal with the 

currency of the day.  They took the land.  They took our 

resources, our livelihoods.  That’s the currency I would 

like to talk about.  These are not conversations that are 

popular in any room. 
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 So, when I talk about these things, and I 

hope I’m answering your question as I go all over the map, 

and I apologize.  But the truth is I do not knee-jerk.  I 

don’t grab pots of money.  I need to see who I’m dealing 

with, the content, and I need to know is this process going 

to cause more harm, or will it help me fix things?  

 If it will help me fix things, look at me, 

I’m going to say this, you don’t need to pay me.  I will 

not charge you a cent, and I will work with you until the 

cows come home. 

 But if I even think there is another 

agenda, if I think I am not just compromising, sacrificing 

treaty rights for the future generations to come, and they 

are in this room, I will not do it.  So those 

conversations, to me, I have never taken lightly.  I have 

never considered them sign on the dotted line.  There is no 

checkbox for me. 

 So to answer your question, yes, I 

understand MOUs, I understand the need for agreements, but 

I am asking you, please understand that I will not hurt my 

Nation. 

 That's it.  Thank you. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Thank you very much for 

that. 

--- Applause / Applaudissments 
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 CHIEF AKAGI:  No, don't -- this is not a 

performance. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  That is -- 

 CHIEF AKAGI:  If people clap, it's a 

performance. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Right. 

 CHIEF AKAGI:  This is who I am. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Thank you. 

 CHIEF AKAGI:  I apologize. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  And I'm hoping the folks 

who are in the room have heard that.  There is no need to 

applaud.  We very much appreciate the intervenors coming 

here and sharing their thoughts with us.  There is no need 

to applaud. 

 With that, let's move to Dr. Berube, 

please. 

 MEMBER BERUBE:  Well, I would like to 

thank the Passamaquoddy for that heartfelt presentation, a 

very deep dive into the meaning of what the land means to 

you and what you need to do to preserve it. 

 Although I have no questions at this point 

for Indigenous engagement, I do have a comment on what I am 

hearing in this room, and it is this.  We are all speaking 

English, but two different languages.  This is something 

that has to be bridged and from my perspective we have a 
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lot of work to do. 

 That being said, I am looking at the 

written submission, and that is document H2.244A, and there 

is an assertion here with regard to safety and the 

assertion here is that: 

  “It has recently come to our 

attention that there are 

detrimentally inadequate pressure 

relief valves installed in the 

primary heat transport system -- 

valves that are NOT in accordance 

with ASME recommendations.” 

 I am going to give at this point NB Power 

the opportunity to speak to that and then I want to hear 

from CNSC as to their perspective on this assertion. 

 MR. NOUWENS:  Thank you for the question.  

Jason Nouwens, for the record. 

 I will turn this over to Jennifer Lennox, 

who is our Director of Engineering and also the first 

female Chief Nuclear Engineer in Canada. 

 Jennifer, if you could provide some 

high-level comments and turn it over to Derek Mullin if you 

want for more details. 

 Jennifer, over to you, please. 

 MS. LENNOX:  Jennifer Lennox, for the 
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record.  I am the Engineering Director and the Chief 

Nuclear Engineer at Point Lepreau. 

 So the valves you are referring to are 

degasser condenser relief valves in question.  I just want 

to, before I turn it over to Derek Mullin, speak further on 

this.  I just wanted to comment that these have been tested 

and do meet all safety requirements as per our standards. 

 So I will turn it over to Derek. 

 MR. MULLIN:  Thank you.  Derek Mullin, for 

the record. 

 This issue regarding degasser condenser 

relief valves was one of 18 issues that were raised in the 

past.  All of these issues were addressed under a CANDU 

Owners Group joint project and was presented to the 

Commission during a March 8th meeting in 2017 and again at 

2017 licence renewal.  Those issues and the technical 

issues surrounding these were all reviewed by an expert, an 

independent expert who confirmed the findings of industry 

on this. 

 There are no safety issues with these 

degasser condenser relief valves.  They were appropriately 

sized.  They underwent testing at Wyle Labs as a part of a 

demonstration that they meet ASME testing requirements.  

That was all part of the design.  There is no issue with 

these.  Thank you. 
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 MEMBER BERUBE:  CNSC, please comment. 

 DR. VIKTOROV:  Alex Viktorov, for the 

record. 

 Indeed, the issue of pressure relief 

valves is a longstanding question we received from one of 

the intervenors.  It has been examined in great depth, both 

by staff, industry and independent experts.  It has been 

confirmed again and again that the current valves are 

adequate and meet the requirements, so CNSC staff is 

convinced that there are no safety issues and one of our 

specialists will be able to provide additional details 

should you be interested. 

 MEMBER BERUBE:  I think we need to explore 

this a little deeper just to meet the needs of the 

Passamaquoddy.  They are still concerned about this, so 

maybe we should use your expert and drill a little deeper. 

 DR. VIKTOROV: Nithe, if you are online, 

please step in. 

 MR. NITHEANANDAN:  My name is Nithe, 

Nitheanandan.  I am the Director for the Reactor Behaviour 

Division of the CNSC. 

 As New Brunswick Power said, we have been 

looking at this for a number of years.  There was a COG 

Report that we wrote, COG JP4534, in the year 2002 and 

according to that all these concerns were resolved, but 
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lately, several papers were published in the international 

journals and then we started to look at those claims. 

 So we brought in about six of our experts 

and the author of the paper and then we have completed 

approximately four different meetings over a period of 

about six to seven months and we are very close to writing 

the report. 

 At the moment we don't see any safety 

concerns per se, but there are some credibility to some of 

the claims that needs extensive review.  We are at that 

stage and we are writing the report and that will produce a 

joint report between the author and the CNSC experts.  

Thank you. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Thank you. 

 Let's move to Dr. Demeter, please. 

 MEMBER DEMETER:  Okay.  There is a lot of 

information to unpackage and I won't be able to ask all of 

my questions because I will have to distribute them through 

the rest of the hearing.  But thank you very much for 

sharing and I will at a later date drill down deeply into 

the financial guarantee.  But I want to talk a bit about 

some health issues. 

 First, given some of the concerns raised 

by the intervenor and their two consultants, I wanted to 

ask CNSC if they have reviewed the health status reports 
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and the provincial cancer registry to convince themselves 

that there is no issue around this plant or there is an 

issue in this plant. 

 I am going to drill really deep and ask if 

you can actually provide me the references of which reports 

you have reviewed so that that is on the record.  You may 

not have it at your fingertips, but during the course of 

the hearing I would like to know the specific references 

for the data that you reviewed relative to health status, 

especially maternal outcomes and with cancers. 

 MS. SAUVÉ:  Kiza Sauvé, for the record.  I 

am the Director of Health Sciences and Environmental 

Compliance Division. 

 So, Dr. Demeter, our Health Science staff, 

Ms. Julie Burtt, along with other of her colleagues, did 

review all of that information and it is all found in the 

Environmental Protection Review Report.  So that is 

available online and I can go through those.  I haven't 

pulled it up, so I can go through it later, but they are 

there and it does look at the maternal status as well. 

 We have some more information we can 

share, maybe a little bit about the report that is attached 

to this intervention.  If you would like us to speak 

further about some of the assertions made in Dr. Fairlie's 

report, we can do that, but I think the references you are 
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looking for are all in the Environmental Protection Review 

Report. 

 MEMBER DEMETER:  I will look at that 

document as well and then see if I have further questions. 

 Maybe to speak to some of the discussion 

about epidemiological studies and cancer around nuclear 

power plants, a lot of studies were quoted.  There is a bit 

of heterogeneity in the results about what can we learn 

from that for this particular setting. 

 MS. SAUVÉ:  Kiza Sauvé, for the record. 

 So we are going to start with Dr. Adrienne 

Éthier, who is going to speak a little bit about some of 

the statements that were made in that report and then we 

can turn back to either myself or Ms. Julie Burtt. 

 DR. ÉTHIER:  Dr. Adrienne Éthier, 

Environmental Risk Assessment Specialist in the 

Environmental Risk Assessment Division. 

 I would just like to provide some comments 

on Recommendation 16.1 that Dr. Fairlie provided in the 

Passamaquoddy intervention. 

 CNSC staff want to assure the Commission 

and the public that the scientific community has found no 

evidence that would support this recommendation.  This 

includes an analysis of Dr. Fairlie's theories by the 

United Nations Scientific Committee on the Effects of 
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Atomic Radiation, or UNSCEAR, and the INWORKS study that 

Dr. Fairlie himself references in the intervention.  The 

overwhelming scientific evidence concludes that the 

surrounding areas are safe for women intending to have a 

family and families with babies and young children. 

 Further to this, I would like to comment 

on the INWORKS study.  This is a recent large-scale 

statistically powerful epidemiological study of nuclear 

workers in the U.K., U.S. and France.  Dr. David 

Richardson, the lead author of one of the INWORKS studies 

works closely with Health Canada and CNSC staff on UNSCEAR.  

He is not available today given the 69th session of UNSCEAR 

is also occurring this week, but the scientific validity of 

Dr. Fairlie's recommendation was discussed with Dr. 

Richardson. 

 He wanted the Commission to know that 

while it is possible to compare risk estimates in the 

manner used by Dr. Fairlie, dividing one risk value by 

another is not appropriate and does not provide an accurate 

reflection of the risk to workers and members of the 

public. 

 My colleague Ms. Kiza Sauvé can give 

further information on this discussion should you wish to 

hear more about the study, but there have been multiple 

interventions by Dr. Fairlie based on his theories which 
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are not supported by the scientific community.  This has 

triggered repeated discussions on tritium behaviour, but 

the systemic issue here goes beyond tritium research. 

 The continued provision of incomplete and, 

in some cases, incorrect information has the potential to 

create false perceptions about the safety of nuclear power 

in New Brunswick, perception here being so important 

because it unfortunately is trumping the sound scientific 

evidence.  In this case the scientific evidence is clear 

that tritium releases from Point Lepreau do not pose a 

health concern to the public in the surrounding areas. 

 MEMBER DEMETER:  Thank you. 

 And I just wanted to -- I have one further 

question on health issues, but the Point Lepreau Nuclear 

Generating Station ACR, is that the document you are 

talking about? 

 MS. SAUVÉ:  Kiza Sauvé, for the record. 

 No.  I am talking about the Environmental 

Protection Review Report. 

 MEMBER DEMETER:  Okay.  I will deal with 

that later. 

 The other issue was concern for 

restriction in eating local vegetation-based foods, sort of 

honey example.  Do we do any tritium analysis of local wild 

foods and honey to confirm that these are not unduly 
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contaminated? 

 MS. SAUVÉ:  Kiza Sauvé, for the record. 

 So, in the Independent Environmental 

Monitoring Program we do sample foods -- I am just pulling 

up the list of foods -- and some of those are in 

collaboration with some Indigenous nations and communities.  

So we have done milk, blackberries, lettuce, carrots, beet 

greens, apples, potatoes, shellfish, periwinkle and dulse 

and zucchini -- I am not a Maritimer, so I am not going to 

say it right -- and beans.  And we do do OBT in some of 

those foods as well. 

 MEMBER DEMETER:  And from the intervenor, 

are there any foods that you are particularly concerned 

about that you think haven't been sampled or should be 

sampled or need to know if they are sampled? 

 MS. REEDER:  Certainly.  Kim Reeder, for 

the record.  Thank you. 

 Yes.  So I would like to mention I do 

believe Dr. Fairlie is online if you would like knowledge 

from him directly, but even with what has been said here in 

the room, to say that -- I believe the exact quote was 

“tritium does not create a health risk”, anyway, it seems 

like that may be inaccurate.  I don't want it on my cereal, 

let me just say that. 

 Also, I do believe CELA later on as an 
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intervenor will be dealing with some agriculture zone 

information.  So that might help. 

 And at our last CNSC meeting, yes, we did 

discuss further some of the different types of food that we 

are interested in having sampled, so I am assuming that 

will be done in the next round. 

 One of the things that I have a little bit 

of a time with is that it seems that the CNSC testing is 

red flag testing.  So we have asked for trends, but they 

don't do the same thing over and over for long, so there is 

no trend information, which organically bound tritium, as I 

understand, that would be, you know, some trend 

information. 

 And as well, you know, in speaking with 

the CNSC, I do -- it is my understanding, and maybe they 

can tell me if this is incorrect, but the fish that they 

sample for instance they buy at a market in Saint John.  So 

I don't understand that when we have access to boats and 

other things and different -- but I must have 

misinterpreted that, let's just say that. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  I will get staff to 

comment on both the trending and the fish, please. 

 Chief, to you first. 

 CHIEF AKAGI:  Okay.  Sorry, Dr. Demeter. 

 I would like to answer your question, too, 
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because I think your type of question is important. 

 One of the things that I was surprised -- 

and yes, we have had these discussions and yes, I have 

gotten responses, but I find that the sampling sometimes 

confuses me, because when it comes to food I am not an 

expert, absolutely not.  But I do contaminants work and in 

that contaminants work I know that we focus on specific 

parts of an animal.  For example, lobster.  I mentioned 

this to the team and I am sure that they are still looking 

at it for me, so it is not fair to say that they haven't 

done anything, because I am sure that they are trying. 

 When you sample an animal like a lobster, 

it is easy to sample the meat because that is what people 

eat, but if you are a local you love something called 

tomalley.  The tomalley is the green part of the lobster.  

We call it the hepatopancreas and that is the liver.  If I 

want to examine an animal and find contaminants, I sample 

the liver.  So sampling the meat is a little bit deceptive 

because it takes a while for the contaminant to manifest 

itself in meat and it is very low levels.  But the locals 

like tomalley and I think it is important that if we don't 

know, at least let's warn people, let's tell them. 

 And these are cumulative impacts as well, 

because the agriculture industries are adding chemicals 

that are impacting toxin levels in tomalley, so it's not 
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just one thing.  And those are the reasons I was asking 

maybe for something a little more extensive.  I know we can 

easily say, well, we can't do it all or it's going to cost 

money, but this is to me a local concern.  Thank you. 

 MS. SAUVÉ:  Thank you.  Kiza Sauvé, for 

the record. 

 So I think I'm at three questions:  

trending, location and parts of the animal. 

 So I will start with trending.  As the 

Independent Environmental Monitoring Program progresses, we 

want to go back to the same locations as often as possible.  

We are also doing more and more engagement with Indigenous 

nations and communities and so we are trying to balance 

that, the places and number of samples we can take and 

doing the locations that are of interest and are 

meaningful.  And that is what we are looking for, is that 

meaningful location, while still sampling what we call 

sometimes the -- I don't want to say reference, but the 

locations that we have always done.  So we are trying to 

kind of build that database of samples that we can do 

trending. 

 We also, when we meet with Nations and 

communities, talk about the licensee's environmental 

monitoring, which is a more robust program than the 

Independent Environmental Monitoring Program and does give 
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us lots of information.  So we look at all of the weight of 

evidence when we give our conclusions and our results about 

things being safe for consumption. 

 So I think that is hopefully the trending 

one. 

 In terms of fish location, when we first 

started IEMP we did buy from local markets.  We tried not 

to go all the way up to Saint John, but we tried to buy 

from as local as possible.  This year lobster was provided 

by a local fisher and clams and periwinkles were picked 

live with two Indigenous Nations and communities.  So we 

are working on it as much as we can, because it makes sense 

to buy it from as close as possible and at some facilities 

we have gone fishing with local Indigenous Nations and 

communities.  So yes, we want to do more of that. 

 And the last part about the lobster 

tomalley is an interesting one and I'm going to give you an 

example of a Nation in Northern Saskatchewan that was able 

to provide us with a moose sample this year.  In meeting 

with that community, they first said they wanted us to 

sample the heart because that was the prized part of the 

moose, the part that was given to the Elders.  And then as 

the discussions wore on, they said, but most of the people 

eat the meat, the leg meat and that is more important, so 

let's do the leg meat.  We don't actually want to give you 
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the heart either because we want to keep it for ourselves.  

So it is those discussions that we need to have about what 

makes sense. 

 But also the important piece is the 

meaningful results and that is where we could sample the 

liver and give you a number, but what does that number 

mean?  So there are radionuclides, there are contaminants.  

There's a little bit of a lot in most things and so we need 

to make sure that that number that we are coming back with, 

what does that mean?  So we need to look at how much do you 

consume per year and then we calculate backwards.  If the 

number is X and you consume this much per year, what does 

that actually mean for what is getting into your body and 

also what does that mean for the animal? 

 So we are looking at sampling and 

analyzing different parts of animals based on our 

discussions, but we do have to look at the scientific part 

of what the results mean, because we can't kind of sample 

and analyze something and then get a result that we can't 

do anything with.  So we are hearing these and we are 

trying to do the best we can. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Thank you. 

 Let me ask the Panel.  Any additional 

questions on the health studies or the health impact?  No? 

 Okay.  Maybe as we are talking about 
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tritium, a question for Lepreau.  In the intervention 

there's data provided about increasing releases of tritium 

over time and also the comparison of Lepreau's tritium 

releases with other Canadian nuclear power plants.  So 

from -- it is Table 1.  If you need the specific location I 

can share that with you in the submission. 

 But the tritium releases have kind of 

doubled over the last six or seven years.  If you can help 

explain why and what is being done about that.  And again, 

in comparison with other nuclear power plants in Canada, 

Lepreau is way out, maybe four times as much as, say, 

Darlington.  So if you can help us understand why and what 

is being done about that, please. 

 MR. NOUWENS:  Sure.  Jason Nouwens, for 

the record. 

 I will turn this question over to Jennifer 

Allen, our Senior Health Physicist, for some more insights, 

but I will say that some of the assumptions in the 

intervention that the rates have been increasing tend to 

fluctuate with our yearly activities with planned outages 

and we don't have an overall trend of year after year 

increases, right.  So we do have some fluctuations in 

there.  In some short terms it may look like there is an 

increasing trend, but overall of our history we are not 

seeing a year after year increase. 
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 So I will pass it over to Jennifer Allen 

to provide more inside details. 

 Jennifer...? 

 MS. ALLEN:  For the record, my name is 

Jennifer Allen, and I am the senior health physicist at 

Point Lepreau Nuclear Generating Station.   

 Thank you for your question.   

 So as Jason mentioned, there are 

fluctuations in tritium releases from year to year.  

Certainly, minimizing radiological releases to the public 

is very important to NB Power.  Releases are controlled and 

where possible mitigated.  And as you can see in our 

environmental protection report, the largest contributor to 

public dose is tritium releases from the station. 

 As a station, we do review tritium 

releases daily in production meetings, so that the station 

is aware of what the release to the public is on a daily 

basis.  This allows the station to not only monitor against 

daily targets but also assess against the regulatory limits 

and consider the impact on dose to the public as well. 

 So it also provides us an opportunity to 

investigate any changes in releases that are not related to 

a specific activity in which we were expecting an increase 

in tritium releases from the station. 

 Releases are low and are well below the 
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regulatory limits that are set by the CNSC, but again, we 

have a lot of interest in keeping releases as low as 

possible.  We recognize that releases from our station are 

elevated compared to similar-designed stations, 

CANDU-designed stations, which also operate with heavy 

water and produce tritium as a by-product of the nuclear 

reaction. 

 The tritium releases from our station are 

directly related to operational and maintenance activities.  

They can vary throughout the year and also from year to 

year.  So if you look at the historic tritium releases from 

the station over our operating life of the station, there 

are fluctuations.  Certainly, as the trend implies, over 

the last several years tritium releases have been 

increasing.  And we understand why the tritium releases are 

increasing, and they are related to operational activities 

at the station. 

 So we've had planned maintenance outages.  

When we perform work on systems that contain heavy water, 

some of the venting and purification activities that happen 

in coordination with those activities can result in 

increased releases from the station.  This is an expected 

result. 

 We had elevated tritium releases in 2020 

as well due to a light water leak.  And you may think, Why 
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does a light water leak have an impact on tritium releases?  

Well, what it can do it is it can decrease the efficiency 

of our vapour recovery system.  So we have systems in the 

station that will help us mitigate tritium releases as well 

by acting like a dehumidifier of sorts to condense the 

water, not only to recapture that for reuse in the station, 

but to minimize releases from the station as well. 

 So when we have a leak, even in the light 

water system, that can actually, you know, affect the 

efficiency of those dehumidification units.  So we did see 

I guess after that leak was fixed during a planned 

maintenance outage, we did see a bit of a decrease after 

that. 

 But we're monitoring tritium releases from 

the station.  We're ensuring that we understand the reason 

for the release and the magnitude of the release.  So if 

we're seeing something that is a little bit maybe above 

what we're expecting to see, we can also investigate to see 

if there are any abnormal conditions in the station or 

unexpected system alignments or leaks.  We have a high 

priority on fixing any leaks and heavy water systems, not 

only for the safety of the workers in the station, but also 

to mitigate releases to the public.   

 And again, there can be fluctuations from 

year to year.  It is the biggest contributor to public 
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dose.  And those releases are measured, monitored, 

reported, and kept well within the limits of our operating 

licence. 

 Thank you. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Thank you.  So I think 

you've answered part of my question, not all of it.  Yes, 

they've fluctuated, but for the last four years, and I 

don't know what the 2021 results are, it's an increasing 

trend.  There is no fluctuation.  It's just going up, 

right, from 2017, '18, '19, and '20. 

 You didn't explain why there's difference 

between Lepreau and other CANDU reactors.  Presumably their 

operational activities are not that different.   

 And if I recall from your submission or 

part 1 hearing, a big source is the source term, high 

levels of tritium in the moderator and I suspect in the 

heat transport system.  And so what's being done about 

that? 

 I mean, I think it's find to say limits 

are low, but we talked about ALARA.  Numbers are going up.  

Highest contribution to the public dose is from tritium.  

What are you doing to eliminate the source and change the 

trend? 

 MS. ALLEN:  Okay.  Jennifer Allen, for the 

record.   
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 Thank you for the re-direct, there.  I 

apologize I didn't meet the question on the difference 

between us and other stations. 

 So as you alluded to, the source term for 

tritium in our moderator system is significantly higher 

than our peers in Canada.  And that does provide one of the 

main reasons why the releases from our station are higher 

in terms of looking at a per-unit basis. 

 So when we perform activities on our 

moderator system, whether they're purification activities 

before and after an outage, venting of systems, you know, 

maintenance on open systems, then that does result in 

elevated releases to the environment.  And that difference 

in the source term really comes into play when you're 

looking at the same activity at one of our peer stations 

would not result in the same release of the same 

significance at another station. 

 So I guess in terms of the path forward, 

so we are able to safely work with moderator water in terms 

of protecting the dose to workers.  We recognize that this 

is a significant radiological hazard, not just from an 

environmental release perspective but for the workers at 

the station who have to perform maintenance on these 

systems as well. 

 So before I turn it over to Jason Nouwens 
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to discuss a little bit about longer-term actions that will 

be taken to mitigate the -- you know, the tritium hazard at 

the station from moderator water, I will just say that we 

do maintain the doses to our workers as low as reasonably 

achievable.  We use safety equipment, monitoring devices to 

alert us to changes and conditions in the station, and we 

are monitoring on a daily basis the tritium releases from 

the station in order to mitigate the effect on the 

environment and the public as well. 

 I'll turn it over to Jason Nouwens. 

 MR. NOUWENS:  Thank you.  Jason Nouwens, 

for the record.   

 I will talk a little bit about our plans 

for moderator detritiation, but I do want to say that all 

the releases that are in the reports that we're talking 

about today are not a surprise to us.  Right?  We monitor 

daily any release.  There's no unmonitored releases.  We 

understand the potential implications of the work that 

we're conducting.   

 And Jennifer mentioned we did have a light 

water leak that provided some saturation of our 

dehumidification units that provide high releases.  None of 

this is a surprise.  It's part of our ongoing operations.   

 We challenge ourselves daily and in 

production meetings rigorously to understand the potential 
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evolutions that we're going to get into and what those 

potential releases would be.   

 And some of these increases stem from our 

efforts to proactively do preventive maintenance on our 

station to make sure that we're looking at the long-term 

viability and reliability of our station.  So in outages, 

we take key equipment out of service and sometimes that 

contributes to additional tritium that's released to the 

environment.   

 But all those activities are planned and 

go through our ALARA committee.  It's a good name, right, 

as low as reasonably achievable.  We have a 

cross-functional committee that evaluates all of those 

potential planned evolutions and maintenance needs to make 

sure that we're balancing the needs of the station from a 

maintenance point of view with the potential implications 

from a radiological point of view. 

 So all that being said, it is very 

important to us.  It is something that's reviewed routinely 

with us. 

 Now, with respect to moderator 

detritiation, as Jennifer mentioned, that is a contributor 

from a high source term as you know.  We have, you know, 

high curie water in our moderator. 

 But within the periodic safety review -- 
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and I want to tie this back to that periodic safety review 

which is a very rigorous evaluation of the station -- the 

periodic safety review that we just completed and the 

integrated implementation plan which we submitted last June 

identified that our moderator high-curie-content water is a 

potential contributor to challenging operations for us.   

 So we have a commitment within that IIP to 

basically swap out the moderator water.  So our -- we're in 

the early design stages of what that project will look 

like, but conceptually, we will replace the entire contents 

of the moderator system with low-tritiated water likely 

from OPG to almost establish a new baseline for a moderator 

system.   

 So we'll take all that water out of the 

reactor.  We'll replace it with very low-tritiated water 

completely in one outage.  We'll do that by 2028.  And 

then, as part of that project, we will implement mitigation 

measures to proactively year after year reduce the tritium 

within the moderator system to keep us at a low level.   

 So it's not just a once-and-done sort of 

project.  The once will get us a -- the sort of one-time 

project will get us back to a very low baseline level, and 

then part of that project will have tritium reduction 

measures year after year to make sure that we keep the 

level low going forward. 
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 THE PRESIDENT:  Thank you.  And just one 

quick follow-up question.  When you do the moderator water 

swap, what happens to your water? 

 MR. NOUWENS:  To the water we take out?  

So we'll store all that water within the -- within site 

currently.  We'll likely drum it.  We'll have overpacks.  

It'll be very safely secured.  And likely we will build a 

second protected build and house that, that'll be very 

securely stored. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Okay.  Thank you.   

 Mr. Kahgee. 

 MEMBER KAHGEE:  Thank you, President 

Velshi. 

 My question will go directly to Indigenous 

knowledge.  I just want to thank my colleague Dr. Berube 

for raising the distinction and the difference between 

language, because often things get lost in translation, and 

I can think of nothing more relevant when we talk about 

Indigenous knowledge.  In my language we say (Aboriginal 

language/langue autochtone), which is our people's way of 

relating, understanding our law and everything we do and 

how we relate to our lands, our waters, and to each other 

as a people and certainly as a nation.  So I'm not certain 

what that is in your language, but I wouldn't be surprised 

if it gets lost in translation as well and has a much 
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deeper meaning. 

 But I want to say (Aboriginal 

language/langue autochtone) for sharing with us what I 

thought was a very powerful and insightful discussion on 

Indigenous knowledge, especially around the observance of 

protocol and the role that Indigenous knowledge must play 

in shaping and forming these types of discussions. 

 So my question, then, is to CNSC and 

perhaps NB Power may want to comment as well.  Can you 

explain and comment generally on the diagram specifically 

at page 24 of the intervention?  Can you clarify how 

Indigenous knowledge more broadly informs your analysis, 

how it is ultimately reflected in your decisions and 

recommendations?  How have you taken in consideration 

Passamaquoddy's knowledge in your review and analysis with 

respect to this licensing application? 

 DR. VIKTOROV:  Alex Viktorov, for the 

record.  I'll start and then I'll ask Adam Levine to 

elaborate. 

 But for CNSC staff, Indigenous knowledge 

is still a relatively new concept that you try to 

incorporate in our process and afford it all the respect it 

deserves to enrich our understanding of the interaction 

with the environment and the land.  Again, we are on the 

journey here, and we are trying to incorporate it in our 
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processes. 

 And Adam will elaborate how we actually 

doing this in this case. 

 MR. LEVINE:  Thank you very much.  Adam 

Levine, for the record. 

 So with reference to that specific 

diagram, what we meant by that particular diagram was just 

to demonstrate that actually Indigenous knowledge can be 

integrated and can be considered throughout the process and 

that it's actually -- the ownership lies with the knowledge 

holders and the communities and that we don't want to 

assume how it could be connected and brought into our 

processes. 

 So you know, we apologize to the 

Passamaquoddy if it was taken a different way, but that was 

definitely not the intent of the diagram.  And we're always 

happy to receive feedback on how we can improve displaying 

the information.  And we're always willing to improve upon 

those things. 

 But certainly, how we view Indigenous 

knowledge is that it's an ongoing process of hearing 

different perspectives, different views and improving the 

way we actually ourselves as the regulator look at our work 

and oversight of the facilities.  And we always do so when 

communities, including the Passamaquoddy, share their 
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knowledge and perspectives with us and we'll continue to do 

that moving forward. 

 Thank you. 

 MR. NOUWENS:  Jason Nouwens, for the 

record.   

 Before I turn this over to Austin Paul, I 

would just like to summarize I guess or highlight that I 

don't think any of us fully understand what this will look 

like going forward, but we're committed to working together 

to understand what this looks like from both of our points 

of view. 

 But I would like to turn it over to Austin 

to specifically discuss a little bit about how that 

engagement and the advancements for our environmental 

monitoring program has worked with our First Nations. 

 Austin, if you could elaborate on that, 

please. 

 MR. PAUL:  Thank you.  This is Austin 

Paul, for the record, with the First Nations Affairs.  I am 

the First Nations specialist and community liaison. 

 So I want to echo what has been said.  

First of all, Indigenous knowledge is such a vast body of 

knowledge and all-encompassing, and how it is applied is a 

journey.  It's a journey that we have to figure out 

together, you know, keeping in mind this approach of 
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designing with and not for.  We want to figure out together 

how this happens. 

 But if I can relate a bit of our journey 

on where we've gotten so far, a lot of the IK knowledge 

that we do gain insight into comes through our interaction 

with community members.  This can be formally through our 

engagement meetings or informally through just spending 

time with one another.   

 But a very large aspect of how we gather 

Indigenous knowledge has been through the monitoring, the 

field monitoring that we do. 

 So I was hired back in 2015 as the 

Indigenous field monitor for NB Power.  And at that point 

in time, we took a look at the list, the sampling list that 

Point Lepreau had.  And it was quite robust and 

representative, but it didn't have species incorporated 

within it that were of significance to First Nations for a 

variety of cultural reasons.  

 So at that time, I identified sweet grass.  

I had known since I was a boy that sweet grass grew in 

Musquash Harbour.  And I had been taken there as a child 

and as a youth to pick it with my family.  So we added that 

to the sampling list and, you know, that got brought into 

the inventory of plants that we sampled. 

 And as this grew, more and more field 
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monitors kind of came into the fray.  And after our last 

licence hearing in 2018, we hired two additional field 

monitors, one from the Wolasteqey Nation and one from 

Mi’gmawe’l Tplu’taqnn Incorporated.  So they worked with 

us.  The sampling list grew from there and has been growing 

ever since. 

 There was some staff turnaround in about 

2020 and new monitors came into the fray and we learned 

more. 

 So as this has changed and as we've had 

more interaction with one another, we've taken what we've 

already had and we've added an additional 20-plus species 

of First Nations' significance to this list that are 

harvested more or less quarterly, depending on the seasonal 

availability of the species and the abundance of them.   

 If the resources are abundant, we can come 

and harvest them and test them at regular intervals.  But 

if they are rare or under any sort of threat, we have to 

discuss it amongst ourselves as monitors and come to a 

consensus as to what the best way to harvest that is -- do 

we leave it, or is that data that important that we should 

take that?  It's done on a case-by-case basis. 

 And we've had a lot of different things 

that have happened over the years.  So sweet grass in 

Musquash, we wanted -- through conversations with the field 
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monitors, we wanted to have sweet grass closer to site that 

we could use as a control sample.  So we harvested rhizomes 

from Musquash and transplanted them at Point Lepreau, 

hoping to have a control sample.  That did not take.  Our 

efforts were rather fruitless.   

 However, fortuitously, a very healthy 

patch of sweet grass was found at the lighthouse that is 

protected.  It's focused.  We spent a great amount of time 

talking to it when guests arrive at site, when we're doing 

interpretation of the bay and discussing the history of the 

area and previous land use.  That all comes into the play 

through our site visits, and we enjoy sharing it. 

 So that is the journey that we've gotten 

so far.  That's where we have gotten.  And we're working 

together in the future to find out what this all looks like 

moving forward.  It is an ever-evolving relationship and we 

are committed to working together moving forward. 

 Thank you. 

 MEMBER KAHGEE:  Thank you.  I couldn't 

help but notice there was a very important similarity in 

both CNSC and NB Power's response, and that was a 

reflection that incorporation of Indigenous knowledge not 

only implies but necessitates shared decision-making.   

 So I would like to offer Passamaquoddy an 

opportunity to respond or share their insights with respect 
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to this issue. 

 MS. REEDER:  Kim Reeder, for the record.   

 I can't help but note a few things that 

I'd just like to highlight.  One, you spoke of language and 

how we're speaking in English but we're speaking two 

different languages.  And I just feel that this is the 

perfect opportunity to have you understand -- try to 

understand where we're coming from.   

 When you talked about tritium and you 

asked about the reason and what is going to be done to stop 

it, Jennifer discussed that the main problem was operations 

and maintenance, and Jason talked about moderator water.  

So these are messages that the communication still is so 

much to be desired.  You know, we're telling -- we're 

saying, This is important.  But let's talk about this 

instead.  Right?  It's very -- it leaves a lot to be 

desired. 

 We want to learn.  We really, really do. 

 And the CNSC acknowledged they're late on 

the journey.  Indigenous knowledge is being incorporated in 

monitoring.  I wonder what per cent, let's say of, for 

example, the budget or the staff are involved in monitoring 

compared to the entire operation.  Right?  So it's 

wonderful that Indigenous knowledge is being incorporated 

in monitoring, but it's such a small tiny little part.  



 

 

 

 

 

 
 

  

136 

Like it needs to be holistic.  It needs to be in 

everything.  As you say, it needs to be part of the 

decision-making.   

 And I'll use one of the quotes the chief 

always tells me.  He says, “Kim, you hold my feet to the 

fire.”  And you have the opportunity to hold their feet to 

the fire.  There's no more excuses.  I mean, you might be 

late to the journey, but we know enough now.  Why not just 

say three years?  It's -- we can do it.  You can do it.   

 Chief? 

 CHIEF AKAGI:  This is not a short 

question.  And I apologize.  But I love it because it's 

just like our language.  Yes, we're talking about the same 

thing.  The meanings are not the same.  They mean different 

things to different people.   

 I'm not a fan of traditional ATK/TEK 

because we're recording these things for you.  The problem 

is, I'm losing my elders.  The problem is we store our 

knowledge in our people.  We value our people because 

that's the repository.  I don't use -- yes, I do -- but I 

do not store my Aboriginal knowledge in your museums or 

archives; I just -- or your libraries.  I don't want them 

to end up in books where they'll be put away.  

 And but I want you to have access to that.  

But I want you to have the access we've always offered.  I 
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want you to have access through the knowledge keepers.  Our 

problem is we need to move that knowledge and find a way to 

move it to our youth, and that's language. 

 So how are we going to do that?  By 

helping programs for other people so they can reference 

them?  It is important, yes.  But I'd rather have the full 

monty, the real ranges in people because everybody's -- 

every individual is different.  As we grow in our 

territory, we all learn.  We all add to that knowledge.  We 

are cumulative.  It's just like the DNA I've talked to you 

about.  That's part of this. 

 So I don't want our knowledge to disappear 

in your digital world.   

 And by the way, when I see that knowledge 

again, I don't recognize it.  It's no longer mine.  And I 

know a lot of elders who refuse to share their knowledge 

because they know that somebody's using that for some other 

reason than to protect the territory, to look after the 

people.   

 We need help.  We know we can't do it 

ourselves.  We're a minority.  So I'd rather find some way 

of restoring language, making sure that it's not lost, 

making sure that the real knowledge remains in our Elders, 

and that we find ways to reconnect, because our youth are 

going through a major disconnect right now, through all 
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these electronics that are in their world and it is very 

difficult for them to find their way back.  That’s where we 

need help. 

 The Elders actually know how to do it, but 

their voices have been minimized, removed, and as long as 

we deal with processes like these, this is not my world and 

yet I need to be part of it. 

 So yes, we need to work together.  But 

please hear our voices.  That process is not ours.  Yes, 

people will help.  There are ways of working together, but 

to really, really help us survive as Indigenous peoples.  

Then I would sit with you any time, and you can ask me 

anything I know about the territory and I will share it. 

 It comes out in our stories.  It’s always 

in the stories. 

 So, I’m just not a fan of this process.  I 

find it dangerous.  Maybe I’m -- I tell everybody I’m a 

conspiracy theorist because I believe in the truth.  But I 

need to again make sure that we’re not hurting ourselves 

when we do these things. 

 I’m not accusing anybody of selling our 

knowledge, but I am saying that there is another path.  

It’s been there for thousands of years.  We told our 

stories around campfires, and I still get more stories by 

sitting down and talking to an individual about what they 
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know about the land than I’ll ever get from these books. 

 And by the way, a lot of this knowledge, 

when it’s in a book, travels across the country.  And even 

though Canada would like one Indigenous knowledge study, we 

are not Chilcotin.  I am not G’tzkin.  This is my river.  

This is my territory.  And this is where my knowledge 

resides. 

 I will take it to those Elders, but they 

are few and far between now.  If you just listen to their 

stories, never question them, never say what do you know 

about this plant, listen to their stories and you’ll get a 

really rich response. 

 Anyway, I apologize for too much time.  

Thank you. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Thank you. 

 Dr. Berube?  Dr. Demeter? 

 I think if you have a question for Dr. 

Edwards or the question around financial guarantees and 

decommissioning, it’s probably a good time to do it now 

while he’s here. 

 MEMBER DEMETER:  Thank you. 

 I will probe the financial guarantee. 

 So based on what I’ve heard so far, the 

financial guarantee is based on the presumption of a DGR 

and perhaps on the presumption of someone to take the 
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decommissioned non-spent fuel wastes. 

 The first point is the assumption of the 

DGR is not a guarantee, and I would suggest some might say 

that the financial guarantee should be calculated without 

the DGR in the equation until the DGR is a reality.  And 

it’s not a reality yet. 

 As well, if there is a guarantee that 

someone will take the other wastes from decommissioning, 

that’s not unreasonable to have it as an assumption.  But 

it’s not a guarantee at this point or a known certainty. I 

would suggest that it may be more conservative to calculate 

the financial guarantee without those assumptions.  And if 

you did calculate those financial guarantees without those 

assumptions, would it be closer to the figures presented by 

the intervenor? 

 Why don’t we go forward without the 

assumptions until we know they are real? 

 That’s to staff. 

 DR. VIKTOROV:  Alex Viktorov, for the 

record. 

 I will turn the response to this question 

to Nancy Greencorn, the Director for Wastes and 

Decommission Division within the CNSC. 

 MS. GREENCORN:  Nancy Greencorn, for the 

record. 
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 First, I would like to start by saying the 

Nuclear Fuel Waste Act has a requirement that waste owners 

are required to fund the implementation of the APM for high 

level waste.  So, this funding requirement is set under the 

Nuclear Fuel Waste Act. 

 The amounts that are determined are 

realistic scenarios based on international experiences. 

 In developing the cost estimates that are 

part of the Preliminary Decommissioning Plans, there are 

several methodologies that can be used to determine a cost 

estimate.  These are set out in our CNSC Regulatory 

Document 3.3.1 on Financial Guarantees.  They align with 

what is put out in IAEA documents and NEA.  It is to use 

various methodologies, and the one used in the New 

Brunswick Power is unitcost factor methodology, where there 

is numbers that are developed based on previous or 

international experiences, and then they are adjusted based 

on specific sites: so labour rates, transportation costs. 

 So, in developing these costs there are 

assumptions made, and they are based on decommissioning 

experience that has been made. 

 The numerical values that are provided 

would be commensurate with the current lifecycle phase that 

there is but keeping in mind that the PDPs are reviewed on 

a five-year basis and the associated cost estimates. 
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 So as the PDP gets further refined and 

more details come about, they are reflected in the PDP cost 

estimate and the quantum of the financial guarantee. 

 So the assumptions that are currently 

within the Decommissioning Plans staff found reasonable for 

the current lifecycle stage of the facility. 

 MEMBER DEMETER:  I’m sorry, I have to dig 

deep here because right now the assumption based on the 

previous discussion is that there will be a DGR, and that’s 

folded in.  So, if you took that out, would the financial 

guarantee go up? 

 MS. GREENCORN:  I would ask New Brunswick 

Power to speak to some of the assumptions that they have 

made. 

 I would also say that there is 

contingencies built into the cost estimates as well, and 

these are based on various items in the contingency range, 

depending on the type of activity and the known amount of 

information at the time. 

 So, there is contingencies built into the 

cost estimates, as well, that New Brunswick Power has made. 

 A comparison of these assumptions versus 

what has been done internationally could be done.  However, 

they are in line with what we are seeing internationally. 

 MEMBER DEMETER:  I understand that.  So, 
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these are every five years you do them.  It’s highly 

unlikely that a DGR will be able to receive product within 

five years, if it’s developed, given the time to build it. 

 So, including it as an assumption seems a 

bit unrealistic to me.  I just want to know if you took 

that assumption out of their model, what would happen to 

the cost estimate? 

 I understand all the international.  But 

it’s a mathematical thing, though. If you pull it out, what 

happens to the financial guarantee estimate? 

 MS. GREENCORN:  Nancy Greencorn, for the 

record. 

 Just to clarify, if it was to take the 

cost of disposal out, what would be the assumption that is 

made?  Just if I could get a bit of a clarification, 

please. 

 MEMBER DEMETER:  If you are looking at 

decommissioning down the road and you assume that part of 

the cost will be moving that material from on-site to a 

DGR, and you take that out and it’s going to be perhaps an 

alternate solution, like on-site storage, the financial 

guarantee may go up, it may go down. 

 You know, I want to know, because the 

intervenors talked about the assumption of the DGR is not 

set in stone.  And we know from our neighbours to the south 
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that they’ve had decades of trying to get a DGR up and 

running. 

 So let’s say it doesn’t happen.  What 

happens to the financial guarantee estimates? 

 MS. GREENCORN:  Nancy Greencorn, for the 

record. 

 At present, a realistic scenario has been 

included into the cost estimate for the disposal of 

radioactive waste.  That’s for high, intermediate and 

low-level waste. 

 Could additional scenarios be built into 

the Preliminary Decommissioning Plan and cost estimates and 

the changes that would take place?  I wouldn’t be able to 

speak specifically how the financial guarantee would change 

at that time. 

 I would ask if New Brunswick Power has 

done a comparison of that. 

 Again, going back to the scenario, it is a 

realistic scenario at this time and the funding is 

revisited on a five-year basis. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Why don’t we ask New 

Brunswick. 

 Do you do any different scenario planning 

and the impact that would have on the financial guarantee? 

 MR. NOUWENS:  Jason Nouwens, for the 
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record. 

 This is sort of a complicated answer.  The 

Preliminary Decommissioning Plan that we have now, that we 

update and submit every five years, does assume that the 

DGR under NWMO will materialize at some time. 

 There’s a few things that are important to 

note. 

 The transportation of fuel doesn’t 

actually occur as soon as the station shuts down.  We enter 

a prolonged decommissioning phase.  So, our shipment of 

fuel wouldn’t start until many, many years later. 

 I just want to highlight that the need to 

have that solution of the DGR or some other way in the near 

future is not there.  We still have 30 or 40 years to cross 

that bridge. 

 The decommissioning plan -- 

 DR. EDWARDS:  Can I please raise a point 

of order? 

 The decommissioning plan -- 

 THE PRESIDENT:  We will -- 

 DR. EDWARDS:  Excuse me -- 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Sorry.  Dr. Edwards, we 

will come to you.  Let Lepreau finish their response. 

 MR. NOUWENS:  Thank you. 

 So, the way the Preliminary 
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Decommissioning Plan is based right now is with NWMO and 

their mandate through NRCan to establish a long-term 

solution for Canada. 

 The NWMO, though, is significantly funded 

from the industry as their contribution to enabling that 

long-term solution.  So if we sort of took the DGR 

perspective out, that would really change the whole 

framework of how we are operating from a funding point of 

view.  So we would have to consider what that looks like, 

if we stopped as an industry contributing to NWMO and 

contributed those potential funds to our Preliminary 

Decommissioning Plan. 

 I guess it wouldn’t necessarily be apples 

to apples. It would be a different assumption and framework 

and a different framework in which we contribute our 

funding to, because now we contribute to NWMO for that 

long-term plan.  And NWMO has a long-term plan of the cost 

between now and the establishment of the DGR and what the 

contributions per year will need to be per utility, based 

on the assumed use of the DGR at some time. 

 So, we would have to look at that entire 

financial infrastructure and sort of back that out of the 

NWMO plan, long-term plan, and move that into the 

Preliminary Decommissioning Plan. 

 So that would be, I guess, a completely 
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different framework to which we are operating under. 

 However, as I mentioned earlier today, we 

can store used fuel at site indefinitely.  We have a very 

robust system of structures that are designed to industry 

best standards, that have a very comprehensive monitoring 

plan in place to ensure that the integrity of those 

structures is maintained year after year. 

 If the DGR did not materialize and if 

another solution under NWMO did not materialize as per 

their mandate from the federal government, we could keep 

the fuel on site indefinitely in the current storage 

arrangement that we have right now. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Dr. Edwards, over to you. 

 You are on mute. 

 DR. EDWARDS:  The Decommissioning Plan has 

nothing to do with the spent fuel DGR, nothing to do with 

it.  The Decommissioning Plan is separate from what happens 

to the spent fuel. 

 NWMO is responsible for establishing a DGR 

for spent fuel, not for decommissioning waste.  

Decommissioning waste is highly radioactive material from 

the core of the reactor area, some of which is very 

radioactive.  The pressure tubes are extremely radioactive.  

The calandria tubes, the vault shields, the calandria 

itself, all of these things are very radioactive, and those 
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wastes are not the obligation of the federal government or 

of NWMO.  It’s the obligation of the Province of New 

Brunswick and New Brunswick Power to establish a home for 

those wastes. 

 So, talking about the NWMO DGR does 

nothing but confuse the issue with regard to the 

decommissioning financial guarantee. 

 If you look at the table of costs 

associated with the decommissioning financial guarantee, 

you will see that it has nothing to do with the irradiated 

nuclear fuel.  It has to do with the radioactive structures 

and the radioactive rubble that results from dismantling 

those structures.  Where is that material going to go?  How 

is it going to be managed? 

 One point of interest might be that when 

the NWMO initially put forward the proposal to the 

Government of Canada for establishing a DGR, they also 

talked about the possibility of having a strategy which did 

not involve a DGR.  They found that that would be more 

expensive than having a DGR. 

 So, in fact, according to the spent fuel 

scenario they felt that the cost of managing the spent fuel 

over a long period of time, given the fact that you would 

have to replace the containers periodically, would in fact 

be very expensive. 
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 When it comes to refurbishment waste, 

however, this is another kettle of fish.  It has nothing to 

do with NWMO and NWMO’s DGR. 

 I just wanted to make that point. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Thank you for that, Dr. 

Edwards. 

 I will turn to staff and maybe take this 

opportunity to also explain the alignment of the cost 

estimates with the OECD NEA report that Dr. Edwards spoke 

about. 

 MS. GREENCORN:  Nancy Greencorn, for the 

record. 

 Just to reiterate, there are assumptions 

that are made now, and they are made for a five-year basis.  

Every five years we revisit, as CNSC, the assumptions made 

in the Preliminary Decommissioning Plan and the cost 

estimate. 

 If we see assumptions change, we would 

look at that point to see these.  It is an ongoing review 

that we do of that. 

 To the question specific to the NEA 

Report, the portion of the NEA Report that looks at a case 

study -- and it was from a Slovakia case study.  So, the 

numerical values that are being compared in this report are 

for the decommissioning of, I think, two units on the site.  



 

 

 

 

 

 
 

  

150 

There would be different labour rates, there would be a 

different regulatory framework. 

 So, it would be quite challenging to 

compare the numerical values that are provided in the case 

study and then provided into the intervention to the 

decommissioning of Point Lepreau. 

 What they were showing in the NEA Report 

is the structure in which you can present cost estimates.  

So, you can compare how you can present the type of 

information, not a comparison of the costs themselves. 

 I think that correction should be 

provided. 

 Did you have a follow-up? 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Thank you.  Yes? 

 MS. REEDER:  Kim Reeder, for the record. 

 I just wondered if we shouldn’t look at 

this NEA Report, which CANDU decommissioning should we look 

at, because we haven’t done it?  And when we could -- we’ve 

got some that have been shut down but we haven’t done it. 

 So when you say that the assumptions are 

based and the realistic assumptions are plausible 

scenarios, I bring it back to Commissioner Demeter’s point 

that they are actually not realistic.  What is realistic is 

to do these tables and figures with no decommissioning. 

 And the one other question I’m having a 
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hard time with is that -- by the way, I love your 

questions.  They are all exactly what would have come out 

of my mouth. 

 I do wonder what is the plan for the 

decommissioning waste, because we should have one now.  We 

should have one now.  So what is NB Power’s plan for the 

decommissioning waste? 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Thank you. 

 We are going to wrap this particular 

intervention up.  You have raised so many issues, and over 

the next three days we will certainly be pursuing many, 

many more or digging deeper into these issues.  I know we 

are running late, and our interpreters absolutely need to 

have a break. 

 With that, I really want to give a special 

thanks to the Passamaquoddy for your intervention and for 

appearing in front of us today and raising a lot of really 

great issues for us to deliberate on. 

 We will take a break for lunch, and we 

will reconvene at 2:00 p.m.  We will see you then.  Thank 

you again. 

 

--- Upon recessing at 1:20 p.m. / 

    Suspension à 13 h 20 
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--- Upon resuming at 2:04 p.m. / 

    Reprise à 14 h 04   

 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Welcome back.  We are 

ready to move to our next presentation which is by 

Mi’gmawe’l Tplu’taqnn Incorporated as outlined in CMD 

22-H2.234. 

 And I understand that Ms. Zoe Roberts will 

be presenting.  Ms. Roberts, over to you, please. 

 

CMD 22-H2.234 

Oral presentation by 

Mi’gmawe’l Tplu’taqnn Incorporated 

 

 MS. ROBERTS:  Good afternoon, my name is 

Zoe Roberts and I’m legal counsel for Mi’gmawe’l Tplu’taqnn 

Incorporated, or MTI.   

 We also have in attendance Kristie 

Halka-Glazier, who is the Energy and Mines Coordinator. 

Michael Isaac, the Director of Research and Indigenous 

Knowledge, and Derek Simon who is also legal counsel. 

 Our submissions will provide a brief 

introduction into MTI’s role and an overview of MTI’s 

response to the licence application. 

 The Mi’gmaq are the original inhabitants 
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of the territory of Mi’gmaqi which includes the areas 

currently known as Nova Scotia, New Brunswick, PEI and 

parts of Quebec, Newfoundland and Maine.  Mi’gmaq have 

occupied and cared for these lands and waters since time 

immemorial.   

 The sacred and constitutionally protected 

treaties of peace and friendship with the British Crown 

recognize Mi’gmaq nationhood, title and rights, including 

the right to hunt, fish, and gather.  The Mi’gmaq continue 

to exercise aboriginal and treaty rights throughout 

Mi’gmaqi. 

 Mi’gmawe’l Tplu’taqnn means Mi’gmaq 

People’s Laws, or how we govern ourselves.  MTI is a 

Not-for-Profit Mi’gmaq Rights organization established in 

November of 2015 to advance the interests of its nine 

member First Nations. 

 MTI is the representative organization for 

the Mi'gmaq of New Brunswick on matters pertaining to 

Mi'gmaq rights and has been appointed to conduct 

consultation with the Crown on behalf of eight or our 

nine-member First Nations. 

 MTI is not representing Elsipogtog in this 

proceeding. 

 MTI recognizes that New Brunswick Power 

and CNSC have made efforts since the 2017 licence renewal 
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process to consult and engage with Mi'gmaq rights holders 

regarding Point Lepreau.  For example, in March of 2018 New 

Brunswick Power and MTI entered into a relationship and 

consultation agreement to outline the principles and 

process for engaging and consulting with MTI member 

communities with respect to New Brunswick Power projects. 

 CNSC has met with representatives of MTI 

over the past year to discuss this re-licensing process and 

remains available for further meetings.  However, MTI has 

two primary concerns with the current license renewal 

application:   

 First, the failure to incorporate an 

Indigenous Knowledge study as a requirement of the licence 

renewal.  

 And, second, the length of the proposed 

licence term. 

 Regarding our first concern, MTI submits 

that New Brunswick Power’s commitment to funding and 

conducting an Indigenous Knowledge study for Point Lepreau 

should be a condition of the station’s licence renewal 

given that the decision to renew is one that impacts 

Mi'gmaq rights. 

 MTI defies Indigenous Knowledge as a 

cumulative body of knowledge, practise and belief evolving 

by adaptive processes and handed down through generations 
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by cultural transmission. 

 An Indigenous Knowledge study is the 

process whereby information is gathered on Mi'gmaq land use 

and occupancy of a given area. 

 I will provide a brief outline of the 

process and I do note that a copy of the Study Process 

Guide was enclosed with our submissions. 

 First, a project proponent, such as New 

Brunswick Power, provides a description of the proposed 

project. 

 Then, a desktop literature review of 

mainstream and indigenous archives is completed to put 

together the historical context of the knowledge being 

gathered.   

 Mi'gmaq community members are then engaged 

to help identify knowledge-holders who are elders or 

Mi'gmaq of any age group who are land and waterway users, 

who understand and use Mi'gmaq culture and traditions. 

 Informed consent is then secured from 

participants, and the knowledge holders are interviewed and 

engage in mapping exercises to identify indigenous land use 

and occupancy. 

 Then, ground truthing sessions are held 

with knowledge-holders and these sessions involve 

travelling to the study area to confirm land and water use 
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data collected during these interviews.   

 Finally, gathered data is analysed and 

recorded using maps created with Geographic Information 

System or GIS software and written reports.  And MTI 

remains the custodian of this data.  

 Point Lepreau is located on the shores of 

the Bay of Fundy and there is documentary and physical 

evidence that several locations in the Bay of Fundy were 

important gathering points for the Mi'gmaq and other First 

Nations for the purposes of trade as well as harvesting of 

large marine mammals.  And such locations likely include 

present-day Point Lepreau. 

 Today Mi'gmaq communities exercise a 

variety of harvesting activities in and around the Bay of 

Fundy, including food fishing activities, commercial 

fishing and harvesting of plants and wildlife as was 

discussed this morning. 

 In addition, Mi'gmaq communities, and 

particular Fort Folly, have been involved with efforts to 

restore salmon and other species in the Bay of Fundy. 

 What’s missing from the record is Mi'gmaq 

knowledge and information regarding historic and 

present-day land use and how the station may affect such 

land use. 

 An Indigenous Knowledge study would 
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provide MTI and New Brunswick Power with details of land 

use, fishing activities and harvesting activities in the 

Point Lepreau area.  This information, in turn, is 

incorporated into the Mi'gmaq Rights Impact Assessment 

Framework which I will refer to as, ‘the Framework,’ which 

sets out a process for identifying how a project may impact 

on aboriginal or treaty rights. 

 A copy of the Framework was also enclosed 

with MTI’s written submissions. 

 In order to understand how existing rights 

will be affected, a baseline of information about land use 

and occupation is required.  For example, if an Indigenous 

Knowledge study establishes how the waters immediately 

surrounding the Point Lepreau station are used by Mi'gmaq 

communities for fishing, then this information can be 

incorporated to the Framework to determine how the 

station’s activities may impact the right to fish. 

 An assessment under the Framework has been 

initiated for the Point Lepreau station and we note that 

New Brunswick Power has told MTI that it is willing to take 

part in an Indigenous Knowledge study for the station. 

 MTI submits that a condition of licence 

renewal should be that New Brunswick Power commit to 

working with MTI to address impacts that may arise from the 

Framework process.  MTI hopes that reasonable 
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recommendations arising from the Framework process are 

addressed and adopted by New Brunswick Power. 

 MTI remains open to working with New 

Brunswick Power to incorporate an Indigenous Knowledge 

study into the station’s existing environmental monitoring 

activities and/or to establish terms of reference for 

incorporating an Indigenous Knowledge study into the 

station’s Regulatory Framework. 

 We also submit that the continued 

employment of indigenous monitors be a condition of the 

station’s re-licensing and that their work be considered in 

discussions arising from the Framework process. 

 Now, turning to our submissions on the 

licence renewal period.   

 Although New Brunswick Power has operated 

the station pursuant to a series of five-year licences, we 

of course requested a twenty-five-year operating licence 

until June of 2047.  

 We understand from the CNSC Staff’s 

submissions that they are recommending a licence duration 

of twenty years based on the anticipated lifespan of the 

station. 

 We also understand that the Commission 

generally grants operating licences for ten years or less, 

and there is no Canadian precedent for a twenty-year 
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licence. 

 MTI has significant reservations about the 

proposed length of the licence.  We submit that a five to 

ten-year licence would be appropriate.  We share the 

Commission members’ concerns that a longer licence duration 

may negatively affect both public perception of the 

Commission’s oversight and opportunities for meaningful 

engagement with First Nations and other communities. 

 During the January 26th hearing Commission 

Member Dr. Demeter noted that the annual regulatory 

oversight reports don’t provide for oral submissions by 

intervenors, but the licence renewal process, of course, 

allows for public hearings.  We do note CNSC’s submissions 

from this morning, noting that indigenous intervenors can 

request to present orally in the regulatory oversight 

report process. 

 We note that periodic safety reviews are 

completed every ten years and the anticipated twenty-year 

lifespan of the station can easily accommodate two ten-year 

licence renewal processes. 

 In its submissions in January, New 

Brunswick Power was unable to articulate the clear 

advantage of securing a twenty or twenty-five-year licence, 

rather than a ten-year licence.  And, in fact, stated that 

there would be no issue with going through the licence 
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renewal process every ten years. 

 In summary, MTI submits that an Indigenous 

Knowledge study should be a condition of licence renewal 

and a five to ten-year licence would be appropriate. 

 MTI is grateful for the funding and 

standing to participate in the Stage 2 hearing for the 

station in both 2017 and 2022.   

 MTI is thankful for the efforts made by 

New Brunswick Power and CNSC to date and hopes that our 

recommendations are carried out promptly.  

 Thank you. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Thank you very much Ms. 

Roberts, for the presentation.   

 Let me open the floor for questions and 

we’ll start with Dr. Berube, please. 

 MEMBER BERUBE:  Yes, thank you for your 

presentation and coming to speak before us.  

 One of the questions I have here is for 

CNSC Staff and it’s regarding, actually, the agreement 

between MTI and actually New Brunswick Power.  Are you 

aware that this agreement is in place?  And if so, to what 

extent have you evaluated this agreement in terms of the 

collection of Indigenous Knowledge for purposes of 

licensing? 

 MR. LEVINE:  Adam Levine, for the record.   
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 Yes, CNSC Staff are aware of the 

discussions and agreements between NB Power and MTI with 

regards to conducting an Indigenous Knowledge study in 

relation to the Point Lepreau site and future potential 

projects around this site.  And we haven’t actually seen 

the specific terms as that is an agreement between NB Power 

and MTI directly, but we’ve had multiple discussions with 

NB Power staff and MTI about those terms, and also 

discussed how CNSC Staff could also support the gathering 

of IK with MTI and bring that into our regulatory process, 

as well, including ongoing monitoring activities with MTI.   

 So, we are aware of that and very 

supportive of the work that NB Power is doing with MTI and 

it is definitely the right thing to do, and we’ll be there 

throughout to support those efforts. 

 MEMBER BERUBE:  The other question I have 

is for NB Power, is, basically, you have an agreement in 

place with MTI and they are clearly stating that that 

Indigenous Knowledge has not yet been incorporated in some 

of your processes.  Could you -- could you please comment 

on this situation? 

 MR. NOUWENS:  Jason Nouwens, for the 

record.   

 Thank you for that question.  Before I 

pass it over to Kathleen Duguay for some more details, I 
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will just say that we have had an agreement in place for 

some time and are now embarking on -- on completing the 

Indigenous Knowledge study which will allow us to more 

accurately understand what that relationship will look like 

and with the knowledge we gain, how we can incorporate that 

into our station. 

 I will turn it over to Kathleen Duguay to 

explain a little bit more about our arrangement with MTI.     

 Kathleen. 

 MS. DUGUAY:  Kathleen Duguay, for the 

record.   

 We do have a capacity funding agreement 

with MTI that’s been in place for several years now.  In 

addition to that, we just recently agreed to support an 

Indigenous study with MTI, so they have provided us with a 

proposal of what they would like to do, and we have been in 

discussion with them. 

 One of the initiatives from that 

Indigenous study was to partially initiate it as part of 

the possible SMR project on the premises of the station.   

 Regardless of SMR, or not, Point Lepreau 

has committed to support the Indigenous study for MTI. 

 So, the other piece of that is, what are 

we going to do with the findings of that Indigenous study?  

Are we going to be working with MTI and mitigate, address, 
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work together on how we can best learn from those findings, 

and moving forward with it. 

 MEMBER BERUBE:  So SMRs are off the agenda 

for this particular hearing.   

 That being said, what’s your timeline for 

completion of this project?  I mean, the agreement is 

already been in place for four years, so where are we -- 

where are you at, and where are you going to get to, and 

how long is it going to take you? 

 MR. NOUWENS:  Jason Nouwens, for the 

record.  

 This will be a multi-year agreement and -- 

and where this is a new study for us, it will be a new path 

for both of use to understand what this study will look 

like and how long it will take, so I’d rather not say this 

will be a defined period of time because as we step through 

this Indigenous Knowledge process we’ll both learn and both 

come to a common understanding of what the aspects are that 

we need to further evaluate until we come to a conclusion 

of the study.  

 THE PRESIDENT:  Thank you.  Maybe just a 

follow-up then to CNSC Staff, and Mr. Levine you kind of 

touched on it, but how does the study done by New Brunswick 

Power line up with what the CNSC may be doing around 

Indigenous Knowledge? 
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 MR. LEVINE:  Adam Levine, for the record.   

 So, whenever an Indigenous Knowledge study 

is done the knowledge and the information is owned by those 

communities and knowledge-holders and we have definitely 

expressed an interest with MTI and other communities that 

should they conduct these studies with the support of 

industry, that we would also like to be made aware of the 

information because we find it extremely valuable -- you 

learn a lot from these studies.   

 You learn about the history; the culture; 

how they view the lands, their perspectives of it; of the 

existing operations or the future of the site and how they 

want to be involved; and the perspectives of community 

members and a broad range of community members across the 

board that are interviewed.   

 So, we see great value in this and we’re 

very excited that this is happening; it’s something that we 

actually followed up with MTI on in 2017 after the last 

renewal, to say we’re very much interested in embarking 

with them on gathering Indigenous Knowledge.  And sometimes 

these things take a while to come to fruition, but we’re 

really excited that this is happening now, and once they 

make progress on that study then we can talk with all 

parties of how we can get access to it, we can ensure that 

the proper protections and confidentiality, and then look 
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at where we could integrate this into our regulatory 

framework.  

 And if you want more specifics on that, 

I’m happy to provide that. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  No, no, that's very 

helpful, thank you.  

 Dr. Demeter, please? 

 MEMBER DEMETER:  Thank you, very much.  

 The intervenor -- I really appreciated 

reading the 2019 IK Knowledge Study Guide; that was very 

detailed and very illustrative. 

 One of the realities, and I understand 

this is a project in progress relative to folding IK 

Knowledge, Indigenous Knowledge into the framework and 

looking at Point 24 of your Intervention saying that this 

will help determine impacts on activities such as 

harvesting and fishing.   

 In the interim, as that’s an evolving -- 

we have to sort of have an assessment of impacts, how 

current operations impact activities.  And I don’t know if 

you could make a comment on knowing that, you know, in the 

fulfilment of time and the utilization of IK, Indigenous 

Knowledge, will -- will inform that. But until that’s fully 

informed, can you speak at all to potential impacts of 

ongoing operations on the activities of your client, Ms. 
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Roberts? 

 MS. ROBERTS:  I think I'll hand that over 

to one of -- either to Kristie or Mike, if they are able to 

answer that for you.   

 I think Mike is trying to connect; he was 

just muted. 

--- Pause 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Okay.  Do you want us to 

come back at a later time for his response? 

 MS. ROBERTS:  Sure, thank you.  It looks 

like he might be having some technical problems. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Yes, okay.  Why don’t we 

wait.  Okay, thank you.   

 Mr. Kahgee. 

 MEMBER KAHGEE:  Thank you very much for 

your presentation. 

 I just have a follow-up question for MTI 

with respect to the Indigenous Knowledge study.  What is 

your nation’s expectations for how this study will inform 

decisions regarding ongoing operations and future 

operations at the site? 

 MR. SIMON:  I could attempt to address 

that.  

 The final report for the IK study usually 

contains recommendations regarding the appropriate 
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mitigations, accommodations, whatever, that might be 

required.  So, it could have good recommendations regarding 

what types of monitoring activities could take place; what 

types of impacts in particular you might be monitoring for; 

species of concern be it plant species, animal species, 

what-have-you, that should be paid particular attention to 

during the monitoring program and other sort of proposed 

mitigation activities.  So, it's typically -- it varies 

quite widely from study to study, depending on what the 

findings are.  

 As my colleague kind articulated in her 

presentation, a lot of the primary concern of MTI has been 

impact on the Bay of Fundy, and on aquatic species in 

particular, so that -- that could be a potential and likely 

focus of the proposed recommendations in this case.  But 

typically it’s proposed mitigations and they do vary quite 

a bit from study to study, so it’s difficult to anticipate 

without the study being conducted but monitoring might very 

well be a focus.  

 MEMBER KAHGEE:  Thank you.   

 THE PRESIDENT:  Thank you. 

 MR. SIMON:  I’m not sure if Mike might 

have anything to add to that. 

 MR. ISAAC:  Can you hear me now? 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Yes, we can hear you, Mr. 
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Isaac. 

 MR. ISAAC:  Yes, I am sorry, I apologize, 

I had some technical issues with the headset.   

 Exactly what Derek had mentioned in 

relation to recommendations, certainly it depends on -- on 

various projects and what would be the finding in our 

studies, you know, from historical to present day research 

that’s being done on these reports, and based on that we 

can clearly provide the proponent recommendations on what 

are our concerns and issues with reference to the project.  

 So pretty much in a nutshell is what Derek 

had mentioned earlier, so there’s not much else for me to 

add.  Thank you. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Thank you very much. 

 Dr. Demeter, did you have any follow-up 

questions?   

 MEMBER DEMETER:  No. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Okay.  Mr. Kahgee? 

 MEMBER KAHGEE:  Maybe just one for NB 

Power.  I might have missed this.  I heard you to be saying 

that you’re working with MTI to in essence kind of flush 

this study our and are committed to doing that. 

 Do you have a sense of timing on that? 

 MR. NOUWENS:  Jason Nouwens, for the 

record.  With respect to the timing, we’re trying not to 
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put an end date on it as we work through the study to make 

sure that we allow the time we need.  Because this is a new 

process for both of us to explore down this road.   

 So, you know, what I can tell you is that 

this is very important to us, we’re working on this 

expeditiously, it’s a current priority.  It’s not something 

that, you know, we’re going to do two years from now or 

that we’re putting on the back burner.  This is the current 

focus what we’re putting effort into today. 

 MEMBER KAHGEE:  Okay, all right.  Thank 

you. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Dr. Berube, anything else?  

Okay. 

 So MTI, thank you very much for your 

submission, your presentation.  I know that your second 

issues are on the term of the licence, and we will 

certainly be talking about that issue at length over the 

next two or three days.  So I just want to give you comfort 

that we have not missed that you’ve raised that as an 

issue. 

 So again, thanks very much for your 

intervention. 

 With that, we will move to our next 

presentation which is by Leap4wards, as outlined in CMD 

22-H2.5.  Mr. David Thompson is here, he’ll be presenting 
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it. 

 Mr. Thompson, over to you please. 

 

CMD 22-H2.5 

Oral presentation by Leap4wards 

 

 MR. D. THOMPSON:  I’ll just start out by 

saying that Leap4wards is a non-profit public interest 

group and we formed this group a few years ago and we work 

on social and environmental issues with the hope of 

creating a better world I guess for all and a better 

future. 

 And as for myself, I grew-up and lived for 

55 years in one of the small communities surrounding the 

Point Lepreau reactor site, so I’m quite familiar with it.  

And I have been active and involved in safety and 

environmental as well as community issues since the 

announcement of the construction of the Lepreau reactor in 

1974 until the present time. 

 So I’ve been to some of these hearings on 

relicensing before, not to them all, but some of them.  And 

I must say, like the Passamaquoddy said in their 

presentation this morning, that although I offered to do it 

for Leap, I considered whether to come or not.  Because the 

past experience at the hearings, you know, it left a lot to 
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be desired.   

 And although it seems to be better this 

morning with the level of time that I notice was given to 

the Passamaquoddy and the type of questions which the Panel 

Members asked, you know, it does seem that it’s been 

improved.  You know, which was not the case.  The last one 

I participated in before was after the refurbishment of 

Lepreau and when they were about to be relicensed again.  

And, you know, there were a lot of problems there. 

  For instance, you know, particularly 

people having time to give, you know presentations which 

they desired to give and that sort of thing.  

 Anyway, I don’t want to go into that.  But 

I just wanted to mention that. 

 So hopefully, you know, people and 

particularly long-term intervenors in the future, you know, 

due to better work by the Panel and more discussion with 

the intervenors post today and other things will, you know, 

improve that kind of situation and leave for a better 

situation, I guess for everyone. 

 Anyway, thank you for hearing that. 

 Anyway, we are concerned, and the reason 

that we’re concerned with a 25-year licence there are a 

couple of things.  But our position is NB Power should not 

be grated a 25-year operating licence for the Point Lepreau 
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generating station, which they have requested from the 

Nuclear Safety Commission to replace their current 

five-year licence, which will expire in June of this year. 

 The reason is that, as I mentioned, there 

are too many uncertainties and conflicting interests on the 

horizon.  These uncertainties are due to two major issues, 

one is land ownership and Indigenous land claims and 

potential additional land claims on the site at Lepreau.   

 So, you know, looking at a 25-year term, 

nothing’s going to happen there right away.  As you know, 

any land claims are many years in the courts and a very 

long time for settlement.  But 25 years could bring about a 

much different situation obviously. 

 The other thing is that NB Power in 

concert with some other companies are making plans for SMRs 

there, small modular nuclear reactors, as I’m sure that 

you’re well aware too. 

 So that puts a whole bunch of 

uncertainties of other things going on there which could 

have effects. 

 As I mentioned, one Indigenous land claim 

has already been filed with the courts and there are 

possible other land claims from two other Indigenous groups 

which, you know, it’s been mentioned by them but no action 

has been taken yet.  But that could be the case. 
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 So we might be looking at a situation, you 

know, in a few years, certainly less than 25, when NB Power 

will not, you know, have the rights to the land there, and 

it could involve a very different situation, totally 

different. 

 And going to the modular reactors, which 

are planned, there are two companies planning to build 

them, and these are companies that don’t have a lot of 

resources or anything.   

 In fact, they’re operating, you know, 

almost exclusively for these projects on taxpayers’ money, 

both from the government and the provincial government.  

One of them is called ARC and the other one is called 

Moltex.  They are separately planning with NB Power to 

build and operate a number of small nuclear reactors at 

Point Lepreau and Moltex is planning to reprocess the spent 

fuel at Lepreau on site for the recovery of plutonium to 

power their reactors. 

 What this means is that they will be 

opening up these waste storage silos there and for the 

first time spent fuel reprocessing will happen in Canada, 

which raises all kinds of issues which I’m sure in the 

future, if it does happen, will be, you know, dealt with, 

you know, by your licensing and other things.   

 You know, I mean there’s lots of concerns 
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about, you know, this reprocessing and just how 

environmentally secure it will be and if it raises 

proliferation issues through nuclear weapons.  And this 

particular thing is banned now in the United States of 

course, reprocessing, it has been for a few decades now.  

And it was seen of the danger there because of weapons 

proliferation and it being diverted or falling into bad 

hands.  But not in Canada, there’s no law against 

reprocessing. 

 I’m sure, if it goes ahead, there would be 

a number of processes to look at it, but the question is 

will they be adequate? 

 But this certainly changes everything at 

the Lepreau site; it’s not business as normal there where 

the Power Commission might not own the land in the future, 

the ownership may change to an Indigenous group.  And you 

may have people building other projects there which 

although they’re cooperating and working together on these 

small nuclear reactors or the possibility of them.   

 And I might add that there are none of 

these reactors operating now.  They’re not much more than a 

concept.  When I went to the open house that these people 

held and started to ask some questions, you know, it didn’t 

amount to anymore at that time, which was about a year ago.  

You know, just some sketches on some sheets of paper, you 
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know, that’s what they were.  And, you know, some 

photographs and pictures that, you know, were drawn by 

somebody. 

 You know, these have not been 

demonstrated.  Although, one of the types of reactors was 

used for military purposes in the States, but it was never 

used commercially.  

 And when I talked with someone there from 

NB Power who was supposedly working for them there, he told 

me -- when I asked him about securing the fuel, not the 

extracted plutonium, from the waste at Lepreau, but for the 

other reactor which was going to use an enriched form of 

uranium and that sort of thing he suggested at that time, a 

year ago, that they had been talking to the Soviet Union 

about getting this kind of material from them.  I’m sure 

that that’s changed now so much since the war in the 

Ukraine. 

 But it was disturbing to me, even at the 

time, and alarming and a whole bunch of things. 

 So these are new things on the table that 

were never there before.  And if anyone comes to ask you 

for a long-term licence with those kind of uncertainties 

arising, whether who’s going to own the land during the 

term that they want the licence for or other people who 

might want to build something there in cooperation with 
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them. 

 And I’m sure that they’re cooperating well 

together.  I mean, they’re great in the bed now, but they 

might not be such good bed partners in the future when the 

modular reactor, if it ever does, go ahead and they build 

the prototype there.  And, by the way, they call them small 

modular nuclear reactors.   

 There’s nothing small about, you know, the 

ones that they want to build at Lepreau.  One of them, the 

Moltex one is going to be, so they claim 450 megawatts 

which is, you know, certainly a considerable size.  It’s 

not as large a Lepreau, it’s 630 megawatts.  I guess they 

made it a little more power in it since the refurbishment, 

but it had been 630, and a single unit reactor. 

 But the Moltex one is going to be, you 

know, about 450 megawatts, which is not a small modular 

nuclear reactor, it’s modular, but not small.  And, you 

know, they’re confusing them when they’re talking to the 

public about a whole bunch of things.  You know, in another 

term they’re talking about some little kind of reactor that 

might provide heat for a mine site or an oil sands project 

or something. 

 But, you know, there’s just a lot of 

confusing information and a lot of uncertainty into the 

future, just too much to ask for a 25-year licence.  
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 So those are some of the concerns. 

 So with that much future uncertainty at 

the Lepreau reactor site the Canadian Nuclear Safety 

Commission should only issue a licence for a maximum of 

three years to replace the current five-year licence which 

is set to expire in June of this year. 

 A three-year licence would offer the 

opportunity to respond to any changing circumstances or 

conditions at the Point Lepreau reactor site and review any 

new or emerging realities that might occur. 

 For over two decade the Point Lepreau 

nuclear station operated on two and three-year licences, 

and that was most of its operating life.  And this longer 

licence, the five-year licence which it currently has, only 

appeared after refurbishment, after the reactor was started 

up again, and they got a five-year licence and then they 

got the current licence after that for another five years. 

 So we feel that given the things that I’ve 

brought up about these other reactors and also the 

uncertainty of the ownership of the site in the future 

that, you know, there’s things that are just going to 

emerge.   

 And with the other reactors, if they can 

get these things which are a little more than the design 

being worked on from a concept in paper at the present time 
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to a prototype in maybe 10 years, and of course the 

proponents are running around saying how good this will be 

for climate change, but we want action on climate change 

now.  We don’t want it, you know, 10 years from now with a 

reactor that may not be economic at the time or work right, 

that kind of thing.   

 I mean, it’s a very windy place on the Bay 

of Fundy and we can build windmills around the Bay of Fundy 

now that would generate power for about 3 cents per 

kilowatt hour or 3.5 cents.  And the price is lowering all 

the time.   

 And we don’t want to -- I don’t think 

anyone wants to pay the price for much higher fuel costs 

which everyone admits it will be from these modular 

reactors in the future, that’s if the prototype works 

successfully and if it gets approvals on a whole bunch of 

things.  But it needs these approvals and things need to be 

seriously looked at.  And this is not a time for carte 

blanche, for throwing them a licence now. 

 Now, the other thing -- I don’t want to 

take a lot of time, because I know maybe you’re a little 

bit behind now and I appreciate all the time that you 

certainly gave to the issues brought up by the 

Passamaquoddy, you know, this morning and sort of disclosed 

the whole issue about, you know, future retirement of the 
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plant and the matter of, you know, the plans aren’t in 

place to dispose of the radioactive material other than the 

fuel, and they certainly aren’t funded.  And this is a 

major thing that’s been opened up here today already, and I 

thank you for that. 

 And that’s why I say, I see a big 

improvement from the type of hearing that I came to in the 

past. 

 It’s interesting that with the Board 

itself, and I don’t want to raise anyone’s heckles or 

anything here, but in the past we’ve seen Boards here, 

particularly when it was called the Atomic Energy Control 

Board before you were renamed the Nuclear Safety 

Commission.  But also afterwards too when people at the 

table on the Board and the Chairman, you know, afterwards, 

they’re not there now, and they’re back working for the 

nuclear industry, they came from it and now they’ve gone 

back to it and that sort of thing. 

 And so there’s a lot of reluctance of 

people, you know, to come before Boards like you today, but 

it’s a little refreshing after the presentation of the 

Passamaquoddy and your response to it this morning.  So I 

will say that. 

 And hopefully, you know, in the future 

this hearing wouldn’t be the end of it, that you will 
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dialogue more with public interest groups.  

 But to not have a hearing like we’re 

having here today for 25 years, I can’t imagine that.  I 

mean, a lot of the people that I’m looking around at in 

this room here, and I don't want to offend any younger 

people, but a lot of us aren’t just going to be around 

here.  And I’m sure that very few of you, and myself 

included, you know, we’re just not going to be around and 

this is the only chance that we’ll have in this manner. 

 I mean, there’ll be other ways to approach 

the Board on particular issues of safety and that kind of 

thing, but not in this forum, not where it’s in an open 

place and monitored by the media and we’re able to do what 

we can do here. 

 But I do hope the Board can communicate 

better in the future and with the intervenors and after 

this is over.  So what we’re asking for is not a longer 

licence, like the proponent, but we want a shorter one, we 

want a three-year licence with all the changes that are 

likely to occur. 

 And I just might mention the people that 

these two companies and NB Power who are looking to build 

these modular reactors at Lepreau, it’s not a very big site 

there, so they’ll be right close to where the reactor is. 

 And there’s an all -- there’s an 
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enormous -- 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Mr. Thompson, I don't want 

to interrupt but, you know, you’ve gone way over the 10 

minutes.  And SMRs are not part of the scope of this 

hearing.  

 MR. D. THOMPSON:  No, but there’s going to 

be an impact if a licence approved for 25 years and 

there’ll be no end of the problems.  They may be good bed 

fellows now these modular reactor companies and NB Power, 

but it won’t be long until there are marital problems and 

disputes and these will end up in court.  You know, whether 

it happens from labour insurrections that shut one of the 

sites down because of the other or an interference from 

some kind of contamination, or it could be any one, I could 

make you a list a mile long about legal suits that could 

occur and be very expensive and one site shutting another 

one down. 

 Well, I don’t want to go into that and 

you’re not going to allow me to anyway.  But anyhow, I just 

said that there’s too much uncertainty. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  We hear your uncertainty, 

and let’s open it up for questions.  And I’m sure 

Commission Members will want to dig into that. 

 Let’s start with Dr. Demeter please. 

 MEMBER DEMETER:  Thank you, Mr. Thompson, 
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and I assure you we will have lengthy discussions in the 

next three days on length of licence and probing that. 

 But I wanted to pick on -- you brought up 

the issue of plutonium.  The previous intervenor talked 

about plutonium and there seems to be three different 

stories about plutonium and the steam generator pipes.  

Plutonium has potential for reuse of -- repurposing of 

spent fuel and then plutonium perhaps for SMRs, which would 

have to have a separate hearing. 

 But maybe I’ll get Point Lepreau to 

comment on the presence of plutonium in their current 

operations, whether they’re looking at repurposing spent 

fuel for reuse, and how they’re going to manage.   

 And then maybe I’ll get Staff to talk 

about are there any regulatory implications relative to 

these activities, relative to plutonium? 

 MR. NOUWENS:  Jason Nouwens, for the 

record.  You know, you make a clarification that small 

modular reactors is outside of the scope of relicense, as 

is any fuel reprocessing.  So we have no plans to reprocess 

fuel at site, and that is really one of the things we look 

forward to from the licensing process and the rigour that’s 

in that is that any potential change of use of what we 

currently do at site would be a new licence. 

 So if we did embark on small modular 
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reactors, any different type of reactor, or reprocessing of 

fuel it would trigger extra work.  So our current licence 

is purely the current operations and the continuation of 

that for the next proposed 25 years. 

 MEMBER DEMETER:  That helps a lot.  So 

that just leaves the one comment about plutonium isotopes 

and the steam generator pipes which, if I assume correctly, 

will be dealt with as a source term like any other isotope, 

and the steam generator pipes, and managed accordingly or 

is there anything particular about plutonium isotopes and 

the steam generator pipes from activation or otherwise that 

needs to be handled differently from a regulatory point of 

view? 

 DR. VIKTOROV:  Alex Viktorov, for the 

record.  I’ll start with reiterating that the SMRs are out 

of scope.  The requested licence and the licence drafted by 

CNSC Staff doesn’t authorize any additional activities 

compared to what’s currently authorized.   

 So no new construction, no fuel 

reprocessing, no SMRs at all. 

 Should there be any contamination in the 

steam generators or any other system of the currently 

operating reactor, the source of this contamination would 

be investigated appropriately.   

 It’s very unlikely any plutonium 
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contamination will be spread, that would require 

significant fuel damage, which is kind of not observed.  

But should there be such contamination, again its impact on 

the system performance and releases would be assessed and 

monitored to ensure it’s within the limits. 

 MEMBER DEMETER:  Thank you.  That answers 

my questions. 

 MEMBER KAHGEE:  Thank you very much for 

your presentation this afternoon.    

 So I just want to follow-up on a couple of 

things generally.  First, I recognize that SMRs are not on 

the agenda.  But having looked at the volumes of 

interventions, it’s referenced quite a bit.  And it seems 

to me it goes to the issue of public confidence. 

 So my question generally is, you know, 

what efforts is NB Power making to ensure that they have 

the public confidence, not only in the ongoing operations 

at the site, but for future operations and potentially 

future developments at the site? 

 MR. NOUWENS:  Jason Nouwens, for the 

record. 

 Thank you for that question. 

 As you know, community engagement is very 

important to us.  I will turn it over to Kathleen Duguay 

for some extra details on what we are doing from an 
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engagement point of view specifically for Point Lepreau, 

but, as you mentioned, SMRs are top of the EC in many 

inventions, so I think it would be appropriate to discuss a 

little bit about how we are engaging the public on any 

potential changes.  However, I do want to clarify that that 

is outside of our current application and it is only an 

initiative as a company that we are looking at, it is not 

an actual project at this time for SMRs and it is not 

within the scope of our licence application. 

 MEMBER KAGHEE:  No, I recognize that, but 

I think it would be helpful in the context of a confidence 

issue. 

 MR. NOUWENS:  Agreed.  Agreed. 

 So Kathleen, if you could provide some 

context on our engagement with the public on our future 

operations and any potential small modular reactor 

initiatives. 

 MS. DUGUAY:  Kathleen Duguay, for the 

record.  Thank you for the question and thank you, David, 

for bringing that up. 

 When we first started to speak about SMR a 

few years ago, three years ago now, we took the opportunity 

to bring the subject as part of ongoing discussions, as 

part of our community engagement piece, to start having 

that discussion.  And actually, David is a member of my 
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Community Relation Group for another station at NB Power 

and we brought a special guest to talk about what could a 

small modular reactor look like to get kind of a feel and 

an input to start having the conversation about it. 

 So in addition to that, there is a group 

of people now that has been formed whose focus is on 

community engagement, public engagement, public information 

and First Nation engagement, that is working parallel with 

me on that piece.  I introduced them to the group that are 

interested in the nuclear business as an introduction, 

okay, these are the folks that are going to be talking to 

you about SMR, and they also elevated their platform with 

other groups that are interested more in climate change and 

small modular reactors. 

 So we have some of the common folks that 

we are meeting with on a regular basis, but they also have 

reached out to groups that have expressed specific interest 

on the small modular reactor.  So it is really building on 

what we have and enhancing it with special interest.  And 

that works both ways, because they have reached out to a 

new group of people that I didn't have as part of my public 

information program that now I have to meet and include in 

my program.  So it is an ongoing involving process. 

 MEMBER KAHGEE:  Thank you for that. 

 Maybe a follow-up then to CNSC staff, a 
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little bit differently, just in reference to the concern 

about having confidence in the Commission and concern about 

being heard.  I'm just wondering if you can enlighten me a 

bit on what the CNSC's efforts are to engage with the 

public with respect to ongoing operations generally but 

also specific to the Point Lepreau site. 

 DR. VIKTOROV:  I will ask Heather Davis to 

talk about CNSC staff engagement with the local community 

public. 

 MS. DAVIS:  Good afternoon.  For the 

record, my name is Heather Davis and I am the Power Reactor 

Site Office Supervisor for Point Lepreau. 

 So we do do a number of engagement 

activities with both the public and Indigenous Nations. 

 We have held webinars leading up to 

licence renewal where we were asked questions on SMNRs in 

particular and we discussed how this licence application 

does not include an application for an SMNR. 

 We have also attended some open houses 

where members of the public could ask us questions on, you 

know, items of concern or questions about regulatory 

oversight at the stations. 

 We also hold Indigenous engagement 

meetings with various representative organizations where at 

length we have discussed SMNRs, in particular recent 
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meetings with regard to specific concerns such as the 

impact of SMNRs and environmental assessments. 

 We have had our specialists come to those 

meetings to discuss environmental assessments in particular 

and how those would be done for SMNRs and in particular 

vendor design reviews.  We have had our specialists come to 

also discuss what that looks like and the regulatory 

process for licensing of an SMNR. 

 We also have an abundance of information 

on our website that the public can consult and can reach 

out to CNSC staff, including our information line, for 

information at any time.  Thank you. 

 MEMBER KAHGEE:  Thank you. 

 So that is not just in isolation, it is 

not just specific to the application, but it is ongoing; 

correct? 

 MS. DAVIS:  Correct.  We do continuously 

engage with the public through various forums, as 

discussed, and going forward and through into the next 

licensing period we will continue that public and 

Indigenous engagement.  Thank you. 

 MEMBER KAHGEE:  And just while we are on 

the Indigenous engagement piece, there was reference in the 

intervention to a claim with respect to the Point Lepreau 

site.  Do we know what the status of that claim is? 
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 MR. LEVINE:  Adam Levine, for the record. 

 Yes, CNSC staff are aware of the different 

claims in the court process that are going forward.  There 

is one being brought forward by the Wolastoqey Nation in 

New Brunswick that does cover a large part of New Brunswick 

that does include the areas around the Point Lepreau site.  

However, this is an ongoing process with the courts and the 

land claim negotiation.  As mentioned, these processes do 

take a long time and if you look at other land claim 

negotiations, if you look at the Algonquins of Ontario 

process in Ontario, usually those types of land claim 

negotiations don't necessarily focus on transferring the 

specific already operated or private lands, et cetera, to 

other bodies like Indigenous Nations, but there is a 

process for identifying Crown lands to ensure that there is 

the proper reconciliation on that front.  But we are 

keeping a close eye on the process that is ongoing and it 

is very early days in those specific claims, but yes, we 

are aware of that. 

 MEMBER KAHGEE:  And it is fair to say that 

would inform your level of engagement with the Indigenous 

communities; correct? 

 MR. LEVINE:  Absolutely.  We are always 

wanting to make sure that we are keeping up to date with 

current obviously legal requirements and best practices, 
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but certainly we feel that the level of consultation and 

engagement that we already do, especially for anything new, 

like we are talking about SMNRs, would certainly rise to a 

level that is expected of today and meet the expectations 

put forth in the UNDRIP Act as well.  We certainly want to 

make sure that if there are changes in status in terms of 

land claim agreements, we are meeting those requirements as 

well. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Thank you. 

 Dr. Berube...? 

 MEMBER BERUBE:  Thank you, Mr. Thompson, 

for your presentation.  I have no questions. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Mr. Thompson, can you tell 

us a little bit about Leap4wards?  What is the scope of the 

activities of your group or is it mostly around nuclear 

facilities? 

 MR. D. THOMPSON:  I would say it's not 

mostly around nuclear facilities.  It's on a number of 

social and environmental issues, in some cases local, in 

other cases provincial, you know, even on a larger scale, 

but we are working to just make things better for the 

environment and better for people.  That's basically what 

we're doing. 

 We have looked at this nuclear thing 

because there's these uncertainties around it, all of the 
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matter of the question of the waste, and now with 

alternatives around, and particularly for some of the 

things that these promoters of the SMRs and NB Power and 

certain politicians are saying now, that this will help 

with climate change. 

 But, as you know, the UN Commission said 

very clearly we need to do something about climate change 

now, we can't wait for someone to build a prototype reactor 

that doesn't even exist, that they say they might be able 

to do in 10 years time, other people conclude it might take 

them 15 or 20 and maybe the costs will be, you know, much 

higher than wind power which we have the potential to put a 

plant in place in New Brunswick on a green field here in 

three years for about three or four cents a kilowatt hour.  

So we are looking at things that are practical and that 

don't require future fuel costs and don't require, you 

know, all these things. 

 People are saying emission-free nuclear.  

Well, what about the waste and spent fuel and tritium and 

all the other things which go into the water and the 

atmosphere, although in many cases or most cases within 

limits of what the current limits are?  Nevertheless, it's 

not emission-free, it's a lot of emissions, and it can't 

compete now with the wind and some of these other renewable 

technologies that are getting -- they are out there, they 
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are working today, they are not things we haven't got.  The 

only reason we don't have them in New Brunswick is they 

went ahead with this refurbishment of Lepreau, which we 

were told would be successful and it hasn't been. 

 I hear these people going around the 

province, and everyone else in this room has heard it, 

these people from NB Power and the promoters and some 

politicians saying well, we need it because the wind 

doesn't always blow and the sun doesn't always shine.  

Well, I will tell you one thing, I never saw a time when 

the wind didn't blow for 3 1/2 years and I remember when 

the Lepreau station was down for refurbishment for 3 1/2 

years, and I don't remember any time that the sun didn't 

shine for 2 1/2 months and the Lepreau reactor was down 

last year, 2021, for the highest consumption months in the 

province in January and February, didn't turn a wheel.  

There was lots of wind and sun if we had had the 

appropriate collection equipment in place to deliver it as 

electricity to people. 

 I am sick, sore and tired of having them 

and hearing them going around and repeat these things 

around the province and they know they have been already 

called out on it.  It has been -- you know, what I am 

bringing to your attention here right now has been brought 

to their attention, but they just repeat it like parrots. 
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 We can't move ahead with some speculation 

that some untested and untried and undeveloped -- just the 

reactor, that really it's not much more than a design 

concept at the current time, that it will work in New 

Brunswick and that it would do anything for climate change.  

We cannot diddle around with climate change for 10 more 

years. 

 I think to have these kind of people, it 

ruins their credibility, too.  I don't know how much 

credibility they have.  They spend a lot on public 

relations and you hear lots of -- I'm sure before these 

hearings are over -- praise of them, eulogies and all kinds 

of other things, but the fact of the matter is that we want 

truthful information and we have resources here where we 

can have emission-free energy and that's the way we need to 

move. 

 So thank you. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Thank you.  Thank you for 

appearing in front of us today, Mr. Thompson. 

 MR. SAUMURE:  I would just like to remind 

the intervenors appearing before the Commission that we 

have allocated 10 minutes for each oral presentation and I 

would appreciate your assistance in helping us to maintain 

that schedule.  Your detailed submission has already been 

read by the Members and will be duly considered and there 
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will be time for questions. 

 To help everyone in managing the time, a 

timer will be used.  The light will turn yellow when there 

is one minute left and turn red at the 10-minute mark.  

Thank you. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Thank you, Denis. 

 Okay, let's move to our next presentation, 

which is by the Atlantica Centre for Energy, as outlined in 

CMD 22-H2.125. 

 Ms. Michelle Robichaud, the floor is 

yours. 

 

CMD 22-H2.125 

Oral presentation by the 

Atlantica Centre for Energy 

 

 MS. ROBICHAUD:  Hello.  My name is 

Michelle Robichaud and I am the President of the Atlantica 

Centre for Energy. 

 Good afternoon, President Velshi and 

Members of the Commission.  Thank you for the opportunity 

to participate in this hearing for the New Brunswick Power 

to renew its operating licence for the Point Lepreau 

Nuclear Generating Station. 

 I would like to begin by recognizing the 
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professionalism of the CNSC Board, staff and the 

contributions of many intervenors, and in particular note 

the time and the effort that each of you have given to make 

your perspectives known. 

 I would also like to recognize the effort 

that representatives from Point Lepreau Nuclear Generating 

Station have made to demonstrate their commitment to safe 

operations and meeting the obligations for this 

application.  All of this work reinforces the integrity of 

the regulatory process. 

 The Atlantica Centre for Energy, based 

here in Saint John, is a community-based non-profit 

organization dedicated to exploring issues in the energy 

sector and assessing their impacts on the Atlantic Region.  

The Centre interacts regularly with a cross-section of the 

community and represents diverse perspectives, basically 

from the largest employers, energy producers, distributors 

and consumers in the Atlantic Region.  We take a balanced 

approach to energy development and the dissemination of 

fact-based energy information.  Our organization has expert 

knowledge with respect to the demand and supply of 

electricity in the Maritime provinces. 

 In our 17-year history we have 

commissioned and reviewed studies focusing on meeting the 

long-term electricity supply challenges in our region.  We 
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are providing the following comments in support of the 

application for New Brunswick Power Corporation to renew 

its operating licence for 25 years for the Point Lepreau 

Nuclear Generating facility, hereafter referred to as Point 

Lepreau.  I am a Saint John native and we only know it as 

Point Lepreau. 

 The Centre is interested in this licence 

renewal application because electricity produced at Point 

Lepreau is a critical piece of the baseload generation for 

New Brunswick residents as well as the commercial and 

industrial sectors.  Point Lepreau generates more than one 

third of the electricity in the province.  Without this 

stable power source produced at this facility, NB Power 

would fall short of meeting its demand for electricity.  

New Brunswickers, along with other Maritime provinces, rely 

on NB Power for reliable, affordable and consistent 

electricity, supported by a dependable baseload provided by 

Point Lepreau. 

 As New Brunswick moves towards Canada's 

emission reduction goals, the Point Lepreau Nuclear 

Generating Station provides a clean energy source while 

generating virtually no greenhouse gases in their 

operation. 

 As GHG-emitting facilities are removed 

from the grid, such as coal and other fossil-fuel-burning 



 

 

 

 

 

 
 

  

197 

operations, there is a real sense of unease about our 

energy future.  Based on the recent situation witnessed in 

Europe related to the war on Ukraine, reliance on external 

sources for energy has caused significant disruption.  The 

term “energy security” is now commonly used among 

policymakers, the energy sector and even the general 

public.  Recent policies published by the federal 

government state that coal must be removed from the 

electricity grid by 2030 and all electricity generated by 

utilities must be net zero by 2035. 

 In addition, by 2035 NB Power will need to 

produce even more electricity as federal regulations 

require all light duty vehicles be zero emission vehicles.  

It is more important now than ever to ensure New Brunswick 

has a long-term, stable supply of electricity such as that 

provided by Point Lepreau. 

 The Centre is acutely aware of the future 

challenges faced by NB Power to meet increasing demand for 

non-emitting electricity generation.  Energy producers 

recognize the importance of safe, clean, affordable and 

reliable energy, commonly referred to as the four tenets of 

energy.  The public rests its faith in government 

regulatory bodies and the industry to make absolutely 

certain that energy production delivery is safe. 

 With the transition to producing cleaner 
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energy, affordability will be increasingly important.  The 

Centre has heard the arguments against all forms of energy.  

Pipelines transmitting oil and gas, and in the future 

hydrogen, meet opposition when crossing provincial or 

international borders.  New hydro projects or 

refurbishments like the Mactaquac Dam are environmentally 

invasive.  Grid-scale winds and solar employ large swaths 

of land and dependability is an issue.  Oil and gas 

deposits are feverishly opposed to, even with efforts to 

reduce its carbon footprint. 

 All this to say nuclear's role in the New 

Brunswick energy mix will likely face criticism.  However, 

the role for nuclear is recognized on a broad scale, even 

as an important component of the federal government's 

recently released 2030 emissions reduction plan and further 

backed by significant investments outlined in the 2022 

federal budget. 

 In thinking about why NB Power has applied 

for a 25-year licence renewal period, we ask the Canadian 

Nuclear Safety Commission to consider the electricity 

supplied by Point Lepreau as critically important 

infrastructure not only as we tackle the challenges of net 

zero by 2050 but also because it provides vital energy 

security as baseload generation.  This in turn offers New 

Brunswick and neighbouring provinces stability and 
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dependability on the electricity grid.  Knowing with 

certainty that for the next 25 years Point Lepreau will 

help meet our province's targets for non-emitting power 

generation will allow investments in other infrastructure 

to replace and enhance aging assets for the electricity 

grid of the future. 

 We are fully aware and maintain that Point 

Lepreau must continue to meet safety standards and exceed 

them and engage meaningfully with community throughout this 

renewal licence period. 

 We would be remiss if we didn't emphasize 

the safety record of the plant.  NB Power has demonstrated 

its ability to protect the health and the safety of its 

employees, the communities that live nearby and in the 

interaction with the general public, as well as 

implementing extensive environmental protection measures.  

We are aware that safety measures and procedures change.  

New expectations are placed on the facility, to which Point 

Lepreau actively conforms. 

 Having recently toured the facility, I can 

personally attest to the safety precautions and safety 

first attitude of all the staff.  As guests of the 

facility, we experienced the many steps just to enter the 

property and tour the site.  We were briefed by security, 

monitored throughout the visit, and at one point specific 
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measures were pointed out to demonstrate that our presence 

in a particular area could not be accommodated to ensure 

staff focused on their task. 

 We saw firsthand how an employee showed 

extreme pride demonstrating how monitoring equipment 

functioned.  Furthermore, it is clear that staff take the 

utmost care in their work.  We saw this same extreme pride 

visibly demonstrated by a wall of pictures going into the 

reactor facility.  These pictures reminded staff why they 

work as safely as possible every day. 

 As a community-based organization, the 

Atlantica Centre for Energy acknowledges the commitment 

necessary for a facility such as Point Lepreau to earn the 

respect and trust of the public, in addition to its staff.  

Point Lepreau provides many and varied opportunities to 

interact with the community and consult on matters 

considered important to all of its stakeholders through 

regular public engagement efforts and its community-based 

approach to managing the facility. 

 I recently attended one of Point Lepreau's 

open houses and saw firsthand how Point Lepreau engages 

with the community. 

 We also appreciate the significant 

employment, skills development and the direct economic 

impact such as Point Lepreau facility.  As you have heard, 
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the facility employs highly trained staff, equivalent to 

2,700 direct and indirect full-time jobs in New Brunswick, 

including 900 employed directly at the facility. 

 For almost 40 years Point Lepreau has 

developed nuclear expertise in the province, including the 

safe and successful refurbishment of the Point Lepreau that 

they completed 10 years ago.  It should also continue to 

develop this skilled workforce for the transition to the 

future of nuclear energy technologies such as advanced 

small modular reactors.  We recognize that as NB Power 

continues to explore the potential of two SMR technologies 

for possible demonstration at the Point Lepreau site, 

although any future such developments will of course 

require separate licensing granted by the Commission. 

 Supporting the Canadian economy is an 

inherent value of the nuclear industry and Point Lepreau is 

no exception.  Eighty-five percent of spending by Point 

Lepreau flows directly into the New Brunswick economy.  

That is more than $645 million supporting local businesses, 

including goods and services, as key economic drivers in 

our province. 

 And of course safety at the facility is 

paramount.  It must continue to be and it is important to 

recognize the value of the facility as an incredible 

economic driver.  It is critical that current and future 
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staff, dependent businesses, surrounding communities and 

provincial ratepayers have the confidence in the continued 

operation for 25 years that this operating licence could 

help provide. 

 In conclusion, the Atlantica Centre for 

Energy urges the Commission to approve the 25-year licence 

renewal due to the critical need for safe, non-emitting, 

cost-effective and stable baseload electricity generated at 

Point Lepreau, which will enable energy security for our 

province during a time of significant transition and 

worldwide instability. 

 President Velshi and Members of the 

Commission, thank you for the opportunity to share my 

perspective. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Thank you for the 

presentation. 

 Mr. Kahgee, any questions? 

 MEMBER KAHGEE:  Thank you for your time 

and your presentation. 

 I have no questions, Madam Velshi. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Dr. Berube...? 

 MEMBER BERUBE:  Yes.  Thank you for your 

presentation. 

 Does your organization actually do any 

future modelling of electricity demand in the province? 
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 MS. ROBICHAUD:  We are actually looking at 

that specifically right now.  We are conducting a research 

project to try and understand what the future of 

electricity demand is going to look like.  And we also are 

working with another organization that does those modelling 

in particular. 

 MEMBER BERUBE:  And what does that energy 

mix look like at this point or is it too early to say? 

 MS. ROBICHAUD:  It's too early to say.  

We've just started the project.   

 MEMBER BERUBE:  Thank you. 

 MS. ROBICHAUD:  Thank you. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Dr. Demeter? 

 MEMBER DEMETER:  Thank you, Ms. Robichaud, 

for your presentation. 

 I'm just reading from your submitted 

document.  You said, 

  “A 25-year licence renewal will 

enable energy security for our 

province during a time of significant 

change and worldwide instability.” 

 And noting from CNSC staff's submissions 

that irrespective of the licence length, there's going to 

be regulatory compliance work done by them, so are you 

saying that a less than 25-year licence renewal will have 
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less energy security for the province?  And if so, what's 

the rationale for that? 

 MS. ROBICHAUD:  Thank you for your 

questions.  Michelle Robichaud, for the record. 

 I actually did not mean to imply that.  We 

are fully confident in the regulatory process that the CNSC 

has along with Point Lepreau's commitment to ensuring that 

they meet all regulatory environments, no matter what the 

licence renewal period is. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Thank you very much for 

your intervention and appearing in front of the Commission 

today, Ms. Robichaud. 

 We move to our next presentation, which is 

from Mr. Keith Miller, as outlined in CMD 22-H2.147.   

 Mr. Miller, over to you, please. 

 

CMD 22-H2.147 

Oral presentation from Keith Miller 

 

 MR. MILLER:  Yes, thank you, and welcome 

to Saint John.  It's a sunny day here for you. 

 Thank you for allowing me to present 

today.  I've made a written submission; however, I propose 

to talk a little in support of the licence application and 

to some areas of unease. 
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 Let me explain who I am.  I live locally 

in Rothesay.  I'm retired from full-time employment after 

working 46 years in the electricity industry and over 40 

years in nuclear, and now I consult.  I do not represent 

any organization.  I am speaking as a citizen of New 

Brunswick and as an individual. 

 Just to let you know who I am, I'm a 

second-generation nuclear engineer.  My father was engaged 

in the design and construction of the world's first 

commercial power reactors in the UK, in Italy, and in 

Japan.  He also was involved in the construction of the UK 

prototype fast reactor in Dounreay and through his career 

to the last AGRs.  

 As for me, I have worked inside the 

nuclear industry for most of my life.  I have worked inside 

of a reactor, constructing the nuclear core.  I have been a 

system engineer.  As you can appreciate from my accent, I 

worked in the UK.  In the UK, operating staff aren't 

licensed; they're called duly authorized persons, and I was 

duly authorized as a reactor control engineer, a fueling 

engineer, a control room supervisor, a shift manager, an 

emergency controller at two nuclear power stations.  And 

during my career, I have commissioned and set to work a new 

nuclear power plant. 

 Since joining NB Power in 1999 as plant 
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manager, I have worked as a senior strategic advisor and 

deputy chief nuclear officer.   

 So enough about me. 

 Let's talk about Point Lepreau Generating 

Station.  Having provided four decades of clean, 

emission-free electricity and about one third of the 

generation in province, after undergoing a comprehensive 

refurbishment, Point Lepreau restarted in 2012.  The scope 

of the refurbishment included additional safety 

enhancements following an integrated safety review -- the 

forerunner of the periodic safety review. 

 Within NB Power's integrated resource 

plan, PLNGS remains a key contributor to the NB Power 

energy mix.  PLNG -- Point Lepreau -- continues to make a 

pivotal contribution to achieving the greenhouse gas 

targets established by federal government. 

 Point Lepreau's a large employer in the 

region, with almost 900 direct highly trained employees and 

supports thousands of direct and indirect jobs.  NB Power 

has an envied reputation and is a good employer and 

attracts the best people. 

 Over the years, NB Power has sought to be 

open with the public about the benefits and risks of 

nuclear power, through the design and operation of the 

station through to emergency response plans.  The formal 
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communications are augmented by informal communications:  

with so many people employed at Point Lepreau, almost 

everyone knows a person who works or has worked at the 

station.  They all tend to speak highly of the standards 

and the safety culture. 

 Point Lepreau has an excellent safety 

record, achieving 2 million person hours without a lost 

time accident.  The safety record is achieved through with 

a culture of management and employees.  Management exhibits 

a commitment to safety, reliability, and safety culture.  

The training propagates safety.  Workers embrace and 

internalize safety in their daily activities, all with 

comprehensive support and leadership from the trade union 

IBEW37.  The excellent safety record is a measurement of 

achievement. 

 PLNGS is an integrated part of New 

Brunswick Power; the corporate organization services mesh 

with station management services.  Corporate organization 

management provides programmatic support, both physical and 

financial, to deliver success.  Continuous improvement is a 

foundation principle of the PLNGS management system.  The 

organization continues to monitor and embrace advances in 

research, best practices, and new regulations.  There are 

many examples of improved new processes, both with 

equipment and safety. 
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 Although the public and the media tend to 

focus on the issue of nuclear waste, I believe Point 

Lepreau and Canada has a good story.  Point Lepreau has 

very low volumes of waste and it is stored in a small 

interim protected site, housed in secure cannisters.   

 Decommissioning plans have been prepared 

and are routinely reviewed and updated.  Legislation exists 

to deal with used fuel and underpinned by the organization 

the Nuclear Waste Management Organization and through 

international best practice, and carefully researched plans 

exist for a deep geological repository.  Key to this plan 

is public engagement.  Lastly, the plans for 

decommissioning and ultimate disposal of used nuclear fuel 

are funded and reside in investment accounts overseen by 

the provincial government.   

 Whilst reviews tend to focus on the 

operation of Point Lepreau, we must not forget support and 

leadership provided by the executive and the board of NB 

Power as Point Lepreau is an integral part of New Brunswick 

Power.  Although some would conclude PLNGS enjoys strong 

leadership from the VP and CNO, we must remember there is 

depth in the executive ranks, that a number of the NB Power 

executives have experienced staff assignments at Point 

Lepreau during their careers.  The NB Power board of 

directors now has two experienced career nuclear 
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executives.  And they all take an active interest in Point 

Lepreau. 

 I believe that Point Lepreau is in safe 

hands. 

 I would like to talk about the balance and 

value for money.  I have a role as a director of community 

services for the Saint John Rotary Club.  Our focused 

strategy is to support teenagers at risk and isolated 

seniors.  We have raised money for many major projects, 

such as the Admiral Beatty Senior Complex, the Saint John 

Boys and Girls Club, the Teen Resource Centre.  As we 

engage and support local vulnerable sectors of society, it 

is apparent that finances are tight.  There is poverty in 

society and in Saint John. 

 It is therefore essential that electricity 

must remain reliable and affordable.  Over the years, it 

has become apparent that a dichotomy exists.  We must be 

cognizant of the costs and the impact of those who struggle 

to pay their bills.  Fortunately, over many years NB Power 

has managed to strive to achieve a balance for public good 

and high standards, whilst we must remember that NB Power 

provides the cheapest electricity residential rates in 

Atlantic Canada, the lowest of all provinces who do not 

enjoy abundant hydro.   

 As Commission members and staff reflect on 
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the request to extend the licensing period, the decision 

should reflect the regulatory landscape.  Over the years, 

the CNSC has developed comprehensive portfolio of 

regulations supported by CSA standards.  We should consider 

the added value and benefits against efforts and costs of 

licence preparations and hearings. 

 In comments at the day one hearing, we all 

have comfort in the scope of the CNSC regulations enforced 

and the CNSC staff recommendation of 20 years against the 

NB Power request for 25 years for a licence period.   

 My concern is not with the safety, but the 

longer licence period may be misinterpreted by the media 

and other anti-nuclear groups.   

 New Brunswick is a small province.  The 

city of Saint John is a small city.  Therefore, everyone 

knows someone who works at Point Lepreau.  Generally, 

citizens are comfortable with the operation of PLNG, Point 

Lepreau.  When Point Lepreau has public sessions, they tend 

to be attended by interested residents, and there aren't 

large crowds.  Point Lepreau makes information available on 

the Internet and on the web.   

 My wider concern is that longer licensing 

periods could promote an impression of lack of public 

engagement and accountability, which just isn't true. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Mr. Miller, can you please 
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wrap up?  You're well over your 10 minutes. 

 MR. MILLER:  Oh, sorry. 

 As we move forward towards SMR technology, 

public confidence in NB Power and CNSC must be sustained.  

 I'd just like to address just two points, 

if you could bear with me just quickly.   

 One is that I've been engaged with a cyber 

security company in the Stimson Centre, a non-profit.  The 

issues of cybersecurity are moving very, very quickly.  And 

in a report just in March 2022, four men from Russia have 

been charged with cyber attacks on energy facilities around 

the world including the Wolf Creek nuclear power plant.  

These things are -- the unsealed indictments are adding 

tension to the disputes between Washington and Moscow.   

 I would commend the CNSC on your work that 

you've done with the DIT team, the Disruptive and 

Innovative Technologies, and I would encourage you to keep 

a focus on cyber security.  It's moving very, very quickly. 

 Just as a last point, and I'll try and get 

through this quick.  It's on small modular reactors. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Well, maybe not, since 

that's not in the scope of this hearing, and we are really 

running late. 

 So thank you for the presentation, and 

I'll open it up for questions.  And we'll start with 
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Dr. Berube, please. 

 MEMBER BERUBE:  Yes, thank you for your 

presentation.  I mean, you have considerable nuclear 

experience, obviously, from your CV and your explanation to 

us of your background as well as your father's. 

 Have you in your career had the 

opportunity to actually tour PLNGS at any point in time?  

And if so, what were your impressions of the plant during 

that tour? 

 MR. MILLER:  I joined as Point Lepreau's 

plant manager in 1999 and I worked for NB Power until I 

retired about five years ago.  During that period, I saw 

great improvements, high standards, improved culture.  I 

would add, as a person who's been around a long time, it 

hasn't always been this great.  And it's a lot better today 

than it was 40 years ago. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Thank you. 

 Dr. Demeter? 

 MEMBER DEMETER:  Thank you for your 

presentation.  I don't have any questions, thank you. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Mr. Kahgee? 

 MEMBER KAHGEE:  Thank you very much for 

your presentation.   

 You started to segue into your rationale 

for a lengthier licence.  I'm just curious, given your 
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experience in working with the industry for so long, what 

advice or guidance can you offer the Commission in 

consideration of a 20- or 25-year licence? 

 MR. MILLER:  So two ways.  I believe the 

CNSC now has a comprehensive licensing arrangement.  You 

have things, periodic safety reviews.  So the practical 

reasons for having a licence renewal have been mitigated by 

progressions of the CNSC.  I'm saying it wasn't always like 

this.  It's changed.  I think you have pretty good 

regulations. 

 I've worked in other countries.  Other 

countries have, you know, longer licensing periods.  I 

believe that NB Power staff and the executive would operate 

the plant safely.  If there were any issues, CNSC has 

sufficient people at site, engagement reports to take any 

action if that is necessary. 

 Contrary to that is just the lack of 

public engagement.  We've heard a lot of discussion and 

passion today.  And we need to find a vehicle or a 

mechanism whereby that can be sustained whilst the plant 

can continue to plan and run long term, which I believe is 

good for the province, the economy, and society as a whole. 

 MEMBER KAHGEE:  Thank you. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Thank you very much for 

your intervention, Mr. Miller. 
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 We'll move to our next presentation, then, 

which is from Ms. Heather Chase, as outlined in CMD 

22-H2.143.  

 Ms. Chase, the floor is yours. 

 

CMD 22-H2.143 

Oral presentation by Heather Chase 

 

 MS. CHASE:  Good afternoon, President 

Velshi and Members of the Commission.  For the record, my 

name is Heather Chase and I'm appearing here today as a 

private citizen, not representing any particular group.  

And I'm also a resident of Blacks Harbour. 

 When the Point Lepreau Nuclear Generating 

Station was being built, I was a young student in Charlotte 

County.  Because of the protests and information that was 

being shared by those against the construction as well as 

nuclear power in general, I was not in favour of it being 

built in my backyard. 

 As I grew older, I decided that I needed 

to better understand the issues so that I was making 

decisions based on my own information, my own 

understanding, and with an open mind.  I decided to work at 

Point Lepreau as a summer student in the public relations 

department to learn as much as I could about the station, 
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nuclear power, and the various safety and environmental 

processes that were in place.   

 And that position actually gave me a very 

good overview of the facility as a non-scientific person, 

because we at the time gave tours of the facility, so we 

had to understand and be able to explain the process of 

nuclear power, how the systems operated, the oversight, the 

technical specifications, and the connection to the 

environmental processes.  So it was a very good learning 

opportunity. 

 After I learned all of this information, I 

also sought out other sources to ensure that I was not just 

hearing one side of the story.  It's important that we 

always take a balanced approach to learning.  And after 

researching and answering my own questions, I became a 

supporter of nuclear power and Point Lepreau. 

 In the many years since, I have kept in 

touch with the station as a resident because I live in the 

community as well as professionally. 

 During the exploration of the development 

of the Energy Hub concept, including a proposed Point 

Lepreau unit two, I was hired to manage the workforce 

development program that would develop a talent recruitment 

and retention program for all our energy projects within 

the hub as well as focus on community relations and 
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community supports.   

 During that time, I formed relationships 

with many key stakeholders for the projects, such as the 

trades unions, Atomic Energy of Canada Limited, New 

Brunswick Power, the World Association of Nuclear 

Operators, the University of New Brunswick, all three 

levels of government, the community, and others. 

 After one and a half years on this 

project, market conditions changed, and it was decided that 

not all of the projects would move forward so I left that 

position and returned to provincial work in community 

economic development. 

 I share this information with you not so 

you can see my work history, but to help you understand 

that I have been connected to the nuclear sector in one way 

or another for most of my life -- again, as a 

non-scientific person. 

 I have visited a few other stations around 

the world, attended WANO conferences, attended academic 

lectures, and have always tried to learn with an open mind.  

Some of this can be challenging for someone with my 

background, but I always like to keep learning. 

 I am also an active community volunteer in 

various poverty, community, and environmental NGOs, 

including a member of Point Lepreau Station's Community 
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Liaison Committee. 

 All of my work and volunteering has 

focused on bringing community to the table and creating an 

environment where community members feel empowered to lead.  

So I was very happy today to hear a lot of discussion 

around how the community can be engaged in the process. 

 As we look forward to the next phase of 

licensing for Point Lepreau, I feel it is very important 

that we revitalize the Community Liaison Committee and find 

new ways of engaging with our community, including our 

youth.  When I look around the table at our meetings, I 

know that some of us will not be here for the next phase of 

renewal, so it is very important that we focus on a model 

of renewed community engagement and welcome new voices to 

the table. 

 We need to focus on sustainability, 

relationships, and community ownership of the process for 

community engagement.  Our committee is in the process of 

establishing community-led focus groups to ensure that we 

understand the community's ever-evolving interest in the 

energy sector and other issues so that we can continue to 

learn and support their needs as they identify new 

priorities. 

 Some of the ideas that we have discussed 

to date include current members proactively consider who 
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may replace them on the committee from their respective 

community groups or sectors.  We want to ensure the 

continuity of voices at the table.   

 And prior to their departure, current 

members will provide mentorship to incoming members to 

ensure transfer of institutional and community knowledge.  

It can be very challenging to be a new member on a 

committee without that nice, warm hand-off, so a mentorship 

component there is very important. 

 We will also need to identify voices that 

are not included in the current process and see if and how 

they would like to be included.   

 The Point Lepreau Community Liaison 

Committee is the cornerstone of the public engagement 

program.  We need to ensure that committee and our 

community will continue to be actively engaged for the 

duration of the station's operating licence. 

 I appreciate the opportunity provided by 

the CNSC to hear from members of the community where we 

live and where the station is located.  I support the 

renewal of the Point Lepreau Nuclear Generating Station.  I 

look forward to working with NB Power to ensure that our 

local voices continue to be heard and included in the next 

evolution of the Community Liaison Committee.   

 Thank you for the opportunity to speak to 
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you today. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Thank you, Ms. Chase.   

 Let me start with Dr. Demeter with 

questions, please. 

 MEMBER DEMETER:  Thank you, Ms. Chase. 

 I want to thank you for the presentation.  

I want to just specifically talk about your role with the 

Point Lepreau Community Liaison Committee and whether 

issues related to risk perception and communication of 

trying to put risk into perspective -- if those kind of 

conversations happen at that kind of committee level, and 

if so, what's your experience? 

 MS. CHASE:  So, this table is a very open 

committee, and the staff at Point Lepreau share any issues 

that come up or any opportunities or any perceived issues 

that may come up.   

 So, we're typically proactively advised of 

potential issues, and they really take the time to explain 

to us what the impact may or may not be and how we can 

proceed moving forward.  So, there is that risk component 

in the discussions with everything.   

 I must say, I still remember the meeting 

where there was an oil leak from an oil pan of a half-tonne 

in the parking lot as part of their environmental 

oversight, and I'm sitting there thinking, “Wow, I'm glad 
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you're not at my house.”   

 So there is a very strong oversight for 

that type of information, and I will say that they are very 

interested in getting our advice on how we can communicate 

to the community.  We have a number of different voices at 

the table, and you can probably appreciate you have to 

communicate to different audiences with different voices, 

and that input and advice is sought and followed. 

 MEMBER DEMETER:  Thank you very much. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Mr. Kahgee. 

 MEMBER KAHGEE:  Thank you very much for 

your presentation.  Just one clarification before I ask a 

question.  In your submission, you reference your work with 

the Point Lepreau Liaison Committee and a need to 

revitalize a community relations committee.  Can you 

clarify the distinction between the two, specifically in 

terms of function and responsibility? 

 MS. CHASE:  It's actually the same 

committee -- 

 MEMBER KAHGEE:  Oh, okay, yeah.  When I 

was reading, I was like, “Wait a minute.” 

 MS. CHASE:  We have lots of committees.  

No, it's the same one.   

 MEMBER KAHGEE:  Oh, it's -- 

 MS. CHASE:  I apologize. 
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 MEMBER KAHGEE:  Okay, perfect.  That's 

helpful.  So, that's helpful for my next question then.   

 So, as someone who has worked in the 

industry, and more importantly as a member of the 

community, could you share for us your thoughts on NB 

Power's request for a 25-year licence, and perhaps what you 

think that might mean for the community more generally? 

 MS. CHASE:  I think that any time there is 

a change from the norm, that can cause concerns for the 

community at large, especially for those who aren’t always 

involved in these types of processes.  So I do think that 

there is some concern about the length of time that NB 

Power is asking for.   

 I know in general -- in my conversations, 

and professionally I work with community on a daily 

basis -- in general there is strong social licence for 

Point Lepreau, and I think that as long as there was a 

continued trust in the regulatory process with the CNSC and 

the oversight, that the extension of 25 years would be 

accepted.   

 I do think it's important, because some of 

the information that I've heard and some of the concerns 

that I've read online in social media, there is a concern 

that the public would be cut out of the process for 25 

years, and that's something that I know I personally would 
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never support.  It's always important that the public have 

their opportunity to voice any concerns and ask any 

questions.   

 So I think that, as long as there is that 

process ingrained through the regulatory process, as well 

as through the ongoing community engagement processes with 

NB Power, that that would alleviate some of those concerns. 

 MEMBER KAHGEE:  Thank you. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Dr. Berube. 

 MEMBER BERUBE:  Thank you for your 

presentation.  I have no questions. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  So let me ask NB Power 

about the recommendation for revitalization of the 

Community Liaison Committee, and I know in your 

presentation earlier today you did talk about succession 

planning, et cetera.  Is that the same thing you had in 

mind?  Maybe you can elaborate, please. 

 MR. NOUWENS:  Jason Nouwens, for the 

record.  I'll turn that directly over to Kathleen Duguay to 

explain what the future plans are for the Community Liaison 

Committee.    

 MS. DUGUAY:  Kathleen Duguay, for the 

record.                                 

 In preparation for licence renewal about a 

year ago, we knew that by asking for a 25-year licence we 
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had to be able to look ahead to see what is that going to 

look like in the future and how will the succession 

planning be put in place, starting with the Community 

Relation Group.  

 And one of our beliefs at NB Power is that 

we can take that on and lead it and know what good looks 

like and make it happen, but we wanted the community to 

lead it, and we wanted the community to go and have 

discussion with their respective community and then ask, 

what could the next involvement of this committee look like 

for the next 25 years?   

 So we started talking about that, bringing 

it up at the Community Relation Group, and in the fall 

we're going to regroup, and their assignment is to suggest 

a mentor, like a person they're going to be mentoring, and 

then we would be implementing that for the next two years 

so that the knowledge of the new person coming in and the 

knowledge of the person perhaps leaving is transferred and 

well understood. 

 So we want to see this be community-led.  

The landscape will change over the next few years, and we 

check and adjust on a regular basis anyway.  So, I'm 

looking forward to see what the committee is going to bring 

forward, and the membership in the committee is for them; 

it's not for us.  It's only an avenue for us to bring 
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information and for the community to bring information from 

their respective communities.  So really, we're like the 

bridge.  We're bringing information back and they're taking 

information back.  We wanted this to be community-led. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Maybe you can just 

elaborate on -- because one of the points that I heard Ms. 

Chase speak about, which is an excellent point, is bringing 

in new voices to this committee.  And if your primary mode 

of identifying new members is existing members finding a 

replacement, how are you actually finding these new voices? 

 MS. DUGUAY:  So, the community of 

Lepreau's landscape is changing with the recent development 

on the local service district growing the area to 

incorporate additional communities to it.  That means 

bringing new members.  Some of the members that are part of 

this committee are really involved in the community at 

large; so they're going to be bringing forward what some of 

those methods could be to bring forward new members. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  And on this committee 

would you have any Indigenous Nations and community 

members, or is that just handled separately? 

 MS. DUGUAY:  We have Austin, who is with 

me on the Community Relation Group as a community liaison 

person, and respectfully, we have our own meetings with our 

First Nation communities independently of this committee.  
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And I am present at both, so if there are any issues to be 

exchanged, an opportunity, we do that, but we also have 

opportunity where we have invited Austin to come and 

present to some groups within each respective community to 

bring that voice as well. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Thank you very much.   

 Ms. Chase, thank you very much for your 

intervention. 

 We'll move then to our next presentation, 

which is from Bruce Power, as outlined in CMD 22-H2.149, 

and Mr. Maury Burton is here to make the presentation.  Mr. 

Burton, over to you. 

 

CMD 22-H2.149 

Oral presentation by Bruce Power 

 

 MR. BURTON:  Thank you and good afternoon, 

President Velshi and Commissioners.   

 For the record, my name is Maury Burton, 

and I am the Chief Regulatory Officer for Bruce Power. 

 Today I am pleased to offer Bruce Power's 

support for New Brunswick Power's application to renew 

their operating licence for Point Lepreau Nuclear 

Generating Station for a term of 25 years. 

 In all, I could list many reasons for 
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support.  I'll narrow my comments down to two main points.  

One is the essential role Point Lepreau plays in Canada's 

climate change initiatives, and the second is Point 

Lepreau's long, proven history of safe operations and 

public engagement. 

 Let me start with climate change.  As 

Canadians, we all understand the need for long-term vision 

supported by immediate actions to minimize global warming's 

impact on our everyday lives.  Here in New Brunswick, the 

provincial government has already warned people that 

climate change will lead to warmer temperatures, more 

extreme and variable weather patterns, rising sea levels, 

increased runoff, flooding, and erosion.   

 To stem that unwanted tide, New Brunswick 

introduced its Transitioning to a Low-Carbon Economy 

Climate Change Action Plan in 2016 and has been making 

steady progress ever since.  And in March, the federal 

government released its 2030 Emissions Reduction Plan with 

an eight-year goal to reduce Canada's emissions to levels 

that are 45 percent below where they were in 2005.  

Ultimately, we want to achieve net zero emissions in 2050.   

 Those are big, ambitious goals, and if 

we're to hit them while still powering our economy, Canada 

will need reliable baseload energy from sources able to 

produce massive amounts of electricity with very low 
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emissions.  Hydroelectric and nuclear power fit that bill, 

and Point Lepreau, as Atlantic Canada's only nuclear 

generating station, is essential to that plan.   

 Every year the team at Point Lepreau 

safely and reliably produces enough electricity to power 

every third home, hospital, factory, and school in New 

Brunswick.  That's approximately 5 terawatts of energy per 

year, which is an enormous amount of electricity. 

 For context, one terawatt is enough to 

illuminate 10 billion 100-watt light bulbs at the same 

time, and five terawatt-hours of carbon-free electricity is 

equivalent to removing approximately 800,000 passenger 

vehicles from the road for a year and prevent more than 400 

million tonnes of greenhouse gas emissions from entering 

the environment. 

 Now in terms of the impact of climate 

change on station operations, as we heard earlier, this is 

something that is assessed on a regular basis through 

Probabilistic Safety Assessments that are updated every 

five years in accordance with the Operating Licence. This 

allows NB Power to properly assess any impacts of climate 

change on operations and take corrective actions, as 

required. 

 If their application is approved, I’m 

confident the Lepreau team will safely and reliably produce 
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carbon-free electricity throughout the 25-year term they 

are seeking. 

 I’m also confident they will keep the 

Commission and the community that surrounds and supports 

them continuously informed of their activities regardless 

of the length of the licence term, which leads me to my 

second point. 

 Our support of NB Power’s application is 

not solely based on the submissions made to the Commission 

during the licence renewal process, although they do tell a 

compelling story of Point Lepreau’s long history of safe 

operations. 

 It is also based on personal observations 

and interactions with Lepreau officials during my 25 years 

in the nuclear industry.  Over that time I have been 

fortunate enough to see my NB Power colleagues in all 

manners of settings.  At all times nuclear safety has been 

their top priority. 

 Their commitment to share information with 

their neighbours, Indigenous and community leaders has been 

unwavering.  That speaks to the safety culture at Point 

Lepreau, and I’m confident that that won’t change within a 

25-year licence term. 

 I know there are questions about that 

term, which is understandable.  Historically, Canadian 
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licences have been shorter in duration, even though longer 

terms are the norm in most international jurisdictions.  In 

many cases they are set for 40 years or life of facility 

elsewhere. 

 Still, this is new to Canada and some 

people have expressed concerns about the longer term 

limiting opportunities for meaningful public interactions 

and discussions around facility operations.  I personally 

do not share those concerns. 

 Over time NB Power has developed a highly 

effective Public Information Program that uses traditional 

methods like newsletters and web postings to complement the 

continuous conversations they have with stakeholders 

interested in their day-to-day activities. 

 As an industry peer, I know Lepreau’s 

Community Liaison Committee is active and effective and 

that in-person meetings are held regularly with key groups 

like Indigenous people whose traditional lands they share 

and the anglers who fish of the station’s coastline. 

 Even during the pandemic, NB Power stayed 

connected by using online technology to host virtual 

information sessions like the one they had just before 

Christmas to inform people about their licence application. 

 All of these corporate initiatives are in 

addition to the host of ongoing regulatory interactions NB 
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Power has with the CNSC and, in turn, the public.  This 

includes daily interactions with CNSC’s team of on-site 

inspectors, operational updates at all Commission meetings 

and annual events such as the Regulatory Oversight Report. 

 None of these touchpoints will be impacted 

by a 25-year licence term.  That’s why Bruce Power believes 

that NB Power is more than qualified to carry out the 

activities permitted in its operating licence and is well 

positioned to safely operate the Point Lepreau Nuclear 

Generating Station until the end of its operating life. 

 Thank you for your time today.  I look 

forward to any questions you may have. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Thank you, Mr. Burton. 

 Mr. Kahgee, let’s start with you. 

 MEMBER KAHGEE:  Thank you very much for 

your presentation.  It’s good to see someone from the home 

territory of Saukiing Anishinaabe Akiing.  You’ve come a 

long way.  I’m told we have very beautiful weather back in 

the territory.  I’m a bit surprised.  I thought you would 

be out on the links enjoying that. 

 Thank you very much for your presentation.  

Certainly I think it’s very much aligned with what CNSC 

staff have submitted and certainly NB Power. 

 Really for me, I guess the question would 

be:  What does a 25-year licence specifically mean to Bruce 
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Power? 

 MR. BURTON:  Maury Burton, for the record. 

 From my point of view, it really doesn’t 

change anything in what we do in terms of public 

interaction or interactions from a regulatory standpoint.  

What it does do is it allows us to possibly focus on other 

areas of concern for the public.  For example -- and no 

offence to certain people who look at management systems -- 

we don’t see a whole lot of interest in management systems 

at these hearings.  It allows us to actually maybe go and 

look at, in public proceedings with the Commission, things 

that are of interest to the intervenors, such as emergency 

preparedness, Indigenous relations, those types of subjects 

that we tend to see over and over again in these types of 

settings, and truly focus on those. 

 I think that was brought up this morning 

as well.  I think Mr. Elder mentioned it; that that would 

be a good option to take.  And I look at it as an 

innovation and moving forward in how the regulatory process 

works. 

 MEMBER KAHGEE:  Thank you. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Dr. Berube? 

 MEMBER BERUBE:  Yes.  Thank you for your 

intervention. 

 I’m going to extend that conversation to 
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CNSC. 

 The ask here is for a 25-year licensing 

period, which is new.  So if you could, go through the pros 

and cons of a short versus a longer-term licence.  Give us 

some tangible reasons for a long licence or a short licence 

and what, in your opinion, justifies either one. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Staff? 

 DR. VIKTOROV:  Yes, a moment.  I 

apologize.  I’m just trying to wrap my thoughts around 

this. 

 Regardless of the licence duration that 

the Commission may grant -- and again it’s with the 

Commission to decide the best solution -- on our side staff 

is confident we can provide regulatory oversight, make sure 

that safety requirements are complied with, as well as we 

fully appreciate the importance of being engaged with the 

public and the communities. 

 So from our perspective, there is no 

tremendous material impact from the licence duration on how 

we conduct our activities.  Our framework is flexible and 

comprehensive and will provide the expected confidence in 

meeting requirements, regardless. 

 However, there are some aspects of 

efficiencies.  We could spend the effort we dedicate to 

preparing the licence to actually conduct an inspection at 
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the power plants, and that may be of greater benefit to the 

safety as opposed to being engaged in writing CMDs. 

 We also work towards strengthening our 

regulatory framework exactly to be robust, reflective of 

the requirements and expectations of the science with 

expectation it will provide us with sound scientific 

fact-based confidence in our requirements. 

 So why not benefit from this effort that 

we put in perfecting our regulatory regime and then allow 

facilities, nuclear facilities and activities to have a 

longer licence period? 

 Historically in the past when the licence 

duration was pretty short, to a large extent it was due 

again to a lack in science or a lack in knowledge or 

confidence in experience in operating facilities.  So, we 

have benefited from all this, and we are trying to put 

forward an argument that on this foundation it makes sense 

to allow a longer licence duration and benefit from this. 

 There will always be off-ramps.  We can 

return to the question of licence duration or licence 

commitments should anything unplanned occur.  So from this 

perspective again, we are confident that we can recommend 

to the Commission longer licence durations at this time. 

 MEMBER BERUBE:  So let’s just go down that 

path a bit, because this is obviously a linchpin in this. 
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 You are recommending a 20-year licensing 

period.  They have asked for 25.  There’s incremental risk 

associated with a longer licensing period in some aspects. 

 How have you accounted for that in your 

analysis and how are you contributing to mitigate those 

extended risks that are associated with the longer 

licensing period? 

 DR. VIKTOROV:  Alex Viktorov, for the 

record. 

 I will start and then I will ask my team 

members to contribute, because again that was a team effort 

to come up with the recommendations. 

 I will respectfully say I personally don’t 

think there is an incremental risk, and we are fully 

confident that we will deliver on our mandate regardless of 

the licence duration. 

 I will ask Anu Bulkan to share her views 

and conclusions. 

 MS. BULKAN:  Anu Bulkan, for the record. 

 CNSC staff certainly acknowledge that it 

is possible to go beyond the 20-year recommendation that 

we’ve made, and there is operating experience within the 

industry that shows that there are reassessments done to 

the operating life. 

 However, based on our assessments, we 
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haven’t seen any updated analysis that demonstrates that 

New Brunswick Power can go beyond that operating life at 

this time. 

 That’s not to say that the licence period 

necessarily prevents New Brunswick Power from doing those 

assessments throughout whatever duration the Commission 

decides on.  However, based on the information available to 

us today, including the PSRs that were done, we are working 

on the available information that says the operating life 

is up to 30 years. 

 MEMBER BERUBE:  I’m trying to understand 

here.  Maybe you can help me. 

 So you are saying you don’t believe there 

is an additional risk to a 20-year licence versus a 10-year 

licence, at least in the safety case. 

 Is that correct? 

 DR. VIKTOROV: Alex Viktorov. 

 Yes, that’s correct. 

 MEMBER BERUBE:  And from the environmental 

risk side and from the human health side of the house, is 

that also true? 

 DR. VIKTOROV:  Alex Viktorov, for the 

record. 

 As you are aware, there are many ongoing 

processes.  The safety reviews are conducted every ten 
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years regardless of the licence duration.  Safety Analysis 

Reports, Periodic Probabilistic Safety Assessments and 

environmental studies are updated on a five-year frequency.  

Many activities are also revised annually. 

 So regardless of the licence duration, we 

will be getting information continuously.  We will not be 

waiting for the next licence period to update 

safety-relevant information. 

 With regards to environmental health 

impacts, we are continuously getting information through 

information provided by the licensee, as well as 

information that we collect in inspections or assessments 

ourselves. 

 Again, this allows me to assert that we 

have sufficient means at our disposal to continuously 

verify the impacts on health and safety of persons or the 

environment are continuously monitored, evaluated and 

assessed. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Maybe the first part of 

Dr. Berube’s question on sort of the pros and cons of a 

shorter licence term or a longer licence term, you have 

given the arguments for a longer licence term: one, that 

there is no increased risk and that oversight will be just 

as robust, and there are efficiencies and those resources 

could be spent more optimally. 
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 But there are some downsides, are there 

not?  We’ve already heard from some of the intervenors, not 

necessarily increased risk but certainly public 

participation in a process like this. 

 I understand there is licensing and then 

there is a public process and the two don’t necessarily 

have to be twinned.  But that is a downside of a longer 

licence term, given the way we do business right now. 

 So can you expand on that?  And how can 

that be mitigated, if it can? 

 DR. VIKTOROV:  Alex Viktorov, for the 

record. 

 I will offer you my perspective and then 

Mr. Peter Elder, our Vice-President, will share his 

perspective as well. 

 From my point of view, we already have 

probably the golden standard of public engagement among the 

international peers.  From our benchmarking we are not 

aware of any other jurisdiction that has as strong public 

engagement as Canada, with as many opportunities for the 

public to participate in the regulatory process. 

 From this point of view, ten years is also 

a long time.  We really should be looking for more ongoing 

and continuous opportunities for the public to be engaged.  

Twenty years or 25 is long, but ten years is also long.  We 
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are in fact promoting the point of view that there are 

currently more opportunities for staff to be engaged more 

frequently at that. 

 I will leave it at this and I will pass 

the mic to Peter. 

 MR. ELDER:  Thank you. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Mr. Elder, as you respond, 

it is not just staff engagement, it’s Commission’s 

engagement to get your perspective on. 

 MR. ELDER:  Yes.  I’ll start, because 

there was a question that I’m not sure we fully answered.  

So just 30 seconds on we’re talking about five-year versus 

ten-year versus twenty, but we’ve heard recommendations 

today on three years. 

 Having done this for a very long time and 

lived through the two-year licence period time, you would 

not see in a two-year licence what we have today in terms 

of the time to actually do update of our Environmental 

Protection Report, a thorough analysis, the Safety Analysis 

Report.  We put everything on at least a minimum five-year 

basis.  So anything less than five years, you’re going to 

feel like you are getting incomplete information. 

 I’ve lived through that and really that’s 

how you feel at that point.  And also, you are not actually 

able to measure progress and change very well. 
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 In terms of -- and we recognize this is a 

big change that would happen at the Commission.  Because we 

started with this two-year licence period, there has been a 

strong correlation in Canada between public engagement and 

public interaction with the Commission and licence 

renewals.  They happen so often that there really wasn’t 

any time to do any type of interactions. 

 What we’re looking at is really, as I said 

earlier, looking at a more strategic interaction with the 

Commission and the public rather than a periodic look at 

everything.  And where we see opportunities -- and again 

this is a dialogue that has to happen between the public, 

the staff and the Commission, because the Commission 

actually plays a role in deciding how it wants to use its 

powers at public meetings. 

 I’ll give you a couple of examples that 

recently, I think, illustrate where the Commission has used 

those powers. 

 On the pressure tube situation, this came 

up at Bruce Power and its other stations completely out of 

cycle with any licence renewal.  The Commission not only 

did its regulatory job of making regulatory decisions 

through hearings but also decided it was going to have a 

public session to explore that topic in more depth. 

 So with a longer licence there would be 
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more opportunities to do that type of thing, compared to 

what you have right now is a very busy hearing schedule for 

licence renewals. 

 There are other examples where we’ve 

looked at what are the significant discussions.  When I go 

back to think of what I think of as the most significant 

discussions I’ve had in front of the Commission, they are 

often not related to licence renewals. 

 The ones that come most to mind to me is 

the NRU vessel leak.  We had a series of meetings, some 

with interventions, some without, but over about an 

18-month period of time, that then allowed an in-depth 

discussion around that particular issue.  And again 

intervention was allowed. 

 The other one was even going back further.  

There was a chemical at Port Hope -- a conversion facility 

had significant leakage from their sump system into the 

groundwater and contamination outside or beyond the plant. 

 Again, that led to a series of public 

hearings that actually is the root of our modern 

Environmental Risk Assessments, came out of the work that 

was done around that issue. 

 So, when we look at this one and saying 

what the opportunities are will be different than just the 

periodic review, but from history there will be 
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opportunities to dig into these issues. 

 Especially for power reactors.  There’s a 

monthly status report.  The Commission knows you can take 

any item in that status report and say I would like further 

information on that one and, if warranted, that can go to 

then public intervention. 

 To give a current example where you may 

want to go there eventually, because it came up, was around 

there are certain items -- like there’s a potassium iodine 

working group around Pickering that came out from -- well, 

it came out from a hearing.  The Commission has been able 

to track it, have updates on it throughout over a number of 

years after that hearing. 

 So we think that between the status report 

will give you accurate and quick information on events, 

plus the Regulatory Oversight Reports that come on an 

annual basis, and again we are in the process of having a 

discussion with the Commission about what would they like 

to see in those reports going forward, because we would 

like to put as much of the routine information on, in terms 

of put in the public domain, not just in an annual report, 

but as often as possible. 

 That is also a chance for the Commission 

and staff to have the dialogue of what goes into those 

reports and where they can tangentially dig more into 
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topical issues. 

 The last thing is Dr. Viktorov mentioned 

effectiveness.  It really is a question of -- as staff, you 

get a licence application and we are being reactive.  We 

must deal with that application.  It’s statutory.  We have 

to go through it and go back in.  It doesn’t matter if we 

think it’s a low-risk facility or a high-risk facility, we 

have obligation to go through that application thoroughly.  

We do it and take it very seriously. 

 With a longer licence, actually we are 

allowed to be more proactive and to dig into and are more 

risk informed on what we choose to use our staff time for.  

So, we think there is actually a regulatory effectiveness 

benefit.  We recognize that that dialogue with the public 

and the Indigenous Nations and communities must occur, and 

there is work that will need to be done on those ones.  We 

are committed to those ones.  We want to move forward. 

 You have heard Adam Levine talk about this 

one, about how we want to move forward with those 

communities. 

 And what we’re finding is it’s much more 

the informal discussions than the formal discussions.  But 

we’ll have that dialogue about how often and how do they 

bring issues up to the formal level, if they feel they need 

to. 
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 It doesn’t have to be -- what I’m going to 

say is it doesn’t have to be through a renewal.  You have 

other mechanisms to bring those up. 

 I think, to quote Mr. Jammal, who’s not 

here, he often talks about staff, our inspectors have 

awesome powers.  The Commission also has awesome powers to 

actually dig and have public hearings or public meetings on 

any issue it feels is worthy under the Act. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Thank you very much for 

that. 

 Dr. Demeter. 

 MEMBER DEMETER:  Thank you, Mr. Burton. 

 I think I’ll change track a bit.  We’ll 

still talk about length of licence, but we’ve got the 

ongoing compliance, PSAs, financial guarantees, oversight 

by the Commission and public. 

 The other thing I want to talk about from 

an industry point of view:  Is there a downside -- normal 

strategic planning cycles, normal leadership cycles, you 

know, is there much difference between a 20-year or a 

10-year licence for your routine strategic planning cycles? 

 What’s the downside from an industry point 

of view? 

 MR. BURTON:  Maury Burton, for the record. 

 I can be quite honest with the Commission 
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and let you know from Bruce Power’s point of view, we’ve 

actually got all our outages and maintenance planned right 

out to the end of life of our facility through our Asset 

Management Plan.  I know the other facilities are following 

a similar track. 

 So, from a planning point of view, the 

only difference will be when we come to the Commission 

because everything else is already set in stone 

essentially.  Our PSA updates, our PSR updates, those are 

all planned right out to end of life. 

 So from a planning point of view in 

regular work and ongoing regulatory work, it’s not going to 

impact us.  It’s really just how many times we come in 

front of the Commission for a holistic view of the licence. 

 From my point of view, the short licence 

terms, if we went with a three-year term, for example, 

Lepreau would be right back into a licence renewal cycle as 

soon as they got their licence.  And that’s just not a good 

thing from an overall operational focus point of view. 

 That’s what we look at.  It allows us to 

be more operationally focused and do the things that -- and 

one thing I will note is that all of the units within 

Canada are operating at a level that I haven’t seen in my 

25 years. 

 For example, we just shut down Bruce A for 
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its vacuum building outage, and for the first time I’ve 

ever seen at our station we had two units over 500 days of 

continuous operation.  That was unheard of 20 years ago. 

 The fact that we have the maintenance 

programs and everything else working to the level that they 

need to be is partly, I believe, due to longer licences.  

We aren’t in these two-year terms where we’re constantly in 

a churn, where we can focus on our operational needs. 

 MEMBER DEMETER:  Thank you for your 

response. 

 If every three years you’re almost like 

back into the cycle right away, but if you’re preparing to 

appear before the Commission and all that work that 

entails -- and I appreciate all the work from staff and 

intervenors and the licensee -- doing that once every 

decade or once every two decades is quite different than 

doing it once every three years.  Okay, thank you. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Well, thank you very much, 

Mr. Burton, for your submission.  Your intervention was 

greatly appreciated. 

 We will take a break now and resume at 

4:30 p.m.  Thank you. 

 

--- Upon recessing at 4:15 p.m. / 

    Suspension à 16 h 15 
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--- Upon resuming at 4:30 p.m. /  

    Reprise à 16 h 30  

 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Okay, if you can please 

take your seats.  We’re ready to start with our next 

presentation which is from the organization of Canadian 

Nuclear Industries, as outlined in CMD 22-H2.150. 

 Mr. Fehrenbach will be making the 

presentation remotely. Mr. Fehrenbach, over to you. 

 

CMD 22-H2.150 

Oral presentation by the 

Organization of Canadian Nuclear Industries 

 

 MR. FEHRENBACH:  Thank you.  Good 

afternoon.  My name is Brian Fehrenbach, and I appreciate 

the opportunity to be here today in support of the licence 

renewal application for the Point Lepreau Nuclear 

Generating Station. 

 I’m speaking both from the organization of 

Canadian Nuclear Industries, which is my professional role, 

and also as a life-long advocate of nuclear energy.  I 

grew-up in Deep River, Ontario, as my father worked for 

Atomic Energy of Canada in the Chalk River Nuclear 

Laboratories.   
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 So I grew-up with the benefit of the 

knowledge and experience that comes from working next to a 

world class science and research facility, as well as 

understanding the benefits of nuclear energy.  I understood 

the safety standards and the operating principles that were 

in place that allowed me to also enjoy the river and the 

wildlife and the community.  And it’s no different than New 

Brunswick Power in the way that they operate Point Lepreau 

Generating Station. 

 Twenty years ago I joined the nuclear 

industry professionally when I started working for Atomic 

Energy of Canada Limited, stayed on for a while with CANDU 

Energy where my relationship with Point Lepreau was one of 

collaboration, and we worked together to help bring some of 

the knowledge that Point Lepreau had generated to the other 

CANDU six stations around the world. 

 This is an example of one of the things 

that makes the nuclear operators in Canada, including New 

Brunswick Power, such world class institutions.  In that no 

matter how well they’re operating or what kind of ranking 

they get, they’re continually collaborating and 

benchmarking against others in order to improve and take 

advantage of the latest upgrades and safety technologies. 

 Now with the organization of Canadian 

Nuclear Industries my relationship with Point Lepreau is 
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one of a support and open to generate a thriving nuclear 

industry across Canada and around the world.  We’re working 

with Point Lepreau in several programs ranging from 

economic development in New Brunswick to Indigenous 

engagement. 

 Many people already today have spoken 

about the economic benefits or the details of Point 

Lepreau’s excellent operating record.  And so I’ll 

abbreviate some of that from what I wanted to say today and 

I’ll read the letter that I submitted in my application. 

 Point Lepreau Nuclear Generating Station 

generates safe, clean electricity for the people of New 

Brunswick for close to four decades, 

and today supplies more than one third of the electricity 

used in the province. The comprehensive refurbishment of 

the station’s major components, completed in 2012, means it 

will be a key contributor to the province’s clean energy 

mix well into the future. 

 We’ve already established the economic 

benefits that it brings and the number of direct and 

indirect jobs.  This is an investment that’s set-up to 

produce clean electricity through the entire period of the 

licence that’s under consideration today.  And, in my 

opinion, it makes perfect sense to take advantage of that. 

 As jurisdictions around the world move to 
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produce cleaner energy and reduce carbon emissions it is 

important to continue to utilize one of New Brunswick’s 

best assets at producing clean energy through this license 

renewal. 

 CANDU reactors have an excellent safety 

record, and Point Lepreau Nuclear Generating Station is a 

recognized leader in workplace safety.  I’ve worked with 

their managers in opportunities around the world where 

through other organizations, such as WANO, they bring their 

expertise to a station to help that station understand 

where its performance could improve and, similarly, they 

host these events at Point Lepreau. 

 And this, through the collaboration and 

the benchmarking in the global industry just ensures that 

our stations are operating to a world class level. 

 In preparation for requesting this Point 

Lepreau Operating License Renewal, NB Power undertook 

extensive studies, assessments, and consultations with 

Indigenous communities and stakeholders to complete the 

site evaluation studies and conducted an Environmental Risk 

Statement (ERS). These studies concluded that the station 

is suitable for the continued and long-term safe operation 

of the station through 

a 25-year licensing term which, as mentioned, approximately 

coincides with the expected operational life of the unit. 
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 CANDU reactors in Canada operate partly 

through the social licence that they earn from their host 

communities through their engagement, their openness and 

their good stewardship of the land.  Point Lepreau has 

demonstrated an ongoing proven commitment to ensuring 

strong engagement with communities, including a 

comprehensive public information program. 

 New Brunswick Power’s demonstrated 

commitment to openness and transparency with the public is 

an important and valued component of its 

operations, and in line with the expectations of the 

residents of New Brunswick and the Canadian Nuclear Safety 

Commission.   

 For example, public forums such as the 

annual Regulatory Oversight Report which includes public 

participation, along with routine status report updates on 

power reactors, help to ensure continuous reviews of the 

station’s performance. 

 For all of the reasons that I’ve outlined 

today; for the benefits to the Canadian nuclear supply 

chain, to the residents in New Brunswick, to everybody that 

wants clean energy for the future in Canada, we very much 

look forward to Point Lepreau Nuclear Generating Station 

remaining the active and collaborative nuclear utility that 

it has been for so long, setting a standard for nuclear 
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operations in the province through this renewal of its 

operating licence. 

 For these reasons, and supported by New 

Brunswick Power’s excellent track record of safe nuclear 

operations, concern for the environment and commitment to 

community and Indigenous engagement the organization of 

Canadian Nuclear Industries strongly supports New Brunswick 

Power’s application to renew the power reactor operating 

licence for the Point Lepreau Nuclear Generating Station. 

 Thank you. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Thank you, Mr. Fehrenbach. 

 Let’s start with Dr. Berube please. 

 MEMBER BERUBE:  Thank you for your 

presentation.  I have no questions. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Thank you.  Dr. Demeter. 

 MEMBER DEMETER:  Thank you for the 

presentation.  I have no questions either. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Mr. Kahgee? 

 MEMBER KAHGEE:  Thank you for your 

presentation.  I have no questions either.  Thank you. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Okay.  Mr. Fehrenbach, 

thank you for your submission and we appreciate you 

appearing in front of us. 

 We’ll now move to our next presentation 

from Ms. Kelly Newman, as outlined in CMD 22-H2.186. 
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 Ms. Newman, the floor is yours. 

 

CMD 22-H2.186 

Oral presentation by Kelly Newman 

 

 MS. NEWMAN:  Thank you.  I will make this 

very brief.  So I am here on my own, just an individual 

citizen.  I am with no lobby groups, I’m just concerned. 

 I’m concerned about the industry, I’m 

concerned about the industry’s hands when it’s here in New 

Brunswick, when it’s operated by our government and New 

Brunswick Power.  I don’t have confidence.   

 The most confidence I’ve seen in the 

industry right now is with the Board in front of me and the 

questions you’ve asked the people around me.  That has 

built more confidence than I’ve had in this industry since 

I was first involved back in about 2008, when our province 

was -- they were pursuing nuclear, they were pursuing 

fracking, and they were pursuing all kinds of things 

without proper, forgive me I’m losing my words, 

consultation from the public. 

 I wrote many letters.  I had a premier 

send RCMP officers to my door as an intimidation -- yeah, 

just as intimidation for writing letters, saying I was 

threatening him, and this was in 2008.  And then when he 
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left office after the one term he was in, the government 

changed hands and so far... 

 But I was not impressed and I’m still not 

impressed.  It’s left a bad taste.  I’ve had over the last 

three years of recovering from a concussion ,which is why 

Ms. Murphy is here with me, just so I don’t lose track or 

take up too much time.   

 Again, the provincial government here in 

New Brunswick seems to have some pretty dysfunctional way 

of implementing templates that are supposed to help people, 

that are supposed to look out for the vulnerable people.   

 And so I don’t have confidence on all 

sorts of levels from personal dealings with individuals 

around me. 

 When it comes to this in particular, I do 

think that all the excess of nuclear waste and things 

accumulating over time, it is going to have an exponential 

effect on all of life and not just human life, not just 

botanical life, but again with the communities.  I am very 

big on building communities, it’s very important to me, and 

I don’t see this implementation being good for communities. 

 I hear a lot of people that do support the 

industry, and maybe it can be done safely in some places, 

I’m again not confident here and I’m just not confident in 

a lot of ways with that.  
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 I think that a lot of employees support it 

just because they are -- it’s feeding them; you don’t bite 

the hand that feeds you, most  times.  And communities like 

that don’t have a lot of other resources.  But if there was 

another power source there or another industry, these 

people would probably support those industries as much as 

they would support the nuclear industry.  Because they’re 

supporting their families having homes and having food on 

their table.  Food security, I think we should hear more 

mention of than just energy security too. 

 So I feel like a lot of the things that 

would go -- be exponentially impacted, they’re already 

ignored at this level.  So with a 20-25 year extension, I 

don’t think that it’s going to get better.  I understand a 

three-year extension might seen a little low and that, but 

five maybe, maybe decommission?  Like, there’s other 

elements that we could go through, I just -- I don’t -- I’m 

very concerned about that. 

 I’m concerned about all this talk about 

small modular nuclear reactors, which are not supposed to 

be even on this, but they seem to be.  And the reality is 

that over 25 years when we have local governance already 

putting out ads for people to come work in the new nuclear 

industry, you can be sure it’s part of upcoming intentions.  

It’s going to have more waste.  There’s going to be new 
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dangerous situations. 

 I mean, as of April 8th ARC was only in 

still the creative drawings of what these facilities would 

look like.  This is very much a nuclear experiment going 

forward with the SMNRs.  And to a certain degree, because I 

have the lack of confidence again in my government and the 

industry here in New Brunswick, I think those concerns 

should be there with or without the SMNRs. 

 I have lots of family in south-western New 

Brunswick.  Except for six months of my life, I’ve always 

lived in this area of the province.  I don’t want to live 

in the area if this goes forward.  I will take myself and I 

will take my business, I will take any endeavors I’m 

starting, all the community engagement and bettering that 

I’d like to do, and I will go elsewhere. 

 I don’t trust it.  We can’t afford the 

lawsuits as a province and the aftermath of what would 

happen if things go wrong.  And I believe  -- I think the 

potential for error is too great and the potential with 

error it’s just -- it's -- I’m very concerned. 

 So my last point is that we cannot  eat 

money.  I know I hear a lot of people and the silver 

tongues and the golden provinces, and those are very 

familiar territories here in New Brunswick, but we cannot 

eat money.  And the mistakes in this industry we’ll leave 
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to the rea,  not being able to even grow food and feed 

themselves.  And I just don’t think the compromise to food 

security, I don’t think our province can handle that. 

 So I’ll stop there.  Thank you.  

 THE PRESIDENT:  Thank you, Ms. Newman.  

I’ll open the floor for questions.  And we’ll start with 

Dr. Demeter please. 

 MEMBER DEMETER:  Thank you, Ms. Newman for 

sharing with us, it’s important for us to hear that. 

 And although the policy decisions and 

financing are not within our scope, there is -- there are 

quite a number of intervenors that talk about concerns with 

their perception of cost  overruns and extended deadlines 

for the refurbishment, for example. 

 And when that does become part of our 

agenda is when that impacts on the confidence of the public 

on the operations relative to cost overruns and... 

 So maybe, sorry to put Point Lepreau on 

the spot a bit, how do you deal with the public reaction to 

media, headlines of cost overruns, and perhaps not meeting 

project deadlines as you would have wanted or planned, and 

dealing with the public confidence in your operations and 

safety, in that kind of situation during your 

refurbishment? 

 MR. NOUWENS:  Jason Nouwens, for the 
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record.  That is a complicated question, but I will try to 

hit a few highlights.   

 You know, the refurbishment project 

obviously did go a little bit longer and we have had some 

challenges on some of our planned outages.  But I really 

want to tie back to the reasons why we’ve had the overruns.  

It comes back to quality and our diligence to making sure 

that any outage or maintenance activity or projects that we 

undertake quality is number one.  Because we need to ensure 

that the safety is there. 

 So if a project takes longer than we 

anticipate, we will make sure that safety’s number one and 

that we’re putting quality in so that when that job is 

complete the quality is there to make sure it’s safe.  

Right?   

 So sometimes that does come with overruns 

and, as you mentioned, refurbishment a sort of 

first-of-a-kind project for us, that definitely had some 

learnings in it and some challenges with respect to 

quality, particularly insulation of the calandria tubes. 

 However, by making safety number one in 

all of our priority decisions that sometimes comes at the 

expense, as you mentioned, of scheduling costs.  But by 

building quality in there, we can ensure that over the 

long-term we are running a reliable station that is always 
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safe for the public and for the employees. 

 And maybe I’ll just elaborate, that 

answer’s not always easy for people to hear, that 

refurbishment was over by so many millions or, you know, or 

that outage extension was a week or two longer than we 

wanted to be, and how many millions that costs us, right?  

A financial thing can be a concern to people.   

 But if you think about the cost of the 

extra quality that we’re building into Point Lepreau versus 

the long-term operation and the day after day high output 

that we have by achieving that quality, it’s worth it in 

the long run to have those expenses.  Even though from a 

dollar point of view some people are concerned about it. 

 MEMBER DEMETER:  And to follow that with 

Staff, knowing that this is steeped in the weeds of details 

of what caused the cost overruns and...  But did you have 

any concerns relative to project management skills relative 

to the refurbishment that were not related to 

understandable causes that would project into future 

project management? 

 DR. VIKTOROV:  Alex Viktorov, for the 

record.  When Point Lepreau undertook refurbishment it was 

the first ever exercise of this kind in Canada and, in 

fact, worldwide.  Despite their careful planning there was 

some issues encountered when the reactor assembly was put 
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together.   

 And Point Lepreau and New Brunswick Power 

took the right decision to step back, take  time, and 

figure out the reasons for this and fix it fundamentally.  

Like, to approach with a safety perspective upfront.  So 

the decision was probably difficult and costly, but from 

the safety perspective if was absolutely the right 

decision. 

 With regards to the project management 

skills, that’s not really a specific area that CNSC Staff 

examines.  But the management system as well as human 

performance and organizational performance, that’s within 

our mandate and CNSC Staff does follow through process and 

the management system as well as organizational factors, 

and we do spend a lot of time on those areas even though 

they may not be visible in a discussion like this. 

 There’s always things to learn and build, 

and considerations such as safety culture comes from 

operational experience and responsibility of different 

layers of the organization in delivering and assuring 

safety that comes from these discussions. 

 So again, there’s always something to 

learn and improve, but CNSC Staff is overall satisfied and 

we report on our findings to the Commission annually. 

 MEMBER DEMETER:  Thank you. 
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 THE PRESIDENT:  Thank you.  Mr. Kahgee. 

 MEMBER KAHGEE:  Thank you for your 

submission and for sharing your voice with us today.  I 

have no questions.  Thank you. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Dr. Berube. 

 MEMBER BERUBE:  Well, I want to thank you 

for coming to speak before us and having the courage to do 

that.  It takes a lot to sit up there and share your views, 

especially when you know they wouldn’t be well received by 

some people in the room.  So it takes quite a bit of 

courage to do that, I appreciate that. 

 We need to hear from people like you about 

how you feel about things and what decisions and how they 

impact your life.  So that’s really a critical thing for us 

to hear. 

 So let’s look at this for what it is.  

It’s basically a question of public confidence about the 

operations at NB Power and I think it’s also a question of 

public confidence about the operations and oversight of 

CNSC at NB Power, because both of these things, both of 

these agents are at play here. 

 So let’s talk about first to the CNSC 

Staff.  Currently today how many people do you have on site 

at NB Power supervising it and what are their primary 

roles? 
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 DR. VIKTOROV:  Alex Viktorov, for the 

record.  I’ll ask Heather Davis to provide the numbers. 

 MS. DAVIS:  Good afternoon, Heather Davis, 

for the record.  In terms of the CNSC site staff we have a 

total of seven site staff; five inspectors, myself the 

Supervisor, as well as an admin, so we have a total of 

seven site staff.  And those site staff carryout the 

compliance inspection plan as well as surveillance and 

monitoring of the station.  This includes inspections 

across all different safety and control areas.   

 We have a baseline of inspections that we 

are required to cover as part of our oversight.  And in 

addition to that we also cover additional inspections 

beyond the baseline such as inspections to the waste area, 

the waste management area, and we also do daily 

surveillance of meetings and of the licensee’s corrective 

action process, and we meet and discuss any concerns we 

have with NB Power management.   

 We also have a huge support team that 

works out of Ottawa, specialists that we rely on again 

across the various safety and control areas.  And we also 

have a licensing team that supports us that works out of 

Ottawa. 

 Thank you. 

 MEMBER BERUBE:  CNSC, just give me a sense 
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of how many people actually are kind of hands on on this 

particular power plant off and on.  There must be several 

dozen, hundreds?  What is typically the manpower compliment 

over say a period of a year looking at this particular 

file? 

 DR. VIKTOROV:  Alex Viktorov, for the 

record.  So we have seven people on site and about seven 

people in Ottawa working just for this facility.  So about 

15 people all together. 

 Behind them there’s a directorate with 

around 90 people that are looking after power reactors and 

supported by probably 200 people overall who are 

specialists in various areas related to systems, programs, 

various aspects of safety of operations. 

 So all together probably 300 people who 

can lend expertise while assessing safety of the facility. 

 MEMBER BERUBE:  So I turn to NB Power at 

this point and I say, okay, public relations, let’s talk 

about your program.  How do you actually approach your 

public relations platform?  What is the key messaging 

you’re trying to deliver?  How do you reassure someone like 

this lady here that what you’re doing is okay? 

 MR. NOUWENS:  Jason Nouwens, for the 

record.  I will turn this over to Kathleen Duguay to speak 

a little bit about our community engagement and also to 
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Mark Power to speak a little bit about our priorities on 

safety. 

 But before I do that, I just want to touch 

on a few points that she raised, and I really do appreciate 

you coming here in person to share those thoughts in 

addition to the written intervention. 

 We meet or exceed all regulatory 

requirements, right, as a matter of our licence.  But in 

addition to that, we really strive to understand all of 

industry best practices so that we can run the best station 

the safest that we can every single day.   

 So I know there’s some concerns about 

whether we have the confidence -- or whether the public has 

the confidence in us to run the station.  But that is our 

mandate everyday, to provide clean energy, reliably, 

safely, to the Province of New Brunswick. 

 In addition to that, I know it’s hard to 

express, and as you already mentioned it’s hard to sort of 

express those sentiments maybe to an audience that isn’t 

receptive.  But I want to assure you that we really do want 

to hear your thoughts, even if they’re not something that 

you think we might want to hear.   

 And we would like to meet with you at 

anytime to go over the specific concerns you might have and 

maybe we can show you, you know, our perspective on that 
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and come to a common understanding of what the concerns are 

and, you know, where the validity is or where maybe the 

contentious issues are.  And I know that may be difficult 

to do, but I just want to extend an invite to you, if at 

anytime you’d like to meet with us we’re more than happy to 

do that in person with you and really try to explain I 

guess -- or I guess further understand your concerns. 

 But I would like now to turn it over to 

Kathlee Duguay to explain a little bit about our community 

engagement and how we reach out to all members of the 

public.  But then with respect to the confidence the public 

has in us or not, I think it would be valuable to hear from 

our Site Vice-President our mandate on safety and our 

priority. 

 So, Kathleen, over to you first please. 

 MS. DUGUAY:  For the record, my name is 

Kathleen Duguay.  Thank you, Jason, and thank you for 

coming here today and sharing your perspective, Kelly. 

 When I read the submission that was put in 

for the intervention, of course to keep the confidentiality 

of the people there was no contact for Kelly, so I was 

hoping to meet her today.  And I already had my little note 

for her to contact me at anytime. 

 And I see that she’s here with Sharon.  

So, Sharon, knows me very well.  So I’m happy to meet with 
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Kelly at anytime, at your convenience, in your community. 

 On the other piece is we have -- on our 

website we have hosted public information sessions where 

people can come and meet and ask questions, and other 

surrounding communities of Point Lepreau.  And I can see 

from Kelly that she’s from the Pocologan area, correct?  

That was on your letter? 

 So I’m very interested to see how we’re 

not reaching to Kelly.  Because this is the area where we 

put our mailout.  So I’ve already called the post office 

last week to figure out why are some addresses in Pocologan 

not getting my newsletter. 

 But regardless, there’s more than one way 

to communicate and reach out to people.  I’m really 

interested to hear from Kelly today. My phone number is on 

the website of NB Power and I’m available at anytime.  

 But I will say, I already have this ready.  

I know Sharon and Sharon knows how to reach me as well.  

And I’m pleased that Sharon was with Kelly today.  So thank 

you. 

 MR. POWER:  Mark Power, for the record.  I 

want to thank Kelly for coming here today because, like you 

said, it does take courage to come here and share these 

opinions that may not be popular opinions in this setting, 

but they are important for us to hear those as well. 
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 As Kathleen says, we try to reach out to 

all of the intervenors to address any of their concerns, 

and quite often it’s a misunderstanding and maybe we didn’t 

do a good job of sharing the information to all the right 

venues where these people could have received the right 

information or different perspectives. 

 Regarding overall quality at the station, 

we definitely focus on quality, it’s our utmost importance 

next to safety.  So safety and quality in everything we do.  

We talked about an extension of the refurbishment and why 

we would go to that great length.  It is around focusing on 

quality and safety.  

 In addition to this, we have many 

different oversight activities at the station that provide 

independent oversight to check us on our performance.  We 

have Nuclear Oversight Group, it’s a dedicated group that 

performs audits on us in addition to the CNSC performing 

their oversight of us. 

 We have a corrective action program where 

anytime anything goes wrong we put in information into the 

system and take follow-up action so that we can prevent 

reoccurrence of it. 

 We are tightly tied into the industry as 

we hear here today through COG and other types of venues 

such as that.  
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 We even invite external subject matter 

experts to our station as in terms of a nuclear safety 

review board.  We’ll invite subject matter experts to come 

and audit our performance, and then they’ll give some 

recommendations to us and then they’ll come back a few 

months later and see how we’re following up on those 

recommendations. 

 So I want to assure Kelly and anybody else 

listening here today that quality and safety is a priority 

for us at Point Lepreau and we commit to ensuring that it’s 

built into every bit of operation that we do day in, day 

out. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Ms. Newman, it was very 

obvious in your voice how concerned you are.  And as I read 

your intervention -- I don’t know what else to offer you.   

 You know, you’ve heard from the folks at 

Point Lepreau, that they’re more than happy to meet with 

you, to hear about your concerns, to share some information 

with you that hopefully will allay some of those concerns. 

 But when I read in your intervention that 

New Brunswick Power has demonstrated incompetence, I mean I 

understand the provincial piece that you talked about and 

the intimidation, and so on, but about Point Lepreau 

itself, and as a Commission we really want to know when 

statements like those are made that it has demonstrated 
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incompetence in how it has managed the facility.  What 

leads you to think that?  They have, as you have heard from 

CNSC staff, a stellar track record, at least in the last -- 

you know, this licensing period.  Is there something else 

you want to share with us on why you feel that concern on 

their track record? 

 MS. NEWMAN:  A little bit of concern when 

they say there has been no accidents.  The splitting of the 

hair between an accident and an incident, you know, and 

there have been incidents and some of them were maybe 

beyond NB Power's control, like when somebody puts hard 

water in the water cooler or something like that, yes, but 

then there are other things that are absolutely oversight 

and kind of -- unfortunately, New Brunswick business has a 

habit of cutting corners and they cut bad corners sometimes 

and things can go unnoticed or ignored. 

 I know from the last time through this in 

2008 when I was actively involved with things going on in 

the nuclear industry in the province, there was a lot of 

concern and all we heard from NB Power and our government 

at the time was, “Everyone is behind us,” you know, 

“Everybody loves us”, and it's just -- it's not true.  I 

know my MLA submitted a letter that says it's great, it is 

great for the economy and my MP supports it, but I don't 

and I need a voice. 
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 So I think there have been probably more 

incidents than would be reported to you guys, or even to my 

left.  In all of that there are also the concerns of being 

right on the coast like that and it is far too easy to dump 

stuff into the coast and I think there needs to be some 

safety protocol that all of this hard water and all of this 

waste can't get dumped into the Bay.  There are already 

mutated lobsters and if it wasn't such a shellfish allergy 

I actually thought about bringing in some that is 

technically in safe waters and seeing if you guys will eat 

it, but, you know, that was probably more for 

demonstration.  But the fact is, you know, there are 

mutations and I don't have the lobsters I can bring in to 

show you, but there is, there is concern.  It is our food. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  And maybe one thing, 

because staff didn't mention it, but CNSC staff also hold 

Meet the Regulator Sessions and if you wanted a more 

independent, objective perspective on NB Power's 

performance and staff's assessment of that, I would suggest 

that you avail yourself of that. 

 I think hearing your concerns, the more 

information where you share your concerns and they try to 

address that hopefully will bring you more peace of mind, I 

hope.  But thank you for sharing your concerns.  Your voice 

is very important to the Commission, as you have heard, and 



 

 

 

 

 

 
 

  

270 

I am glad you made the effort to come and join us today.  

Thank you. 

 MS. NEWMAN:  Thank you. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Okay.  Our next 

presentation is from Ms. Leah Belding, as outlined in CMD 

22-H2.156. 

 Ms. Belding, over to you, please. 

 

CMD 22-H2.156 

Oral presentation by Leah Belding 

 

 MS. BELDING:  President Velshi and 

supporting Commission Members, for the record, my name is 

Leah Belding.  I am a Shift Supervisor at the Point Lepreau 

Nuclear Generating Station. 

 I would like to open with acknowledging 

how impactful this in-person hearing actually is and 

appreciate the intervenors' perspectives today. 

 I am pleased to support the station's 

25-year licence renewal. 

 I would like to elaborate on the letter 

that I had sent to the Commission about my experience 

working at Point Lepreau and the reason that I do support 

the licence renewal at this time. 

 I will start with a little bit more about 
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myself.  I was raised in Chance Harbour, which is a local 

community to Point Lepreau.  It is about 10 minutes from 

the station.  My husband was also raised in the local 

community and today we are raising our three children.  We 

have family ties both to Chance Harbour which spans over 

many generations.  We both have family careers tied to 

Point Lepreau as well as the local fisheries.  My husband 

is a commercial lobster fisherman part time.  His father 

also fished the Bay of Fundy waters, as did his grandfather 

and great-grandfather, as did my grandfather, and perhaps 

one day it may be a choice for our children as well. 

 I have been part of the Point Lepreau team 

now for more than 20 years and what I enjoy most about this 

team is the people.  A very close second I guess is value, 

is what our station does bring to our local community.  Our 

station represents knowledge and skill-based jobs that are 

well paid for a local community and does provide a better 

quality of life. 

 In the late 1990s, when I was a new high 

school graduate, I was unsure of where to go for a career 

path at that time and I accepted a six-month work term with 

our service maintenance departments.  During that work term 

I was able to make some lifelong friends who took it upon 

themselves to show me what options or career paths were 

available to make better choices for post-secondary 
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education, and of those options the operations department 

is what piqued my interest the most.  At that time I was 19 

years old. 

 I visited the control room for the first 

time and I was amazed, amazed at the complexity of the 

room -- there were panels, the switches, the buttons, the 

screens -- amazed at how calm the control room environment 

was, given its clear complexity, and amazed that an 

individual was able to have the knowledge to operate 

everything in that room, and I wanted to be that 

individual.  So at 19 this left me with a very ambitious 

goal. 

 Since those first months working at 

Lepreau, I found the culture and the people at Lepreau to 

be exceptionally welcoming and very supportive.  My career 

path wouldn't be where it is today without that.  It is a 

very positive environment of growth and I found 

encouragement for career aspirations, and with that has 

come rigorous training that has been challenging, but in 

the best possible way.  This has fostered growth for myself 

intellectually, professionally, and increased my emotional 

intelligence through the training and the practical 

experiences that I have had. 

 After the initial work term, I went to 

community college in Saint John and I completed a two-year 
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Power Engineering Technology Program.  I returned to Point 

Lepreau as a full-time operator in 2001.  This then set the 

stage for 20 more years of learning on my behalf. 

 In 2005, I was selected to train for a 

Licensed Control Room Operator Program.  It was certainly 

in my path to achieving my goal and it was an honour and a 

significant responsibility that I took very seriously.  

 The next three years after that I went 

through a rigorous training program, including a year of 

generalist training, station-specific training and 

simulator training, and included in that is upset 

management where we prepare for unlikely and very 

challenging scenarios at the station.  Operator 

fundamentals and human performance skills are a significant 

focus. 

 And following the simulator training there 

is a co-piloting phase where I paired up with a licensed 

control room operator at that time for about six months.  

And after that co-piloting phase and demonstrating that I 

am capable of performing that role, there is an interview 

with our station management, followed by licensing. 

 After that I was assigned to a crew as a 

control room operator.  So after 10 years, I was able to 

accomplish my goal that I had set out when I was 19. 

 After several more years of experience 
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under my belt, in September of 2016 I was then again 

selected to re-enter another licensing program as a shift 

supervisor.  This is also a combination of classroom and 

simulator training, followed by more co-piloting time, 

another interview with our station management, and then 

finally an issued licence.  I have now been in this role 

since 2019, in the fall. 

 I have a unique perspective of 

understanding our design of station operation in a way that 

many people don't, with the safety of my coworkers in my 

local community being my highest priority.  The concept of 

protecting the environment and protecting our public and 

our nuclear operations is important but at times can seem 

to be a bit abstract.  For many folks that aren't as close 

to the station as I am, hence that abstract possible 

perspective.  However, in my case, ensuring the safety of 

the public in the area surrounding the station is very 

personal as for me that means protecting my children, my 

siblings, my parents, my aunts, uncles, cousins, neighbours 

and friends.  It is protecting the livelihood of my 

husband, many brothers-in-law, family members, community 

members who are local fishermen.  They work hard day in and 

day out to find fresh and safe seafood from the Bay of 

Fundy for the folks of New Brunswick and beyond. 

 As I come to work, my focus is on my 
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responsibilities and ensuring everybody else's mind is on 

their jobs, too.  This is now my professional family.  They 

are the people that I observe, that I coach, that I mentor, 

and who in turn do the same for me to ensure the safety of 

everyone at our station and outside of it remain protected. 

 We are accountable for nearly half of the 

province's electrical generation, sometimes more than that.  

There are a lot of families whose livelihoods and quality 

of life depend heavily on this electricity.  They count on 

it to be there when they need it at a price that they can 

afford and our work impacts that directly. 

 We are both proud and mindful of this 

responsibility that we have to the people of New Brunswick.  

And although there are many engineered barriers within our 

design, it is the human side of the plant interaction level 

that does remain vital for my team.  The site standards, 

our expectations are well communicated and we work together 

to maintain a very high safety standard. 

 Our staff does embrace a very strong 

safety culture, with a clear message from our senior 

management that certainly no work is so urgent or important 

that it cannot be done safely.  I have a responsibility to 

myself, my family and my team to model this behaviour and 

to challenge my coworkers and to be challenged myself, 

helping all of us to continue to grow. 
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 I have essentially grown up in the nuclear 

world, spending now more than half of my life at Point 

Lepreau.  I see how we have improved together, how we have 

helped one another and how we have shifted from the 

requirement to follow expectations to wanting to, to see 

the value in them. 

 Nuclear is unique and it is not something 

we take for granted.  We are responsible to our community 

and to the public to ensure the station is operated safely.  

We have a responsibility at the provincial level, the 

federal level, but also on an international level to 

provide reliable electricity at the highest levels of 

safety.  It is a bit of a cliché to say that trust takes 

years to earn and seconds to lose, but in this field it is 

very applicable. 

 So finally, when I think of where my 

children might be one day in making their own career 

decisions, I know that I have been a role model for them.  

I am working in a job that contributes to the well-being of 

our society, the well-being of my family and a job that 

provides me personal and intellectual growth as an 

individual. 

 I am grateful for the opportunities that I 

have been given and grateful to still be home raising my 

family in Chance Harbour. 
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 I am grateful for finding meaningful 

employment in my own backyard and not needing to move away 

like many friends have. 

 I am grateful for achieving an immensely 

challenging personal goal. 

 I am grateful for the opportunity to show 

my children that I can be a mom, a wife and a shift 

supervisor, and find that delicate personal balance between 

personal and professional lives. 

 I am grateful for carrying on family 

traditions and carving out a unique trail that many women 

don't realize even exists. 

 And I am grateful for the opportunity to 

speak to you today. 

 I do support a 25-year licence for the 

Point Lepreau Nuclear Generating Station.  Thank you. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Thank you very much. 

 Let's start with Mr. Kahgee, please. 

 MEMBER KAHGEE:  Thank you very much for 

your presentation and for being such a strong advocate and 

role model for your children.  I was particularly drawn to 

your explanation for how you have to balance not only your 

work life but your family life, but also with the history 

you have with your family and the fisheries. 

 I too also come from a fishing community 
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and our community has invested a lot of time, energy and 

resources in safeguarding and protecting that resource, so 

I know all too well what is required to do that.  And 

certainly, you come here today and you bring a very unique 

and intimate understanding of the industry, having been 

part of the industry for 20 plus years now and starting at 

a very young age and coming to where you are and now a 

shift supervisor.  So I applaud you for that. 

 But given that experience, I'm just 

wondering, and I don't want to put you in a difficult 

position, but in light of the last intervention and given 

your deep connections and the efforts you take to balance 

your work life and your role with your -- I guess your 

obligations to your community and the roles that your 

family has in a fishery, are there things that New 

Brunswick Power can be doing better to shore up public 

confidence? 

 MS. BELDING:  Leah Belding, for the 

record. 

 There is a very strong community 

engagement currently.  I did hear a previous intervenor 

suggest as well that there is a previous group that they 

would like to see revitalized as well.  I feel NB Power 

does a really good job of reaching out to the local 

community and having an open dialogue and a very 
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transparent opportunity for discussions. 

 I would be very supportive -- you know, if 

there is a gap that has been identified today, I am very 

confident that NB Power would be willing to bridge that 

gap, to find a deeper understanding of what those concerns 

would be. 

 MEMBER KAHGEE:  Thank you. 

 So from your perspective, it has played a 

critical role in your community in shoring up the 

confidence? 

 MS. BELDING:  Yes. 

 MEMBER KAHGEE:  Okay.  Thank you. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Thank you. 

 Dr. Berube...? 

 MEMBER BERUBE:  Well, thank you for taking 

the time to come speak before us today.  You are the 

perfect person to talk to about something. 

 One of the things that the CNSC staff had 

mentioned in their original submission, written submission, 

was that there was some process improvement actually in 

control room operator training.  Since you oversee those 

people, would you give us some insight as to how that 

training has evolved over the last 5 to 10 years or so just 

to give us an understanding of that?  You would be intimate 

with that. 
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 MS. BELDING:  Just so I understand the 

question that you are asking, you are asking how we have 

changed or improved our control room operator training over 

the last number of years? 

 We have secured different I guess 

expertise as well from other folks that are now leading our 

training departments, folks -- one improvement that we have 

made is -- because we have gone for a period of time where 

we didn't necessarily have a lot of extra licensed staff 

onsite, that has restricted our ability to allow that level 

of training and understanding the station systems to be 

infiltrated in other parts of the station's different 

departments.  So now that we have improved our numbers or 

throughput through our control operator training by really 

digging in and trying to understand what those gaps were, 

getting some maybe different resources assigned to the 

control room operator programs and it has resulted in more 

throughput, to more successful throughput from the program, 

and then now we are seeing the benefits of that to allow 

for the mentoring and training and to disperse that level 

of knowledge and understanding the station throughout the 

different departments. 

 MEMBER BERUBE:  That answers my question.  

Thank you for that. 

 And one thing I wanted to say is 
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congratulations on the shift supervisor position.  It's not 

a trivial or easy post to obtain, so you should be proud.  

I'm sure your family is, too. 

 MS. BELDING:  Thank you. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Dr. Demeter...? 

 MEMBER DEMETER:  I want to say thank you 

for coming and sharing your story.  I have no specific 

questions, thank you. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  So, Ms. Belding, it is 

really good to meet you in person.  You and I were in a 

video together promoting non-traditional careers for women 

and I again applaud you for breaking new ground and being a 

fantastic role model. 

 And similar to what Mr. Kahgee said, your 

voice carries a lot of weight in the community on the 

perspective you bring around these facilities and how the 

environment is protected and how safety is.  Are you 

personally involved in being an ambassador within the 

community around safety at nuclear facilities? 

 MS. BELDING:  I am not currently on any 

official committees.  Certainly, I have been in the 

community a very, very long time, I know many members of 

the community and we certainly have had many discussions 

outside of the official committees that have been formed in 

the past. 
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 I have also participated in some licensing 

renewal community involvement sessions.  It's where folks 

certainly have a formal process to come and meet the 

community members or the station members, but I do take a 

lot of pride in the relationships that I have with various 

people in the local communities that do feel very 

comfortable asking questions, you know, at any given time 

about station operation and how we manage our day-to-day 

operations. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Thank you very much.  

Thank you for your intervention and appearing in front of 

us today. 

 MS. BELDING:  Thank you very much. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  I see Mr. Thompson has 

moved back.  Ms. Mitchell, okay, perfect. 

 Okay.  So our next presentation is by the 

Fundy North Fishermen's Association and Fundy Weir 

Fisherman's Association Inc., as outlined in CMD 22-H2.151 

and H2.151A. 

 Ms. Mitchell, I will turn the floor to 

you. 
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CMD 22-H2.151/22-H2.151A 

Oral presentation by the 

Fundy North Fishermen's Association and 

Fundy Weir Fisherman's Association Inc. 

 

 MS. MITCHELL:  Okay, thank you. 

 Good afternoon, President Velshi and 

Members of the Commission. 

 My name is Lillian Mitchell and thank you 

for the opportunity to address you today.  I am here 

representing two groups, Fundy North Fishermen's 

Association and Fundy Weir Fisherman's Association, and we 

are here to provide our support for the Point Lepreau 

Generating Station licence renewal. 

 Today I am looking to share some examples 

of the cooperative working relationship that we have 

benefited from with NB Power over the last several years to 

protect the ecosystem of the Bay of Fundy, which is vital 

to our industry and our community. 

 So can I advance the slides?  Yes, okay.  

There we go. 

 Okay.  So first a little bit about us. 

 I myself am the Director of Fundy North 

Fishermen's Association and the Manager for Fundy Weir 

Fisherman's Association.  I believe Bradly Small is also 



 

 

 

 

 

 
 

  

284 

joining us by telephone today.  He is the President of 

Fundy North and is actually out lobster fishing today. 

 So our organizations are community 

not-for-profit groups operating out of St. Andrews.  We 

have been community organizations for over 30 years and our 

mission has been to support harvesters, promote healthy 

fisheries in the Bay of Fundy and encourage viable fishing 

communities in southwestern New Brunswick. 

 We represent members across every port in 

District 4, which totals approximately 300 licence holders.  

Our members fish lobster, scallop, crab, groundfish, which 

include haddock and halibut, and also herring and river 

species in the Saint John and Magaguadavic River systems, 

which include shad, gaspereau and eel. 

 Together we are driven by a strong family 

ethic.  So across our district, fishing is still very much 

a family business.  Most of our crewmembers are related to 

their captain and we have benefited hugely from having many 

young people continue to enter the fisheries here.  So as 

you can imagine, protecting the long-term health of the Bay 

of Fundy and other nearby waterways has been essential to 

the sustainability of our industry and the health of our 

communities across this part of coastal New Brunswick. 

 So in regards to our interest in 

addressing the Commission today, we would like to share a 
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little bit about our experience working with NB Power. 

 Our industries overlap, particularly our 

LFA 36 Lobster Fishery, which is the cornerstone of the 

fishery in southwestern New Brunswick today.  Point Lepreau 

is located in the heart of our district, so what I have on 

the screen now is District 36 and the star indicates where 

the station is. 

 We have built a cooperative relationship 

with the station since the creation of our organizations 

and over many years before that actually as many of our 

members have been engaged informally with NB Power before 

the Associations were officially formed. 

 We have benefited over the years from 

having a very collaborative and positive relationship with 

the staff at the station.  We know from our involvement in 

the processes undertaken there that they take measures to 

ensure that our waters are protected and that any impacts 

to our fisheries are minimal. 

 In circumstances where the potential for 

impacts have existed, such as the transportation of turbine 

rotors, Point Lepreau has coordinated with us to ensure 

minimal impacts to our fishing operations and gone so far 

as to adjust their schedule to conduct operations outside 

of our fishing seasons. 

 And for example, when the thermal plume 
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study was taking place, they consulted with us to ensure 

that the location of equipment would not impact fishing 

activities. 

 So these sound like quite simple things, 

but these are courtesies that are not always afforded to us 

by neighbouring industries, which is why they are so 

appreciated.  Our members also know that Point Lepreau 

staff are always available to answer questions we might 

have, and I feel the same. 

 In turn, we've brought NB Power on board 

with some of our own key initiatives over the years, which 

demonstrates I believe the true cooperative relationship 

that we've had with them. 

 So with that in mind, I'd like to share 

one prime example of this, and it's been very important to 

our industry.  In recent years, NB Power has become an 

important partner for our Ghost Gear Retrieval Program.  So 

this program works to recover derelict fishing traps that 

have been lost at sea, which can result in lost income and 

lost efficiency to our harvesters, pose navigational and 

environmental hazards, and pose also entanglement risks for 

marine mammals such as whales. 

 Our harvesters are involved in all aspects 

of this program, and they've helped to identify and locate 

lost gear and adopted tactics to proactively limit the loss 
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of gear as well as develop specialized equipment so that 

lost gear can be retrieved and disposed of responsibly. 

 So just for people who don't know what 

ghost gear is or what causes it, among the key causes of 

ghost gear, which we've been largely able to mitigate, are 

gear conflict, storms, and snarls with existing ghost gear.  

But particularly an ongoing issue in such a busy ocean area 

has been conflict with other ocean users.   

 So this program has been ongoing for about 

15 years, but the program continues to be successful today 

thanks to the ongoing support of NB Power.  We know we can 

rely on them to be valuable partners in advancing 

environmental goals that we have for the region.  Station 

personnel are amongst the first to offer their time and 

expertise to such initiatives, and they understand the 

value that these programs offer to the community and seek 

to support community efforts to promote and preserve the 

fishing industry in the region. 

 So with their support over the last 

several years, the program has been augmented to include 

capacity building with other partner organizations that 

they're working with so that we might be able to assist in 

efforts to build ghost gear programs in other areas.  We've 

also enhanced our community engagement to advance our 

efforts locally, and that's included efforts to responsibly 
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dispose and repurpose gear that is actually retrieved 

during our ghost gear retrieval initiatives. 

 So like the fishing industry, the Point 

Lepreau station has become a central part of our community, 

and like us, they strive to preserve and protect the health 

of the Bay of Fundy for our industry and the entire 

community.   

 And that is mainly what I came to speak 

about today. 

 I do have some photos of the recent 

activities that we've completed with Point Lepreau.  Some 

of this has included repurposing the rope that we've 

retrieved from ghost gear retrieval into doormats.  And 

this is actually an example of -- and I actually don't 

think the Commissioners can see this -- but photos of the 

equipment used, okay, and just some examples of what's 

retrieved during the activities.  So these are a couple of 

examples of old netting and a snarl of lobster traps, 

because the Bay of Fundy is so -- we have so much current 

that tends to happen and is a prime factor resulting in 

lost gear.  These are some additional examples of what we 

are able to retrieve. 

 So in closing, I appreciate the work of 

CNSC to ensure the safety and integrity of nuclear 

operations in our communities.   
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 We continue to see the priority that NB 

Power places on safety and environmental protection in all 

aspects of their operations, which is very important to our 

members and is the reason we're able to support their 

licence renewal.  We look forward to continuing our 

relationship with the station for many years to come. 

 So thank you again for the opportunity to 

speak today, and I'm pleased to answer any questions you 

might have. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Thank you very much, Ms. 

Mitchell, and thank you for sharing those beautiful 

photographs with us. 

 Dr. Demeter? 

 MEMBER DEMETER:  Thank you for your 

presentation.   

 I only had one question.  In some of the 

written interventions, there was concerns about the impact 

on plankton and other smaller life forms that are sort of 

at the start of the food chain.  And I wonder if any of 

your members had any concerns about that.  Is there any 

impact, notable impact on the larger -- has there been any 

notable impact on their fishing that they could relate to 

Point Lepreau or the sort of status quo? 

 MS. MITCHELL:  So there have certainly 

been changes to the fishery and the ecosystem of the Bay of 
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Fundy over many years.  In terms of the operations of the 

station specifically, we haven't had any members I guess 

identify any direct or correlated changes in the species 

that they fish to the operations of the station, to answer 

your question. 

 MEMBER DEMETER:  That's good, thank you. 

 And then when we ask later for DFO, we'll 

talk more about the fishing, other fishing stuff, but thank 

you. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Okay.  Mr. Kahgee.   

 MEMBER KAHGEE:  Thank you very much for 

your presentation. 

 I had similar to the question with Dr. 

Demeter.  Just perhaps a follow-up.  I know DFO's going to 

be here tomorrow, I believe, so this is just picking up the 

narrative.  It's perhaps to New Brunswick Power.   

 I know we talked on day one about the 

Fisheries Act authorization and efforts there.  In light of 

some of the concerns throughout the interventions, has 

there been any kind of aquatic studies done looking at the 

overall ecosystem and just the health of that ecosystem?  

Has there been any studies done in that regard involving 

groups like Fundy North and perhaps some of the Indigenous 

intervenors? 

 MR. NOUWENS:  Jason Nouwens, for the 
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record. 

 Before I turn this over to Nick Reicker to 

elaborate a little bit more, the two main studies that we 

have done is a thermal plume study to evaluate the 

potential temperature effects and also we did a fish 

entrainment and entrapment study in 2013, which really was 

a foundation program.   

 But I'll ask Nick Reicker to elaborate on 

those two studies a little bit more. 

 MR. REICKER:  Thank you very much.   

 Nick Reicker, manager of Regulatory 

Affairs and Emergency Preparedness. 

 So like Jason mentioned, we have done 

thermal plume assessment.  We have done fish impingement 

entrainment studies.  We also make this part of our 

five-year environmental risk assessment which looks at the 

ecological risk assessment in around the Bay of Fundy and 

support with our local fishers.  And they've been very 

fortunate to work with Ms. Mitchell and the Fundy North 

Fishing Association over the last several years in a lot of 

these campaigns.   

 Our thermal plume assessment looked at the 

thermal discharges from the station but also equated any 

species in around the area which could be positively or 

negatively impacted by the operations.  And that was also a 
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direct input into our environmental risk assessment and 

then continuing on as part of our ongoing studies and 

assessments to current day. 

 MEMBER KAHGEE:  Thank you.  That's 

helpful.   

 In terms of the thermal plume study, did 

the scope of that include cumulative effects? 

 MR. REICKER:  Nick Reicker, for the 

record.   

 So the assessments that we did were based 

on looking at previous assessments done in the early '80s, 

initial onset and currently projected where we were.  So we 

look at where we're at, impacts based on the sea 

temperatures and cumulation, but it's really factored on 

that snapshot of operational time and factoring that with 

the other assessments that are ongoing through the 

environmental risk assessment. 

 MEMBER KAHGEE:  And that included climate 

change as well? 

 MR. REICKER:  Climate change -- really, to 

say that that's a part of the environmental risk assessment 

factors into other assessments.  We do factor it through 

our safety analysis, but it is factored based on the 

current snapshot in time based on the operational 

influences and what we're seeing from the environment. 
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 MEMBER KAHGEE:  Thank you. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Mr. Kahgee, DFO is online 

if you have any specific follow-up questions for them. 

 MEMBER KAHGEE:  I think that covers it.  I 

may have specific questions tomorrow with respect to some 

of the Indigenous interventions, but that was helpful, 

yeah.  Thank you. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Thank you.   

 Dr. Berube? 

 MEMBER BERUBE:  Yes.  I have a couple 

question, actually, and since DFO is on the line, it's a 

good time to probably ask them. 

 Let's start off with getting onto the 

thermal plume.  What's the temperature delta across your 

station intake to outfall? 

 MR. REICKER:  Thank you.  Nick Reicker, 

for the record.   

 So through our thermal plume assessment, 

we did not see any temperature that was greater than three 

degrees delta.  That three-degree benchmark was observed on 

very small frequencies over several hours, and I believe 

based on a 128-day sampling, we seen that at about seven 

days observed.  So the benchmark was around two degrees 

relative.  And really indication was not a significant 

delineation of a horizontal thermal plume from the plant. 
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 MEMBER BERUBE:  And your throughput for 

the plant is constant, I would take it?  Are you not 

changing or varying that in any way? 

 MR. REICKER:  That is correct; our 

throughput from the plant is consistent. 

 MEMBER BERUBE:  And since we've got DFO 

on, we might as well talk about fish entrainment and 

entrapment.  How many tonnes of fish do you extract from 

the ocean a year through the intake? 

 MR. REICKER:  Nick Reicker, for the 

record.  So I would like to ask Andrea McGathey, who is our 

environmental technical specialist, who could provide some 

additional context to the actual biota that is brought in 

through. 

 MS. McGATHEY:  Good afternoon.  I'm Andrea 

McGathey, environmental technical specialist with NB Power, 

for the record.  Thank you for the question. 

 I don't have the documentation in front of 

me with respect to the biomass or kilograms at the moment, 

but we can get back to the Commission with that response. 

 The impingement and entrainment studies 

indicated that the loss, the serious harm was not 

significant at the population level to the overall fishery 

in the Bay of Fundy. 

 MEMBER BERUBE:  Yeah, if you could provide 
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that information, that would be useful, just to get an 

idea.   

 Is it in tonnes, you know, thousands of 

kilograms?  Must be in that area, I would think. 

 MS. McGATHEY:  Yes, it would be. 

 MEMBER BERUBE:  Okay, so because we're 

actually extracting so much fish, obviously, it becomes an 

issue of offsets.  And I'm a little puzzled with your 

offsets strategy.  Could you just run me through that so 

that there's some clarity?  Because when I was reading it, 

I wasn't sure what that was all about. 

 MR. NOUWENS:  Jason Nouwens, for the 

record. 

 Is your question specifically to the 

calculation of what our offsetting may or may not be? 

 MEMBER BERUBE:  Yeah, your calculation of 

the offset and basically -- and how you intend to do that.  

And since we have DFO on the line, I guess they're involved 

in this as well, so maybe we can get a perspective for them 

on that too. 

 MR. NOUWENS:  All right.  So we can start 

with that.  So I'll turn it over again to Nick Reicker to 

provide some more clarity.  But the offsetting is I would 

say a collaborative approach to understand what the 

potential impacts are and what a reasonable offsetting may 
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or may not be.   

 So Nick, if you could provide some further 

details on how we assessed and came up to our offsetting 

requirements. 

 MR. REICKER:  Yes, thank you.   

 Nick Reicker, for the record.   

 So we have had a lot of ongoing 

discussions around our Fisheries Act authorization and what 

that is going to look like through the years.  So we 

originally started, and it would bring us back to the 

partnership that we have with Fundy North Fishing 

Association, where our initial offsetting was to support 

the ghost gear retrieval initiative, to get that derelict 

gear out of the bay and minimize the impact to the 

fisheries. 

 Also in addition to that, we took a larger 

approach throughout NB Power where we looked at a Fisheries 

Act authorization that was reflective of all of the 

operating sites that are bringing in cooling water.  And 

that was taken to a significantly larger level where we 

applied the offsetting to a dam removal.  And that dam 

removal project is currently ongoing right now, and that is 

the basis for the Fisheries Act authorization that has been 

submitted to DFO, and DFO currently going through the 

finalization of that approval and taking the next stages 
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within that project. 

 So because of the scale of the offset 

being the dam removal, the restoration of the river system 

allowing habitat to remigrate back up and allow spawning, 

we were able to take that as a larger offset for all sites 

and carry that over a larger duration.  So a current 

proposal through DFO, and we'd let them speak when they 

come on, but that was applied through life of station, 

given the magnitude of the offset. 

 MEMBER BERUBE:  And DFO, would you like to 

speak to what you think the number of fish, basically, or 

the tonnage of fish that are going to be recovered through 

enhanced spawning if we take this dam out? 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Ms. LeBlanc, are you 

online?  Can we check and see if DFO is online? 

 Looks like there may be some technical 

issues at her end.  Dr. Berube, you'll just have to save 

that question for tomorrow. 

 Are we good?  Okay. 

 Well, Ms. Mitchell, thank you very much 

for your intervention today and appearing in front of us.   

 We will now take a break and -- let's see, 

what time is it? -- and resume at 6:40 p.m., please. 
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--- Upon recessing at 5:42 p.m. /  

    Suspension à 17 h 42   

--- Upon resuming at 6:40 p.m. /  

    Reprise à 18 h 40 

 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Welcome back.  We're ready 

to move to our next presentation from Mr. Paul Thompson, as 

outlined in CMDs 22-H2.161 and 2.161A. 

 Mr. Thompson, over to you, please. 

 

CMD 22-H2.161/22-H2.161A 

Oral presentation by Paul Thompson 

 

 MR. P. THOMPSON:  For the record, my name 

is Paul Thompson. 

 Madam Chair, President and members of the 

Commission, welcome to the beautiful province of New 

Brunswick, which is the traditional territory of the 

Wolastoqey, the Mi'kmaq and the Passamaquoddy First Nations 

peoples. 

 As mentioned, my name is Paul Thompson.  

I've worked in the nuclear industry for over four decades, 

many of those for NB Power at the Point Lepreau Nuclear 

Generating Station. 

 I've held a variety of positions at that.  
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I've also held the position of President of the Canadian 

Nuclear Society on two separate occasions, and I'm 

recognized as a Fellow of the Canadian Nuclear Society.  So 

I have a familiarity with both the nuclear industry, the 

CANDU 6, Point Lepreau and the excellent team at NB Power 

from the executive to the senior management and to the 

fantastic workers, who are very professional and dedicated 

at NB Power. 

 I'm a long-term resident of New Brunswick.  

I moved here in the mid-eighties, where I got married, 

raised my family and now enjoy my two granddaughters. 

 I think it is important to recognize the 

role of Point Lepreau in New Brunswick.  It provides 24/7 

reliable, low-cost, safe electricity.  It provides a 

tremendous boost to the economy, and it is a major reason 

why we're meeting our greenhouse gas reduction targets and 

is going to be essential in that role going forward. 

 It allows NB Power to have the lowest 

rates in Atlantic Canada, in fact, the fourth-lowest in 

Canada, and the first following those provinces that are 

blessed with significant hydro capability. 

 We take power for granted.  We expect it 

to be there.  We expect it to have a stable, a predictable 

price.  Could you imagine the situation if, twice a week, 

the price of electricity kept jumping up like it does for 
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gas, like it does for groceries where you all of a sudden 

say it's not windy or sunny and you have no power?  That 

just would not be acceptable. 

 And by the way, I'm a big supporter for 

all forms of electricity, of power generation, including 

wind and solar.  But you need the base load power. 

 All activities that we do carry risks and 

have benefits.  I've talked about some of the benefits, but 

I think it's very important that the -- we recognize that 

the nuclear industry deals with those risks openly 

throughout the entire life cycle and is very responsible. 

 Many times we're unaware of risks or we -- 

we dismiss them.  We take for granted driving to work and 

back every day, stepping on an airplane.  All of those 

carries risks. 

 I know.  There was a gentleman who used to 

work for NB Power a few decades ago and again, in teaching 

us about risk, said you're more likely to be injured 

driving to and from work than you are at an accident at 

Lepreau. 

 I'm living testament to that.  I was 

involved in a near-fatal accident driving home from work, 

and I still walk with -- still have issues today, but I've 

never thought twice about living in a province and raising 

my family because of Point Lepreau. 
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 In addition to all the goods things 

associated with the design, we have great emergency 

response plans.  I see the senior leadership from the 

Emergency Measures Organization in the back today.  

Tremendous organization, and a pleasure to work with. 

 There's a very strong safety culture, and 

a culture for continuous improvement.  And those -- as I 

mentioned, those risks and benefits are discussed openly 

and are available to the public. 

 Lepreau has an excellent safety record.  

It's a well-designed station.  And the improvements made 

during the refurbishment or life extension of the station 

added to that level of safety. 

 Staff are well trained and qualified, and 

there's a tremendously good relationship and partnership 

between management and the International Brotherhood of 

Electrical Workers, Union 37. 

 Lepreau's well tied in to the rest of the 

industry to share in that operating experience and best 

practices. 

 A lot of people talk about waste as if 

it's the Achilles heel.  I believe waste management is a 

strength of the nuclear organization. 

 Nuclear energy is a very dense form of 

power, thus, there's overall low volumes of waste actually 
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generated.  And it is safely stored in the interim at site. 

 Plans for decommissioning and the 

long-term disposal of used fuel are in place and revised -- 

reviewed and revised periodically.  Five years, in fact. 

 The Deep Geological Repository is well 

researched and is in line with international best practice 

for the long-term disposal of fuel such as what we have 

today with the uranium dioxide fuel. 

 The Nuclear Waste Management Organization 

is a tremendous organization to which NB Power is part of, 

and Mr. Nouwens is on the Board of Directors.  And they 

place a high value on engagement with public and First 

Nations stakeholders. 

 And the costs for decommissioning and 

long-term disposal of radioactive waste are set aside so 

that that burden is not borne by future generations. 

 Lepreau cares for its people.  Safety is 

paramount, and so the environment. 

 We're going to hear a little later from 

Jim Wilson, and he's going to talk, no doubt, about the 

great program that he has at Lepreau for tracking the 

monarch butterfly, and Lepreau is pleased to support that 

program.  Lepreau is on the migratory route for both the 

monarch butterfly as well as a number of migratory birds, 

and the station is very open and encourages those 
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naturalist groups to do their observatory and -- 

observatories studies at the Point. 

 It does not look like an industrial site, 

and we're very pleased -- NB Power is very pleased about 

how it cares for the environment. 

 Lepreau is very committed to engaging with 

our First Nations communities and with members of the 

public.  I've witnessed firsthand the dedication of people 

like Kathleen Duguay and her team with the support from a 

large number of people at Lepreau in order to ensure that 

the public are engaged and kept informed and that we're 

sharing not only information, but listening carefully to 

what they have to say and acting on it. 

 The nuclear industry is a 

heavily-regulated industry, rightfully so, and we have a 

world-class regulator and I'm very honoured to be presented 

as part of that process to you today. 

 You're well in line with international 

practice, you're open to peer reviews and you've got a very 

open and transparent process, and you're definitely arm's 

length from the government. 

 There's lots of checks and balances in the 

process.  You've got a tremendously capable and 

well-trained staff. 

 In summary, Point Lepreau is well managed, 
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operated safely and reliably and places due care and 

attention to the health, safety and security of workers, 

the public and the environment with due respect to Canada's 

international obligations.  And I respectfully request that 

the Commission accepts the recommendation of the staff on 

the renewal of the Point Lepreau operating licence. 

 Thank you for the opportunity to present 

before you, and I'd be pleased to answer any questions that 

you may have. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Thank you very much, Mr. 

Thompson. 

 We'll start with Dr. Berube, please. 

 MEMBER BERUBE:  Thank you very much for 

your intervention.  I have no questions. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Thank you. 

 Dr. Demeter. 

 MEMBER DEMETER:  Thank you, Mr. Thompson.  

Perhaps you could share your opinion on the pros and cons 

of a -- just for a hypothetical, for a 10 versus 20-year 

licence, what you think the net effect would be if you 

think there's anything significant on either side of the 

ledger. 

 MR. P. THOMPSON:  I believe that there's 

lots of -- that the -- as I had indicated in the -- in my 

written submission, there's a very comprehensive set of 
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activities and opportunities for the public to engage, for 

the Commission to review the operations.  I think Mr. 

Burton summarized that very well, which is that there is a 

lot of activity and effort required and focus required for 

the renewal hearings that could be refunneled and put 

towards progressing the activities in support of those 

licence and continued engagement, and thus it does reduce 

the level of bureaucracy, and thus improves the overall 

efficiency. 

 I do note that interventions are allowed 

in the Regulatory Oversight Review, which is very 

important, and I also notice that oral intervention is also 

allowed for the indigenous peoples at those Regulatory 

Oversight Reviews. 

 And so I thus believe that there's 

adequate opportunities for oversight and for the public to 

become engaged and to ensure that the -- any appropriate 

mechanisms that already exist are well in place to ensure 

the continued safety, operation and oversight of the 

nuclear facility. 

 MEMBER DEMETER:  Thank you very much. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Mr. Kahgee. 

 MEMBER KAHGEE:  Thank you for your 

presentation.  No my question went to term, and you've 

answered that. 
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 Thank you very much for your presentation. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Mr. Thompson, you've been 

involved in numerous Commission proceedings.  And as you 

kind of reflect back, is there anything that you would 

recommend to make the proceedings more efficient, more 

effective, allow better engagement and, frankly, at the end 

of the day, bring about greater confidence by members of 

the public? 

 Your perspective would be very valuable. 

 MR. P. THOMPSON:  Thank you again, for the 

record.  It's Paul Thompson. 

 And thank you for the question. 

 I was very pleased as a resident of 

Nerepis, New Brunswick to see in my mail some advertising, 

notification that came from the Canadian Nuclear Safety 

Commission informing me of webinars that were going to 

happen that would be put on associated with the upcoming 

licence renewal for background and information, and 

information about the hearing. 

 I think that that helped.  I think your 

use of technology -- I know we all changed and pivoted 

during the pandemic.  Being here on the east coast, I think 

we appreciate maybe the virtual aspects of joining in and 

participating probably more so than those in Upper Canada, 

as I refer to it. 
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 Of course, you've utilized technologies 

with your online streaming of public hearings and your 

archive ability to watch hearings, which we really do 

appreciate. 

 So I've seen, I guess, over time, the CNSC 

being innovative in terms of how you're reaching out and 

looking for the public and getting them involved and 

prepared for these hearings, and I think that is a really 

good improvement. 

 I think hybrid meetings allows for that 

opportunity for those that can't afford to travel to 

come -- and I know and recognize and applaud the 

Commission's practice of rotating hearings and having the 

second day in the location of which the decision's going to 

be made, and I think that's a good practice.  You make 

yourself available, and that's great, but also allowing 

hybrid interventions.  And you've really, I think, mastered 

that technology very well. 

 So I think -- I see that as evolving very 

nicely.  I appreciate the questions that the Commission ask 

to fully explore and understand the issues so that you may 

make an impactful and informed decisions and record the 

basis of your decisions, and that's very tough. 

 I don't -- I don't envy your role.  It's 

very challenging.  And I appreciate it and really 
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appreciate you serving on such an esteemed body. 

 I think one area, perhaps, is time 

management and sort of sticking to the scope of the 

hearings, perhaps at times, but I also recognize that you 

need leeway to explore those issues and to be respectful 

for those intervening.  And so I don't want to sit in 

judgment of that because I know if I sat up front, it would 

be different than me sitting in the audience watching, so I 

appreciate that. 

 And I also appreciate your question to say 

“How can we do better?”.  That’s the -- you know, the tenet 

of continuous improvement and I know it's in the management 

system that your staff have and it's well recognized and 

it's great to see it in action. 

 Perhaps not a great answer to your 

question.  I wasn't really expecting that one, but thank 

you. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  That was a great answer.  

Thank you. 

 Thank you, Mr. Thompson, for appearing 

today.  Thank you for your intervention. 

 Our next presentation is by Narrative 

Research as outlined in CMDs 22-H2.142 and 2.142A. 

 And Mr. Craig Wight will be presenting. 

 Mr. Wight. 
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CMD 22-H2.142/22-H2.142A 

Oral presentation by Narrative Research 

 

 MR. WIGHT:  Thank you very much. 

 My name is Craig Wight.  I'm the Managing 

Director for New Brunswick for Narrative Research, and 

today I'm going to present the most recent results of our 

Point Lepreau public opinion survey. 

 Let me just start with a little bit of 

background information. 

 The study itself has run for approximately 

20 years every year for the last five, and approximately 

two years previous to that.  The survey includes questions 

on perceptions of NB Power itself, but mostly of the Point 

Lepreau Generating Station.   

 And my focus today will be on the 

Generation Station and the main piece of research that we 

do, and that piece is a random telephone survey of 600 New 

Brunswickers. 

 The data for that is quite recent.  It was 

collected in early March, March 2nd to the 20th, and it has 

an overall margin of error of plus or minus 4 percent. 

 A short summary.  This page really 

summarizes most of the Point Lepreau questions, and I'll 
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just go through it quickly. 

 The top line from left to right has 

percentages that are -- that are kind of agreements, so 78 

percent believe it's important that Point Lepreau be 

operational.  Next to that, the 95 percent, virtually 

everybody, finds it important to be closely informed about 

Point Lepreau; 69 percent believe that Point Lepreau being 

operational is an important part of New Brunswick meeting 

our carbon emission targets; and the 61 percent are the 

people who believe it is useful to receive information 

about Point Lepreau via NB Power's website. 

 In the bottom left you will see six 

statements and six sets of numbers there.  These are all 

about point Lepreau.  The three on the left are all in the 

kind of 70 percent agreement level at the top and New 

Brunswick needs Point Lepreau to ensure an adequate supply 

of electricity; the next one, 72 percent, Point Lepreau 

operates safely; and 70 percent, is closely regulated. 

 And then the next three over to the right 

are all in the kind of mid-60 level:  New Brunswick will 

still be generating nuclear power in 20 years; Point 

Lepreau operates in an environmentally responsible manner; 

and the facility operates efficiently. 

 So high levels of agreement through all of 

these questions. 
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 The one remaining number is the one on the 

sheet that is about NB Power overall, not just Point 

Lepreau, and 77 percent have a favourable opinion of NB 

Power, 77 percent of New Brunswickers. 

 I just draw your attention to the six 

statements that were on the bottom left, because they are 

repeated on the next slide.  So same statements.  The 

reason I have included it again is it shows all of the 

possible responses.  So from left to right is the 

agreement.  First of all, the dark green is strongly agree, 

the teal is somewhat agree, the darker grey is the neutral, 

and then next to that is somewhat disagree and strongly 

disagree. 

 So this slide shows just with a quick 

visual scan the level of neutrality in the grey and also 

the level of disagreement in the orange and the beige, and 

then a small number of people who weren't able to answer 

the questions. 

 So what this highlights is really 

depending on the question there is about 10 to 15 percent 

who were neutral on any of these questions and 

approximately 10 to 15 percent who are in disagreement with 

the statement.  So you see the high level of agreement and 

the relatively low level of disagreement. 

 You remember the 95 percent who felt that 
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it was important to be closely informed about Point 

Lepreau.  So two questions. 

 This was an unaided open-ended question 

that asked what was it important to be informed about and 

you will see that the top three, safety issues and concerns 

were mentioned by 35 percent, 21 percent said everything, 

keep us informed about everything, and the third one at 15 

percent was the environmental impact and a mention of 

waste, and then several other mentions that are not quite 

as high as those.  So that was an unaided question, people 

generated their own responses. 

 The next one was what we call an aided 

question.  In this case we provided the choices and said 

just how important is it that you have information about 

these topics.  And in this case it was a 1 to 10 scale.  I 

tend to think of 8, 9 and 10 as high scores in these cases; 

5, 6 and 7 is kind of the middle; and then lower, 1 to 4.  

So again, you can see the high scores very easily in the 

dark green. 

 So of most importance on this prompted 

question:  operations and activities that might impact the 

public is what people would like to hear about; 

environmental monitoring, 73 percent, in those high ranges; 

unplanned maintenance at 60; and then just slightly behind 

that, planned maintenance at 57.  Very little of it though, 



 

 

 

 

 

 
 

  

313 

if you look to the far right in that kind of orange colour, 

which is the bottom for suggesting unimportant, very, very 

little response that says it is unimportant.  So again, 

everything is of interest and is important to the general 

public. 

 Thank you very much.  I am happy to answer 

any questions that you have. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Thank you very much, Mr. 

Wight. 

 We will start with Mr. Kahgee, please. 

 MEMBER KAHGEE:  Thank you very much for 

your submissions and information provided today, very 

helpful. 

 Just a couple of quick questions, perhaps 

in terms of methodology and scope. 

 I understand these were kind of random 

calls.  Am I correct?  Yes. 

 And what was the extent of the reach in 

terms of those calls?  Was it local?  Was it spread out? 

 MR. WIGHT:  Spread out.  It covers the 

whole province proportionately -- 

 MEMBER KAHGEE:  Okay. 

 MR. WIGHT:  -- and we are quite careful to 

balance language, age and gender to make sure those quotas 

line up.  A margin of error can really only be calculated 
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on a random survey like that, so the plus or minus 4 

percent comes out there. 

 Had that been an online panel survey as an 

example, which is used quite a lot in the industry, really 

our guidelines are not to calculate a margin of error in 

that case. 

 MEMBER KAHGEE:  Thank you.  That's 

helpful.  And did that reach extend to Indigenous 

communities? 

 MR. WIGHT:  Yes, it did.  We end up -- it 

is one of the numbers we check actually and we end up in 

that 600 sample with the correct proportion.  I am going a 

little bit by memory here.  I believe it is 3 percent, 

maybe 4 percent that are Indigenous people and that 

identify as Indigenous as well.  We also did an oversample 

of Indigenous people.  They are not in the 600, but we do 

extra to boost that sample because the 3 or 4 percent ends 

up being a relatively small group of people. 

 MEMBER KAHGEE:  Now, are the same types of 

questions being asked? 

 MR. WIGHT:  Exactly the same questions. 

 MEMBER KAHGEE:  Okay.  And do you have 

numbers for that? 

 MR. WIGHT:  Yes.  I can give you in 

general.  So the first Nations, the demographics were very 
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similar and the responses to the questions, I can give you 

some specific ones, but in general they were just a little 

lower, like 3 to 5 percent lower on agreement compared to 

the general public in that group. 

 The other -- it is not quite your question 

but it might be of interest.  We were also able to pull out 

the group within a 40-kilometre range around the facility 

and that group is generally much more positive than the 

general public. 

 MEMBER KAHGEE:  That is helpful.  Thank 

you. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Dr. Berube...? 

 MEMBER BERUBE:  Well, thank you for the 

survey.  Some interesting information comes out of it. 

 One of my questions has already been 

answered.  The other question I have is how was this survey 

funded? 

 MR. WIGHT:  It is paid for by New 

Brunswick Power. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Dr. Demeter...? 

 MEMBER DEMETER:  Thank you for the survey. 

 I will get a little epidemiologic here.  

So I gather you did a stratified random sample where you 

keep sampling until you get the proportions right so that 

at the end of the day you sampled sufficient numbers even 
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though you have a non-response rate -- 

 MR. WIGHT:  Correct. 

 MEMBER DEMETER:  -- that you have 

stratified your random -- you keep going until you get the 

right proportions? 

 MR. WIGHT:  That's correct, yes. 

 MEMBER DEMETER:  Okay.  That really helps 

me understand the methodology. 

 The question I had is in one of your 

slides you talk about you had 20 years.  There is no trend 

analysis here.  So can you speak to any kind of trend 

analysis that this 20 years of data has shown you? 

 MR. WIGHT:  Yes.  They range on any of 

these questions.  So for example if we are at about 70 

percent, they range over those 20 years maybe as much as 5 

or 6 percent lower and 2 or 3 percent higher.  So as you 

look across the 20 there is certainly some fluctuation, but 

I would say pretty stable, except for the years when it was 

actually being refurbished when it tended to drop.  And 

some of the questions at that point, you know, does it 

operate efficiently, obviously not at that point, you know, 

those kinds of questions.  So it did drop then, but other 

than that I would say, you know, pretty stable, within 5 

percent or so. 

 MEMBER DEMETER:  Thank you. 
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 THE PRESIDENT:  Do you do something 

similar for other industrial establishments or another 

sector?  I mean, I don't know whether 80 percent is good or 

meh. 

 MR. WIGHT:  Oh, okay.  In business 

surveys, numbers -- certainly numbers in the 70 percent 

agree I think are good, no question at all.  There is no 

such thing as 100 or virtually no such thing as 100.  You 

know, very high numbers would probably be 80, so they are 

quite solid. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  And I was particularly 

interested in the -- and I think it is about 15 percent who 

neither agree nor disagree, especially when it comes to 

does it operate safely, is it closely regulated.  If you 

were to dig a little deeper into that, is it because of 

lack of information or is it empathy or do you have any 

insights? 

 MR. WIGHT:  It is hard to tell.  I think 

you could offer both as possible explanations.  I don't 

really know the answer.  I think both would be legitimate.  

I think those numbers do show an opportunity for maybe more 

information, you know, to -- because once people do decide 

they tend to be much higher levels of agreement, so you 

would look at that group and say well, you know, maybe with 

more information they would also agree, not obviously all 
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of them, but I think there is an opportunity there.  But 

why they are neutral, I really don't know. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Thank you very much -- 

 MR. WIGHT:  Thank you 

 THE PRESIDENT:  -- for sharing those 

insights.  It is very much appreciated. 

 Okay.  We will move to our next 

presentation.  And while we wait to get them seated, I will 

introduce the next item.  It is the by the Town of St. 

George, as outlined in CMDs 22-H2.121 and 22-H2.121A.  

Mayor John Detorakis will be presenting. 

 So, Mayor, the floor is yours whenever you 

are ready. 

--- Pause 

 

CMD 22-H2.121/22-H2.121A 

Oral presentation by the Town of St. George 

 

 MAYOR DETORAKIS:  Good evening.  My name 

is John Detorakis.  I am the Mayor of the Town of St. 

George and I am here intervening on behalf of the Town in 

this hearing to support the application of NB Power for a 

multi-year extension of the operating licence of the 

station. 

 As an introduction, I would like to 
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highlight a few facts that engage our town with the 

station. 

 We are in close proximity to the station, 

probably about 30 kilometres as the crow flies.  Many of 

the station staff have homes in our town and surrounding 

areas and they contribute to its economy significantly. 

 The Point Lepreau Nuclear Generating 

Station offsite emergency coordination centre is located in 

our Town and the Point Lepreau public outreach program has 

very rigorously engaged our town, the Mayor, the Council in 

public hearings with respect to the offsite emergency 

centre. 

 And finally, the Town Council endorses the 

application and the Mayor has a long history with Point 

Lepreau.  I have spent about 25 years starting when Point 

Lepreau started its operation and know well the quality of 

operations and the safety culture of the station. 

 So the purpose of our intervention is to 

strongly endorse the application.  There has been a lot of 

talk about the length of the new licence that you consider 

granting and there have been -- I have been from the 

generation where the licences were five years, but I hear 

that they are much longer now, 20-25 years.  Regardless, I 

believe that the CNSC has the tools to continue to monitor 

operations and ensure that the station is running safely 
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and every year there are formal reports to actually satisfy 

the Commission and the public that this is happening. 

 So the purpose of our intervention today 

is to actually review some of the CNSC mandates, both as it 

considers a very long-term licence, 25 years, and remind 

the CNSC that it had a historic practice to demand 

compliance from the licensee with regards to not only the 

Nuclear Safety Control Act and Regulations, but with all 

statutes, federal or provincial. 

 Just to sum up, the base of our support 

comes from the Point Lepreau excellent safety record, which 

I have to actually thank NB Power for spending a very long 

time engaging with our Town to demonstrate that this is 

indeed the case, not only with brochures but also giving us 

some really thorough technical presentations, from 

reliability to environmental discharges to even the Delta T 

across -- wondering about the climate effects and walking 

us through how this thing figures out in business in their 

long-term trend. 

 So there is an excellent safety record and 

there is a highly reliable source of energy for the Town 

and surrounding areas.  Of course, the economic 

contribution and the role of Point Lepreau in nuclear power 

in New Brunswick in supporting research at the University, 

which supports both our youth, increases the jobs, also the 
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economy. 

 Going back to the CNSC's historic practice 

to require licensee compliance with all provincial and 

national requirements, I want to actually focus on 

Bill C-12, which is essentially a Bill that looks for net 

zero accountability towards greenhouse gas emissions over 

the long term, which is comparable to the new licence that 

you are considering granting. 

 I just want to actually spend the next two 

slides to tell you this is not an academic issue for our 

local communities.  I am a farmer for the last 10-15 years 

and climate change matters, but also our communities have 

been actively engaged in actually recognizing the problem 

and making plans to actually react to the problem. 

 So I just want to walk you through the two 

slides. 

 St. George actually went through an 

exercise of cataloguing our CO2 emission inventories, both 

from our municipality and our community at large, and we 

made some commitments to actually deal with that problem. 

 So both the municipal emissions and the 

community emissions represent about 20,000 tonnes of CO2 a 

year and we made a commitment to actually reduce them, to 

reduce them by 30 percent below the 2015 level by the year 

2030.  And to do that, we will rely on NB Power being a 
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source of reliable, clean carbon-free energy.  So that is 

why we are bringing this issue here as you are considering 

a long-term licence for Lepreau. 

 CNSC has some tools which they can 

exercise in actually helping the province.  In fact, I want 

to say that there are some national requirements for the 

province to engage with the national program and there are 

some reported requirements that are going to be coming up 

in the next year.  So as you consider a long-term licence, 

it is a nice thing to include that in your consideration. 

 So in summary, I want to say that the 

recommendation from the Town of St. George to the 

Commission is to approve the long-term licence renewal of 

Point Lepreau, as NB Power has applied, for the next 25 

years, but to actually include in your plans, in your 

considerations, some requirements for the applicant NB 

Power to come up with method, schedule and compliance 

reporting processes and reports that will provide 

accountability with our national goals in Bill C-12. 

 Thank you very much for the presentation.  

I'm going to answer any questions that you may have on 

this. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Thank you for the 

presentation. 

 Let's start with Dr. Berube, please. 
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 MEMBER BERUBE:  Yes.  Thank you for the 

presentation.  It was really interesting actually, that you 

are actually looking at climate change from a long-term 

perspective already and putting plans in place. 

 So would you say that Point Lepreau is 

actually absolutely integral to your climate change plans 

at this point? 

 MAYOR DETORAKIS:  Well, NB Power is our 

provincial utility in Lepreau.  The last time, from what I 

hear, it was like about 40 percent.  Last year it was about 

40 percent or more of the overall production.  So it is a 

major source of carbon-free supply of electricity in our 

province. 

 MEMBER BERUBE:  The other question I have 

related to climate change is you said you have been a 

farmer for a while. 

 MAYOR DETORAKIS:  Yes. 

 MEMBER BERUBE:  Have you actually seeing 

changes in crop in terms of your growing season and soil 

moisture composition over that time? 

 MAYOR DETORAKIS:  We are a greenhouse 

operation and we see the effect in the hotter summers, 

which challenges our ability to pull great harvests.  And 

yes, it is here.  Even if you look at our local levels, the 

Bay of Fundy is warming up.  I mean, you know, I am living 
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in a community that is heavily vested in fisheries and 

agriculture, and the viability of this industry is 

important.  So recognizing that there is a problem with 

warming up of the Bay is an essential component.  That is 

why my presentation. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Dr. Demeter. 

 MEMBER DEMETER:  Thank you for your 

presentation, and I really appreciated the carbon footprint 

information.  I have no specific questions.  Thank you. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Mr. Kahgee. 

 MEMBER KAHGEE:  Thank you, Mayor, for your 

presentation and your submission today. 

 Perhaps just a follow-up with CNSC staff 

with respect to Bill C-12. 

 I’m just curious.  What efforts are being 

made to ensure the licensees are or will be compliant with 

Bill C-12? 

 MR. ELDER:  Good evening.  Peter Elder, 

for the record. 

 Bill C-12, or now it’s actually Canadian 

Net Zero Emissions Accountability Act, and I think 

reference on accountability because what it actually 

requires is for the Minister of the Environment and Climate 

Change to set targets and plans to achieve net zero by 

2050.  So it’s done in five-year cycles, or roughly 
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five-year cycles.  The first plan goes to 2030. 

 The Bill actually requires reporting back 

to Parliament on that one, and it does include submissions 

by both Indigenous Nations and communities and the 

provinces. 

 So any commitments of NB Power would be 

included in the New Brunswick section.  That would then be 

tracked through Environment and Climate Change Canada. 

 So it’s not actually binding on the 

provinces.  It is actually a measurement tool.  The next 

plan would have to include corrective actions if you don’t 

meet the targets in the first plan.  But it’s not a binding 

commitment on the provinces or even the government.  It is 

to make sure that there is routine update and there is 

actually steady progress towards net zero. 

 So essentially it’s a law.  It doesn’t 

have any enforcement power by itself, other than the 

reporting to the public and the updating of the plans. 

 MEMBER KAHGEE:  Okay, that is helpful.  So 

there’s not necessarily any intersection at all with CNSC 

with respect to the Act? 

 MR. ELDER:  Well, we looked at it from the 

point of view of what are they committing to and 

investigating?  So New Brunswick, in my quick look I didn’t 

see New Brunswick committing to it, but in the Alberta plan 
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there was something about up to 2030 in looking into the 

possibility of small modular reactors. 

 So that’s included as something that they 

are supposed to be considering in up to 2030.  So we look 

at it in terms of what could be coming our way, but we 

don’t see any point where we could actually enforce part of 

the Act just because of how the Act is written. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Mayor, thank you very much 

for your intervention and coming today.  Thank you. 

 We will move to our next presentation, 

which is by Westinghouse Electric Canada, as outlined in 

CMD 22-H2.2. 

 Mr. Pascal Zulow is here to make the 

presentation. 

 Over to you, please. 

 

CMD 22-H2.2 

Oral Presentation by Westinghouse Electric Canada 

 

 MR. ZULOW:  Madam President, Members of 

the Commission, I would like to thank the Commission for 

the opportunity to make a few remarks in support of New 

Brunswick Power’s licence renewal for the Point Lepreau 

Nuclear Generating Station. 

 We have already provided the Commission 
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with a written submission detailing the reasons 

underpinning Westinghouse’s support for the renewal.  I 

will highlight a few key points in the minutes allotted for 

my remarks today. 

 Westinghouse firmly believes that nuclear 

power provides safe, reliable, low-carbon baseload 

electricity generation.  Point Lepreau Nuclear Generating 

Station is a foundational piece to the province’s and the 

country’s clean energy goals, supplying clean power to meet 

over a third of our province’s electricity demands. 

 Our support for Point Lepreau’s licence 

renewal is based primarily on three important 

considerations. 

 First and foremost is safety.  NB Power’s 

commitment to safety and continuous learning is paramount 

to ensuring the safe and reliable operation of the plant.  

A strong nuclear safety culture has been showcased with 

every interaction with Westinghouse, over virtual meetings, 

site visits and execution of various projects over the 

years. 

 There is a real sense of pride and 

ownership of the station shared by all staff, which 

contributes to the station’s strong safety culture and 

reliable operations. 

 I can personally attest to this.  All 
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staff look out for each other, as well as the safe 

operations of the plant. 

 Second, Point Lepreau has completed a 

major life extension in 2012, as well as a series of 

ongoing asset management and long-term strategic 

initiatives that support the sustainable operation of the 

station. 

 They range from fit-for-service 

assessments to equipment reliability studies, some of which 

we have witnessed firsthand. 

 Third, NB Power’s welcoming and supportive 

environment encourages diversity, inclusion and local 

community engagement.  In this respect, Westinghouse is 

committed to growing its local presence in New Brunswick, 

to further support local communities and the continuous 

operation of Point Lepreau. 

 Lastly, understanding that the mandate of 

the Canadian Nuclear Safety Commission is to protect the 

health and safety of Canadians, as well as our environment, 

we would like to highlight how Westinghouse’s vision aligns 

with the CNSC mandate and NB Power’s request for regulatory 

approval for the licence renewal of Point Lepreau. 

 At Westinghouse it is our vision that we 

must work together to advance the technology and services 

that will safely power a clean, carbon-free future that 
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meets Canada’s climate Action Plan and net zero emission 

goals. 

 Ensuring all the appropriate regulatory 

commitments are met or exceeded are non-negotiable.  Due to 

the efforts the Government of Canada is placing on 

achieving net zero targets, our industry has been given a 

robust mandate towards safe and effective nuclear operation 

in Canada. 

 The continuous operation of Point Lepreau 

is a key contributor to meet these goals. 

 For these and other reasons set out in our 

written submission, Westinghouse is confident that NB 

Power’s application for the licence renewal of Point 

Lepreau Generating Station has been thoroughly reviewed 

against applicable regulatory requirements, current codes, 

standards and practices. 

 Through a strong operational excellence 

culture, a commitment to safety and a focus on continuous 

improvement, the station remains suitable for continuous 

operation and does not pose any unreasonable risk to the 

public, personnel or the environment. 

 Let me conclude with a comment.  Canada’s 

targets to achieve net zero emissions by 2050 needs 

nuclear.  The Province of New Brunswick’s carbon emission 

goal needs nuclear.  The continuous operation of the Point 
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Lepreau Generating Station is an important step to ensure 

those goals are met. 

 Thank you. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Thank you very much. 

 We will start with Dr. Demeter, please. 

 MEMBER DEMETER:  Thank you for your 

presentation.  I don’t have any specific questions. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Okay.  Mr. Kahgee? 

 MEMBER KAHGEE:  Thank you very much for 

your submission.  I have no questions as well.  Thank you. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Dr. Berube. 

 MEMBER BERUBE:  Yes.  Thank you for your 

submission. 

 Are you an active contractor at the site 

right now? 

 MR. ZULOW:  I am. 

 MEMBER BERUBE:  Okay.  Could you please 

give us some insight into the safety training that you 

receive as a contractor on site? 

 MR. ZULOW:  Yeah, no problem. 

 I actually moved to New Brunswick about 

two years ago, and I was onboarded then, going through all 

the orange badge qualifications, safety training, 

radiological, environmental and such.  So typical 

onboarding for work at site, which I did for about a year 
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and a half. 

 MEMBER BERUBE:  Can you elaborate on maybe 

some of the physical safety requirements that you have to 

partake in while you are on that site? 

 MR. ZULOW:  My background is engineering, 

so I’m not a hands-on type person per se.  Any time I go 

into the plant there is a focus on safety, pre-job briefs, 

post-job briefs, a clear mandate on what it is I’m going 

into the plant for. 

 So safety is always on the forefront. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Thank you very much, Mr. 

Zulow, for coming and presenting today. 

 MR. ZULOW:  Thank you. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Our next presentation is 

from Mr. Geoff McCabe, as outlined in CMD 22-H2.223. 

 Mr. McCabe, over to you, please. 

 

CMD 22-H2.223 

Oral Presentation by Geoff McCabe 

 

 MR. McCABE:  Good evening.  For the 

record, my name is Geoff McCabe. 

 Good evening, President Velshi and Members 

of the Commission. 

 Thank you for the opportunity to speak to 
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you today in support of the renewal of Point Lepreau’s 

operating licence. 

 I’m one of the hundreds of dedicated 

nuclear professionals who work at Point Lepreau.  As a 

certified nuclear security professional with nearly two 

decades of experience, I understand the tremendous role and 

responsibility that comes with my job. 

 I have a personal responsibility to my 

coworkers, my community and to the entire nuclear industry, 

and this responsibility extends well beyond the boundaries 

of Point Lepreau. 

 As a Shift Sergeant for Point Lepreau’s 

Nuclear Response Team, one of my many roles is to ensure 

the personal safety of my team members as we work together 

to uphold the safety and security of the station. 

 As a company, New Brunswick Power has a 

safety-first mindset and sets extremely high expectations 

for staff in this regard.  And as an employee, I am 

supportive of these high standards as they align with my 

personal values to dedication and safety as well. 

 Point Lepreau has received international 

recognition for our safety record from organizations within 

the nuclear industry, such as the Institute of Nuclear 

Power Operations, and elsewhere.  And I am proud to be part 

of the team that has helped earn this recognition. 
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 In 2019 I became a member of the World 

Institute for Nuclear Security, which is headquartered in 

Vienna, Austria, and is recognized by the International 

Atomic Energy Agency in promoting best practices within 

nuclear security and related areas. 

 WINS is an organization committed to 

building an international community of nuclear security 

professionals, who work together to strengthen the security 

of nuclear plants and those related industries. 

 Through the WINS Academy I completed five 

elective courses and earned certifications both as a 

nuclear security professional and radioactive source 

security professional.  These certifications have allowed 

me to further establish my overall commitment and 

credibility to the security and safety of our CANDU-6 

station. 

 For the past several years I’ve also been 

formally recognized as one of 27 worldwide ambassadors for 

the WINS Academy and have encouraged several of my peers at 

Point Lepreau to earn their WINS certifications as well. 

 I learned at WINS that together the global 

nuclear security community plays a vital role in improving 

nuclear security culture from the inside-out, and I’m proud 

to bring this knowledge and expertise to Point Lepreau to 

help further enhance the strong safety and security culture 
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that we have here at our station. 

 The WINS organization also recognizes that 

a strong security culture within a nuclear power plant 

translates to public trust.  This also aligns with my 

personal values and my belief that safety and security go 

hand-in-hand and that education is one of our industry’s 

most important tools. 

 As mentioned earlier, I consider myself an 

ambassador in the community, promoting safety and security 

and helping educate and build trust with the public.  At 

times this influence is subtle; for example, when I see my 

neighbours following my lead and putting on safety glasses 

and wearing hearing protection when we’re mowing our lawns. 

 At other times it’s more direct, like 

sharing my experience and expertise, volunteering as an 

auxiliary police officer with the Kennebecasis Regional 

Police Force, as I have done on my days off for the past 17 

years. 

 All of these interactions are important in 

their own way.  All of them help to enhance the plant’s 

reputation and build trust in our community, where I’m 

proud to represent Point Lepreau. 

 We heard earlier Paul Thompson mentioned 

Jim Wilson, who will be speaking shortly.  I was speaking 

with Jim during the supper break, and it reminded me of a 
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time where again we build those relationships on community.  

Some years ago I brought my son, who was six at the time, 

to the station and it just so happened that Jim and his 

team were tagging Monarch butterflies.  Kathleen Duguay 

invited us to site, and I brought my son down to the 

lighthouse and he had the opportunity to help capture and 

safely tag a butterfly and get educated from Jim on the 

importance of the species and what it means that Point 

Lepreau is a safe station for these migratory insects. 

 That just shows the importance of our 

community relationship that we have. 

 Another aspect is for me and a lot of 

workers at Point Lepreau, we have quite a drive.  If many 

of you have been there, for me it’s roughly 75 kilometres 

one way.  But it’s the last 20 kilometres that I really 

appreciate.  It’s such a scenic drive when you get off the 

highway and you get onto the coast line and you come 

through Little Lepreau and Dipper Harbour and eventually 

you end up at the wharf where a lot of the fishers make 

their livelihood.  We have such a great relationship with 

them, so much so that I’m able to provide my wife with 

lobster several times a year and support the local economy 

from these hard-0working individuals on the water. 

 That’s just a couple of examples of that 

relationship. 
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 As you can tell, I’m passionate about my 

work and I will say I’m passionate about the safety and 

security of our station, its employees and the community.  

And there are many, many more like me who work at Point 

Lepreau and who share the same passion as I do. 

 The Point Lepreau team includes highly 

qualified and dedicated nuclear professionals who take 

tremendous pride in what we do but also understand 

responsibility that we must undertake to keep the public, 

our coworkers and the environment protected at all times. 

 Frankly, we are excited about the 

opportunity to serve our community for the next 25 years. 

 It is for this reason that I share my full 

support for the licence renewal, and I ask the Commission 

to approve our application. 

 I thank you again, President Velshi and to 

the Commission, for the opportunity to speak to you today.  

I am pleased to answer any questions that you may have.  

Thank you. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Thank you, Mr. McCabe. 

 We will start with Mr. Kahgee, please. 

 MEMBER KAHGEE:  Thank you very much for 

your presentation and for your years of dedication and 

service. 

 I just have a question.  You alluded to 
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the importance of a strong safety and security culture. 

 Can you help enlighten me in terms of the 

types and frequency of training initiatives that you 

undertake in your role? 

 MR. McCABE:  Certainly.  For the record, 

Geoff McCabe.  And thank you for that question. 

 In regard to that, we abide by REGDOC 

2.1.2 for safety culture in that respect.  How it 

translates into security, we do have rigorous training, 

whether that is for my own team and the Nuclear Response 

Team.  We have high standards that are set down by the 

Regulator. 

 In addition, all plant staff, whether they 

are fulltime NB Power employees or contract staff, do 

undergo some kind of security and safety culture awareness 

to make sure that they understand the importance and what 

to do in the event of a safety-related incident or any 

questions that they may have. 

 MEMBER KAHGEE:  Thank you. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  I’ll follow up to that. 

 Did you say you were one of only 27 kind 

of graduates of the World Institute for Nuclear Security 

program? 

 MR. McCABE:  Thank you for that.  Geoff 

McCabe, for the record. 
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 I’m one of 27 ambassadors for the 

Institute’s Academy and that is globally. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  What is the role of the 

ambassador? 

 MR. McCABE:  The role of the ambassador is 

to promote the World Institute for Nuclear Security and 

Academy and to try to get more nuclear professionals or 

folks that are in nuclear-related industries globally 

involved in that and enhance the security culture.  That’s 

primarily our role. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  So how many ambassadors 

would Canada have? 

 MR. McCABE:  I believe I may be the only 

one.  I would have to check on that, but I believe I am the 

only one. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Okay.  Thank you. 

 Dr. Berube. 

 MEMBER BERUBE:  Thank you for coming to 

speak before us.  I think you are the first security staff 

that we’ve ever had, so I’m going to take the opportunity 

to ask a few questions. 

 Let’s start with:  Can you give us some 

general sense of your day-to-day tasks as a security 

professional on site, bearing in mind of course this is an 

unclassified hearing?  But in general, what does your day 
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look like?  What are you looking out for?  What are you 

trying to take care of?  What are you concerned with? 

 MR. McCABE:  Certainly.  Thank you for 

that question.  Geoff McCabe, for the record. 

 Again keeping in mind the open forum, so 

high level overview in my role as a Shift Sergeant, I’m 

qualified as a Security Tactical Command, which means the 

event, the security-related incident, my role would be to 

oversee the big picture operation. 

 Day-to-day my role is to manage my team, 

to answer any questions that plant staff may have, to 

manage a variety of regulatory compliances to make sure 

that my staff and any staff or persons coming on to our 

site are abiding by the various regulatory documents and 

in-house policies and procedures that we have in place. 

 MEMBER BERUBE:  In a year how many 

exercises do you do to actually verify and validate the 

kind of procedures that you’re talking about? 

    Geoff McCabe, for the record. 

 To answer that question in regards to how 

many exercises, we work with the Regulator, and we do 

regular monthly exercises that are reportable to the CNSC 

staff. 

 We also are involved in the performance 

testing program which has been on hiatus due to the 
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pandemic.  That would involve CNSC-driven force-on-force 

simulated exercises, and those would typically occur on a 

biannual basis. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Dr. Demeter. 

 MEMBER DEMETER:  Thank you for your 

presentation and your passion.  And understanding the 

sensitivity of security questions, I just want to know in 

general:  Does your group have mutual aid agreements with 

local police or regional police agencies?  And is that sort 

of ongoing long-standing? 

 MR. McCABE:  That’s an excellent question. 

 Again, Geoff McCabe, for the record. 

 To answer that, we do have various 

Memorandums of Understanding with various off-site 

agencies.  Those agencies are brought on-site for site 

familiarization, and we do joint exercises with those 

agencies on a fairly regular basis.  Obviously with the 

jurisdiction that would fall under the RCMP’s area, so we 

work quite closely with them, as well as to the federal 

level with various intelligence and cyber aspects. 

 MEMBER DEMETER:  Thank you very much. 

 THE PREDSIDENT:  On that last point, does 

your sphere of responsibility include cyber security, or is 

it primarily physical security? 

 MR. McCABE:  Geoff McCabe, for the record. 
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 No. Cyber security would fall outside of 

our operating envelope. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Okay.  Thank you very much 

for your intervention and coming today. Thank you. 

 With that, we will move to our next 

presentation, which is by Sunny Corner Enterprises Inc., as 

outlined in CMD 22-H2.214. 

 Mr. Eric Lloyd is here to present. 

 Mr. Lloyd, over to you. 

 

CMD 22-H2.214 

Oral Presentation by Sunny Corner Enterprises Inc. 

 

 MR. LLOYD:  Good evening, President Velshi 

and Members of the Commission.  Thank you for the 

opportunity to sit and speak to you today. 

 For the record, my name is Eric Lloyd.  I 

am President of Sunny Corner Enterprises.  We are based out 

of Miramichi, New Brunswick, with offices down here in 

Saint John.  But myself and my family have called the Saint 

John region home for the better part of over 20 years now. 

 I am here to state my support for the 

application to renew the operating licence for the Point 

Lepreau Nuclear Generating Station. 

 To start, I would like to share a little 
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bit about our organization, for a little bit of colour. 

 Sunny Corner Enterprises has been in 

business for over 58 years, born out of a residential 

plumbing and heating business in northern New Brunswick in 

a small community called Sunny Corner, three hours north of 

here, just outside Miramichi.  And today we’ve grown to 

employ anywhere from 500 to 1,000 employees annually, and 

we serve national and international customers in many 

different sectors. 

 We provide a full suite of contracting 

services and industrial supply products, contracting 

services such as mechanical, piping, electrical and 

instrumentation.  In addition, we have manufacturing and 

custom fabrication facilities here in the province, making 

goods again that are shipped globally.  I’m not talking 

necessarily nuclear but just in general globally other 

products. 

 In relation to the nuclear business, in 

2005 we received our N285 certification, which many people 

here, most people know is the CSA series of standards 

required to perform work on nuclear class equipment and 

facilities.  And in addition, in 2019 we received our N299 

approval. 

 So since 2007 we have been working at the 

Point Lepreau Nuclear Generating Station, and to this day 
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we are very proud to continue to provide services to the 

station, including various maintenance projects. 

 Working with the many clients that we have 

over the years, including Point Lepreau, we’ve had the 

opportunity to experience best practises and to implement 

them into our operation.  The priority of our organization 

is the safety of our -- of our people, encompassing both 

the personal safety and -- and the premises that we work on 

because, at the end of the day, we work at customer sites, 

not our own site, so the safety of the premises are very 

important to the safety of our employees. 

 I -- I bring all of this up not as a Sunny 

Corner sales pitch, but really just to highlight the unique 

reference point that gives our organization to be able to 

express the views of the safety and quality at -- at the 

station. 

 So, this brings me to the safety and 

quality culture that we experience when working at the 

Point Lepreau Generating Station. 

 Our first-hand involvement in the plant 

operations over the past fifteen years has made us very 

familiar with the rigour that NB Power places on processes, 

procedures, quality and -- and safety.  And, based on our 

experience, NB Power has a first class focus on safety and 

attention to human performance tools which -- which we see 
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driven by their senior management. 

 Station staff have done a great job of 

creating the right safety culture for the station, in our 

humble opinion.  

 The station does a great job of not only 

having that safety culture at their facility, but holding 

companies like ourselves accountable to the same levels of 

standards, safety, expectation and compliance with human 

performance.  And, honestly, I would say over our years of 

experience there it has made our organization better.  It 

is what had allowed us to compete on a global stage, both 

from a safety perspective and from a quality perspective 

because that safety and quality penetrates the rest of our 

organization, whether it’s nuclear or not.  It’s just -- 

it’s part of the safety and it’s part of the culture. 

 So, as stated, Sunny Corner does have this 

unique view from having worked for many different 

industrial customers around the globe, and -- and I can say 

with confidence that the safety culture and best practises 

at the station is second-to-none from what we’ve 

experienced. 

 So, based on our long history and 

experience at the station we have the utmost confidence in 

the continued safe operations of the station. 

 Just to speak briefly on construction 
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trades and I -- we see NB Power as a champion in the 

mentorship and training of construction trades.  As an 

employer that relies heavily on the skills of the 

construction trades, we recognize the efforts that the 

station and their management take to train and engage the 

trades on the importance of first time quality at the 

station and -- and just recently we’ve seen this in the 

prepping for the most recent planned outage that is going 

on, senior management from Point Lepreau being involved, 

getting engaged, speaking to the new trades that are coming 

on site to express the importance and setting the tone and 

the culture of the importance of -- of this first-time 

quality and safety at site.  So, we applaud them for that. 

 We do have a great construction trade 

workforce here in the province and we hear it across the 

country, “The folks that come from New Brunswick are the 

best.”  And I think the involvement of great organizations 

like NB Power and the Point Lepreau Nuclear Station allows 

our -- our trades to be the best in Canada. 

 In closing, we have the full confidence in 

the safe operation of the Point Lepreau Nuclear Generating 

Station.  A long history of us being there for fifteen 

years has earned that confidence with us.  And, personally, 

and maybe not a lot of people get to experience that 

interaction of the safety and being, I would say, “pushed” 
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by NB Power to make sure we’re better, it makes me 

personally feel better that the quality and safety is 

there.   

 As a business partner, we enjoy a positive 

working relationship with the staff at the station.  They 

add to our communities by making companies like us better, 

better locally, but better to compete globally.  We commend 

NB Power for their strong commitment to maintaining a safe 

working environment for all employees including contractors 

like ourselves, and we look forward to continuing that 

partnership and relationship for a long time. 

 So, I’d like to thank you for your time 

and I’m open to any questions you may have. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Thank you very much for 

that, Mr. Lloyd. 

 Let’s start with Dr. Berube, please.  

 MEMBER BERUBE:  Thank you for your 

presentation.  I have no questions of you. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Dr. Demeter. 

 MEMBER DEMETER:  Thanks for your 

presentation and your passion for the province, and I have 

no questions.  But, thank you. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  And Mr. Kahgee. 

 MEMBER KAHGEE:  Thank you for your 

presentation.  I have no questions of you.  Thank you very 
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much. 

 MR. LLOYD:  Okay.  You’re welcome. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  I have a question. 

 MR. LLOYD:  Okay.  I thought I was going 

to get away. 

--- Laughter / Rires 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Oh, no.  No such luck.  

 MR. LLOYD:  Yeah.  Well, after -- after 

Jeff’s presentation, as I say, his was way more exciting. 

--- Laughter / Rires 

 THE PRESIDENT:  So, Mr. Lloyd, you know, 

you work, as you said, at many other facilities.  If you 

were to look at Point Lepreau and, say, other New Brunswick 

power facilities, do you see any difference in the safety 

culture? 

 MR. LLOYD:  That's a loaded question 

but -- but -- 

 THE PRESIDENT:  I want to know the role 

the regulators play in this. 

 MR. LLOYD:  Yeah.   

--- Laughter / Rires 

 MR. LLOYD:  But - but, yes.  Yes, we do.  

And we feel that even with the people that we pick as a 

contractor to go there, not everybody is suited to work in 

that environment because there’s a certain level of detail 
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that is above and beyond that people working at other 

facilities just can’t meet up and meet.  So, I would say 

yes, in the general sense.  Yes. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  So, can you elaborate, 

like what makes, or what are some distinct qualities that 

you would look for to work at that nuclear -- at a nuclear 

facility?  You mentioned, you know, the attention to 

detail.  What else? 

 MR. LLOYD:  It's attention to detail and 

really being -- and we’ve heard it many times from right up 

to the senior management of the organization, it’s a 

learning culture.  They look at us as we take criticisms, 

we’re willing to learn and be open to take that criticism 

and adapt.  And I think that’s another important piece.  

 THE PRESIDENT:  Okay, thank you very 

much.  I appreciate that insight.  Thank you.  Thank you 

again for -- for your intervention. 

 MR. LLOYD:  Thank you. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  We'll move to our next 

presentation which is by the Saint John Naturalists’ Club 

Inc. as outlined in CMD 22-H2.112 and 112A. 

 Mr. Jim Wilson will be presenting.  Mr. 

Wilson, over to you, please. 
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CMD 22-H2.112/22-H2.112A 

Oral presentation by 

Saint John Naturalists’ Club Inc. 

 

 MR. J. WILSON:  Thank you very much, Madam 

President and Members of the Committee.   

 I’m Jim Wilson, and I’m representing the 

Saint John Naturalists’ Club.  It’s a Not-for-Profit 

Organization formed in 1962, with approximately one hundred 

members presently.   

 I first want to make it clear that I’m not 

an expert in nuclear power generation, nor nuclear safety, 

but I have a great respect for it, obviously, and quite a 

familiarity with what I see down at Point Lepreau. 

 I am a retired professional accountant, 

CPA, CMA, with a lifelong interest in birds and natural 

history in New Brunswick. 

 Secondly, I want to state that the Saint 

John Naturalists’ Club supports the renewal of the power 

reactor operating licence for Point Lepreau for whatever 

term the Commission decides. 

 Our club has maintained a bird observatory 

building at the tip of the point since 1995; that’s now 

twenty-seven years.  The observatory regularly hosts a 

number of our members as well as other naturalists from 
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various parts of New Brunswick.  Those visitors voluntarily 

assist with seabird migration research during several weeks 

each spring and fall, and it’s a very strategic location, 

and I’ll explain that in a moment.   

 We also contract one or two highly skilled 

official counters, because we need the consistency in 

collecting the data, each spring during the peak period of 

seabird migration to lead the collection of the migration 

data. 

 The seabird data we generate is used by 

the Canadian Wildlife Service of Environment Canada for the 

management of East Coast seabird populations and will soon 

be made available online to researchers and policy makers 

worldwide, which we’re very pleased -- this is the first 

time in twenty-seven years we’re about to get it online. 

 Our club has developed a very positive and 

longstanding relationship with NB Power, and with the 

nuclear generating station at Point Lepreau over the past 

twenty-seven years. 

 The management and staff of the Point 

Lepreau station assisted with setting up the observatory in 

1995, and since then they have been extremely helpful by 

arranging security clearance for more than three hundred 

volunteers and with allowing visits by some of those 

volunteers, on a daily basis, during the spring and the 
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fall, the seabird migration periods -- not all together, 

because there’s no three hundred of them all together.  We 

only have a handful at each time, but that’s a lot of 

people that have come through that security process over 

the twenty-seven years. 

This ongoing relationship is vital to our Club’s continuing 

research work. 

 The Point Lepreau Bird Observatory is one 

of only two well-established seabird observatories on the 

East Coast of North America and it’s the only one gathering 

migration data during the spring.  There’s a reason for 

that.   

 The second is located at Avalon, New 

Jersey, just south of Atlantic City, operated by the New 

Jersey Audubon Society, with observations conducted 

annually during the fall.   

 So, we do spring, they do fall.  We have 

comparable sets of data for wildlife officials to -- to 

manage. 

 In the early spring hundreds of thousands 

of seabirds that have spent the winter along the Atlantic 

Seaboard instinctively begin to migrate northward towards 

their Arctic nesting grounds.  As the days lengthen the 

birds tend to follow the Atlantic Coast in flocks.  Now, 

they have been at sea all winter, they don’t want leave it; 
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they just tend to follow the coast as they move north. 

 Some of those birds have wintered in 

waters along the Atlantic Coast as far south as Georgia, or 

even northern Florida, and we’re at the very top of the 

Coast, so everything south of us is going to move north and 

move by. 

 As they near the Bay of Fundy its entrance 

becomes a gigantic funnel, like a natural funnel, bringing 

most of the birds close to the mainland shore where Point 

Lepreau happens to be the most prominent finger of land 

projecting from the mainland coast. 

 Our observatory sits at the very tip of 

the point providing a strategic view of most of those 

passing birds. 

 So it’s quite possible that the majority 

of the east coast seabirds wintering south of New Brunswick 

can pass within sight of Point Lepreau as they follow the 

coast north in the spring.  As many as 8,000 birds an hour 

have gone by at certain days and been counted. 

 For this reason, Point Lepreau and 

adjacent Maces Bay were declared an important bird area in 

2001.  And this is where birds tend to gather or pass 

strategically through. 

 Our club recently partnered with the 

University of New Brunswick to host and mentor at the 
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observatory a successful masters candidate in biology.  

That student researched weather conditions that affect the 

patterns of bird migration through the bay and developed a 

methodology to more accurately estimate east coast 

populations of certain species. 

 NB Power’s cooperation, by arranging 

security clearance and regular access, was critical to the 

success of his project.  We hope to extend this opportunity 

to other university students in the future. 

 Shifting now to the fall, late summer.  

For the past 17 years our club has had a special interest 

in research and conservation of the monarch butterfly, and 

you heard a little bit about that earlier in the 

proceedings this evening.  It recently became a species at 

risk, well since we started working on this.  It’s now 

considered endangered.   

 Nuclear management and staff have planted 

milkweed on NB Power property as a food source for monarch 

caterpillars and have assisted with the tagging of monarchs 

at the observatory as the butterflies migrate south towards 

Mexico where they spend the winter during August and 

September each year. 

 Data on migrating monarchs is shared with 

Monarch Watch, a research project of the entomology 

department at the University of Kansas, dedicated to the 
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protection and preservation of the monarch butterfly. 

 Sightings of tagged monarchs during their 

southward migration help research identify major migration 

routes so those corridors can be protected from further 

development and their habitat enhanced.  That’s why we do 

the tagging. 

 Over the years our club has done many 

presentations on the monarch’s lifecycle to NB Power staff, 

local school children, members of the Wolastoqey and 

Miꞌkmaq First Nations and the general public. 

 We’ve also been very honoured to host two 

of New Brunswick’s recent Lieutenant Governors, along with 

their respective spouses and staff for monarch 

presentations and tagging activities at the point. 

 Our club’s monarch tagging project is one 

of only a handful in New Brunswick.  Two of our butterflies 

tagged in the summer of 2012 were found at the El Rosario 

Monarch Sanctuary in South-Central Mexico the following 

winter.  They’d flown all that way.  They’d each flown an 

estimated 4,251 kilometres, that’s 2,642 miles, from Point 

Lepreau to South-Central Mexico.  So we know our 

butterflies make it, sometimes at least. 

 Point Lepreau appears to be the most 

important migration stop oversight for migrating monarchs 

and in all of New Brunswick as far as we know.  Its coastal 
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location and geography direct the travelling butterflies 

out to the tip of the point where several hectares of 

wildflowers bloom in perfusion during late August and much 

of September, and that’s the exact time that the 

butterflies need flower nectar for energy to fuel their 

long southward migration.   

 And from Point Lepreau it’s often out over 

the Bay of Fundy to the Coast of Maine or to Grand Manan 

and then onto the Coast of Maine.  Once at the tip of the 

point, the monarchs stop flying, feed and replenish their 

body resources before continuing on their way. 

 Nuclear management knows the importance of 

those blooming plants and ensures the flowers are not mown 

or disturbed. 

 Another reason why the observatory at 

Point Lepreau is so special is it is protected from 

vandalism.  Vandalism is a potential problem with buildings 

located in remote areas.  The point Lepreau location is 

restricted to only security cleared individuals.  There are 

security cameras present there at all times, and security 

staff patrol the area regularly, like Geoff McCabe told you 

earlier. 

 In addition, the access road is plowed all 

winter, enabling naturalists and students to visit by 

vehicle year-round, so it’s perfect for what we do. 
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 Over the past two years our club has 

created a long-term plan to ensure the sustainability of 

this Point Lepreau project so it can continue well into the 

future. 

 So in closing, I want to emphasize that 

our naturalists have been visiting Point Lepreau 

voluntarily over the last nearly three decades.  We 

understand that a high level of safety is a fundamental 

component of everyday life at a nuclear plant and we are 

comfortable with the general atmosphere we experience while 

we are there. 

 Personally, and I think I’m right here, I 

believe that this Point Lepreau project is unlike any other 

nature observatory in the world.  I think it’s unique.  

This level of cooperation between the nuclear industry and 

naturalists is almost certainly unmatched anywhere and it 

serves as a unique example of how a shared interest in 

conservation can work successfully for all. 

 Thank you very much, and I’m open to 

questions if you have any.  Thank you. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Okay, thank you, Mr. 

Wilson.  Let’s start with Dr. Demeter. 

 MEMBER DEMETER:  Well, thank you for that 

visually-stunning presentation.  I have no specific 

questions other than to share that this will be a second 
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season we’re planting milkweed in our yard for this 

particular purpose. 

 MR. J. WILSON:  Wonderful. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Okay.  Mr. Kahgee. 

 MEMBER KAHGEE:  I echo Dr. Demeter’s 

comments.  Thank you so much for that presentation.  I 

applaud your club’s efforts and amazing initiatives with 

respect to what you’ve undertaken. 

 Just perhaps one general question for New 

Brunswick Power.  What efforts have you taken to work with 

the club in terms of preservation of habitat beyond 

obviously the access, which I’m hearing is really helpful, 

but obviously preservation of habitat and things of that 

nature? 

 MR. NOUWENS:  Jason Nouwens, for the 

record.  Before I turn that over to Kathleen for some extra 

insights on that, I just want to highlight that although 

you could hear the pride in Jim’s voice, we’re very proud 

of that as well.   

 It serves to us as an example of how we 

can operate harmoniously with the environment around us and 

really consider needs as a community and work together. 

 So, Kathleen, if you could elaborate a 

little more on that question please? 

 MS. DUGUAY:  Kathleen Duguay, for the 
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record.  Thank you, Jim, for that wonderful presentation. 

 The first thing we did when we started 

working with the club is to listen and to learn and educate 

ourselves.  Then we look at what would be the 

sustainability for the club, to support them for the next 

generations.   

 We look at the climate, we make sure the 

roads are maintained for them, we establish a protocol 

where we identify the type of plants that should not be 

touched to enhance the program that they’re doing.  We help 

them tell their story.  Jim is now part of our journey with 

the community to tell that story.   

 We have embarked on milkweed planting at 

the plant and preservation ourselves.  We have educated our 

employees who are planting milkweed all throughout New 

Brunswick now.  Jim is involved with the schools, with the 

local communities. 

 We are inviting our special guests to come 

down when Jim joins us to do those presentations and really 

to spread that story.  And we have helped them as well in 

terms of the power to the lights to the bird observatory as 

well.  We help them with the security process, put them 

through the security process so they can navigate from our 

security gate to the observatory. 

 The end of the point is actually the land 
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of the Coast Guard, but they have to come on our land to 

get there.  So we work closely with the Coast Guard as well 

because a lot of time they want to bring their equipment 

there and put it there and put it on their land.  So we 

work together on making sure that we could find another 

location somewhere else in New Brunswick to allow for the 

natural habitat of the butterfly and the birds, to have a 

healthy environment for them. 

 So that’s our partnership. 

 MEMBER KAHGEE:  Thank you very much. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Did the pandemic have any 

impact on access or use of the facilities?  We’ll start 

with you, Kathleen, and then Mr. Wilson can add. 

 MR. J. WILSON:  Well, as we know, it's 

really affected everything, you know, everywhere.  

 We normally have our volunteers go down in 

the spring time and count with the designated observers 

that we have.  We contract one or two each spring.   

 Unfortunately, the last three springs 

we’ve been precluded from that because it’s a small 

building, we didn’t want to take any chances, so therefore 

we’ve not had very many volunteers.  Although, sometimes 

families or people in the same bubble have been able to go 

down when the other observers weren’t there, like on 

weekends and things like that. 
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 But essentially, it has really impacted.  

So a lot of those security-cleared individuals have not 

been able to participate in the last while, but we’re 

hopeful, certainly hopeful by next year that things will be 

much more normal and we’ll involve as many as we possibly 

can.   

 We limit the number to four people in the 

observatory at any one time for space and particularly for 

health purposes anytime we’ve had COVID people down there. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Thank you.  Dr. Berube. 

 MEMBER BERUBE:  Well, thank you for that 

presentation.  I grew-up with monarchs in my backyard as 

well, so a special spot for me with them. 

 A question for you has got to deal with 

the fact that you’ve mentioned that this is -- that the 

station’s located in a spot where there’s lots of bird 

migration, quite a bit of it actually.  So is there any 

nesting on site at all, anything, unique species, something 

that we should know about? 

 MR. J. WILSON:  There's nothing nesting 

there that’s unique.  Most of the birds pass by, that’s why 

it’s so critical and such an important spot. 

 There are seabirds that do nest on the 

adjacent islands, but not on the mainland, so it’s 

primarily just a migration spot in both spring and fall.  
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And I mentioned the spring migration of seabirds, but we 

also monitor the seabird migration in the fall, but we 

don’t get the same funnelling effect of the birds.   

 You’ll recall coming up the coast, they 

follow the coast, the point sticks out and the birds can 

come right by it and they’re fairly concentrated there on 

their journey north. 

 Coming out of the Arctic where they nest 

ultimately later in the summer, they head for the coast in 

kind of a random pattern, almost a shotgun effect.  

Anywhere they happen to be, they head for the coast in an 

almost straight line. 

 So there’s no concentration of those birds 

through the Bay of Fundy to speak of in the fall, much 

different.  

 But Avalon, New Jersey have almost the 

reverse of us.  They have a point that sticks out and when 

the birds are going down south and they hit the coast, 

continue on, they will be able to count them down there. 

 So we really have passage as much as 

anything, but nothing resident, other than the monarch 

butterflies, which do reproduce at the point on plants 

planted by NB Power and feed on the milkweed there. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Okay.  Well, thank you 

very much, Mr. Wilson, for your presentation, for your 
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intervention, and for appearing today.  Thank you. 

 Our nest presentation is by Lorneville 

Mechanical Ltd., as outlined in CMD 22-H2.132.  And Mr. 

Derek McGraw is here to make the presentation.   

 Mr. McGraw. 

 

CMD 22-H2.132 

Oral presentation by Lorneville Mechanical Ltd. 

 

 MR. McGRAW:  Good evening, Madam President 

and other Board Members.  Thank you for having me here.  My 

name is Derek McGraw and I am the Regional Manager for 

Lorneville Mechanical Contractors. 

 We are a national provider of mechanical 

construction and maintenance services to various 

industries, including the nuclear industry.  We have been 

operations for over four decades, since 1977.  And our head 

office is located in Lorneville Industrial Park in Saint 

John, New Brunswick. 

 We currently employ a staff composed of 

professionals and technicians numbering in excess of 180 

people.  We also have satellite offices in Ontario and 

Alberta. 

 In addition to our own staff, we employ 

project skilled trades people averaging around 400 per year 
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and numbers reaching in excess of 1,300 people during peak 

times. 

 At our peak we employ a wide variety of 

employment disciplines, including engineers, accountants, 

quality control technicians and inspectors, and various 

skilled trades like boiler makers, pipe fitters, 

carpenters, millwrights, electricians, insulators and 

labourers. 

 We have had the pleasure of working as a 

contractor with the employees of Point Lepreau Nuclear 

Generating Station for several years, during which time we 

supported the refurbishment and also post-refurbishment 

maintenance projects. 

 We currently hold a multi-year maintenance 

contract at the plant and provide maintenance support for 

the plant resources. 

 We have a great appreciation for NB 

Power’s strong safety record and we share and participate 

in this journey.  At Lorneville we believe safety is a 

value and culture choice, and Point Lepreau’s commitment 

aligns with this culture as a valued client. 

 As a partner, the plant has helped us 

become a leader in safety performance, which has provided 

us with the opportunity to expand our geographic areas we 

operate in, such as supporting the Bruce Power Plant in 
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Ontario.  

 This strong safety culture and commitment 

serves not only to improve safety at the plant, but also 

helps us set the tone for industry in the area. 

 Recently, over the past four years, our 

team at Lepreau, in conjunction with the Point Lepreau 

maintenance resources, have been awarded three national 

maintenance safety awards for executing 365 days work 

without a recordable injury of the workforce.  This is a 

notable achievement as we employ, on average, over 100 

full-time equivalency here at the plant. 

 Our relationship with Point Lepreau is one 

of partners, rather than a client and a vendor, especially 

when it comes to the safety culture.  But companies have 

the commitment to continuous improvement and we are 

encouraged by Point Lepreau to share lessons learned and 

our suggestions with them from work at the plant and in 

other industries. 

 We work with and for Point Lepreau 

personnel to allow for this cooperative transfer of 

knowledge and information. 

 Point Lepreau has never faltered in 

providing our personnel with thorough and effective 

training, whether that be for initial orientation, 

radiation protection training, FME and work phase training. 
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 We have never seen any aspect of the 

personal security requirements or safety compromised on any 

occasion at the plant.  Thanks to our relationship with 

Point Lepreau, we have been able to grow as a company 

having used the knowledge and expertise we’ve gained to 

obtain contracts elsewhere in the nuclear industry and 

other conventional construction industries. 

 We appreciate the opportunities that have 

been presented to us thanks to the cooperative work we’ve 

done with NB Power at the Point Lepreau station. 

 From a local perspective, having Point 

Lepreau in our community has had a significant positive 

economic impact for our company and for our community.  The 

economic trickle down effect can also be felt in many parts 

of this province.   

 Due to the high standards Point Lepreau 

has for the workforce there, including contractors, we are 

able to employ highly skilled trades people from various 

unions.  These jobs are well paid and they are based with 

people in the local communities. 

 In peak times we are able to reach out to 

other parts of the province and even other parts of 

Atlantic Canada to gain more skilled trades to help execute 

the work at the plant. 

 With that, I would like to reiterate our 
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support for the renewal of the licence at the plant, and 

I’m open to any questions.  Thank you. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Thank you very much.  

Well, let’s start with Mr. Kahgee. 

 MEMBER KAHGEE:  Thank you very much for 

your presentation.  I have no questions.  Thank you. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Dr. Berube. 

 MEMBER DEMETER:  Thank you for your 

presentation.  I have no questions. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Okay, the real Dr. Berube. 

 MEMBER BERUBE:  So the question I have of 

course has got to do with when you bring on new staff at 

Point Lepreau.  Obviously there’s an indoctrination process 

and the training process.  Could you just run us through 

that? 

 MR. McGRAW:  Certainly.  So, as I alluded 

to, we work with the building trades unions and part of the 

indoctrination process and the level of expectations of NB 

Power, that process starts by only engaging with the 

workforce that has a pre-set requirement to train before 

they are brought into the plant.   

 So we only select from people who are 

pre-trained in the conventional safety and personal safety 

trainings.  When we get to the plant there’s a multi-day 

onboarding session that brings everybody through the 



 

 

 

 

 

 
 

  

367 

nuclear safety bare minimum requirements and also 

indoctrinates them to where they’re going to be in the 

plant. 

 We also have the luxury and the ability -- 

some of our long-term people there have an elevated status 

of training and hold various levels of, you know, yellow 

badges, green badges, able to perform certain higher 

skilled tasks and higher training requirement tasks at the 

plant. 

 MEMBER BERUBE:  And for NB Power, let’s 

just talk about basically contractor oversight while 

they’re on site.  Basically, what activities do you perform 

to ensure that contractors are safe and in the places 

they’re supposed to be in, not violating security 

protocols? 

 MR. NOUWENS:  Jason Nouwens, for the 

record.  Before I turn this over to Mark, I will just say 

sort of a high-level perspective that we treat contractors 

at site the same as our own employees.  And whether they’re 

working under our quality program or under their quality 

program, their quality program needs to meet or exceed our 

own expectations. 

 So we never sacrifice any aspect of 

quality or safety and, again, treat them, train them same 

as if they were our own employees.   
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 But I’ll ask Mark to maybe elaborate a 

little bit more on contract oversight and our perspective 

on safety. 

 MR. POWER:  Mark Power, for the record.  

Thank you, Jason. 

 So thank you for the question.  Regarding 

contract oversight at site, we certainly do expect the high 

standards of all of our contractors, as Jason said, to our 

own employees.   

 This year and last year we actually 

started a first quality program we heard Eric talking about 

there earlier.  And what that is is to ensure quality.   

 So we actually train many of their 

supervisors on our quality program to ensure that when they 

were at our site working that they were working to a higher 

level quality, and in addition to this we often embed many 

of our own employees with them on the same job.  So maybe a 

skilled craft person on a particular job that they were 

working on to provide paired-up observations and provide 

that oversight with them. 

 In addition, we have regular contractor 

meetings where they’ll come and talk with us about what 

they’re doing and what they’re seeing for trends and 

improving their performance.  They get lots of observations 

done by their own supervision at various levels.  And then 
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they trend this information, bring that back, show us, and 

they act on that so that they can ensure that they 

continually improve. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Okay, thank you.  And 

thank you, Mr. McGraw, for your intervention and for 

appearing this evening. 

 And with that we will move to our next 

presentation, the last one for today which is by the Saint 

John Region Chamber of Commerce, as outlined in CMD 

22-H2.213.  And Mr. David Duplisea will be presenting this 

remotely.  

 Mr. Duplisea, over to you please. 

 

CMD 22-H2.213 

Oral presentation by the 

Saint John Region Chamber of Commerce 

 

 MR. DUPLISEA:  Good evening, President 

Velshi and Members of the Commission.  My name is David 

Duplisea and I am the CEO of the Saint John Region Chamber 

of Commerce. 

 I would first like to respectfully 

acknowledge that I am seated in our offices here at the 

Chamber and we operate on the unceded and the unsurrendered 

homelands of the Wolastoqiyik, the Passamaquoddy and the 
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Mi'kmaq peoples.  This is a statement, it’s a symbol of our 

commitment to support and commit to support the actions put 

forward by the Truth and Reconciliation Commission in our 

operations across the organization. 

 So first, thank you to the Commission for 

allowing the Chamber of Commerce and myself to represent 

the membership to speak at this very important hearing.  I 

would also like to thank all of the people in the 

organizations who have given their time and their effort in 

order to participate and share their views.  It’s somewhat 

ironic that you’re located directly across the street from 

me from where I’m speaking, however I’m grateful for the 

Zoom opportunity for health precautions for myself. 

 We are very confident in this Commission 

and in the process in place to consider all the points of 

view and to arrive at a final recommendation. 

 Now, we are aware that NB Power has 

applied for a 25-year licence.  But the chamber has no 

issues with a licence of this duration being granted as we 

have complete trust and confidence that the station will 

continue to be operated to the highest levels of safety and 

environmental protection, and we support the station 

continuing for economic health and viability for our region 

for another 25 years. 

 We are the Saint John Region Chamber of 
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Commerce, and we've been advocating on behalf of businesses 

in our region since 1819.  We are one of the very first 

business associations or chambers of commerce in the entire 

country, and I'm very proud to represent them here this 

evening. 

 We were created through a partnership of 

four different chambers of commerce and business 

associations, and we represent close to 600 companies with 

over 35,000 employees in the region.  Our membership is 

primarily 85 per cent small-to-medium size businesses, and 

through surveys they've indicated that advocacy on their 

behalf and participating in hearings such as this is the 

top reason for their membership. 

 The sources for the data and economic 

analysis for this presentation are the New Brunswick 

Building Trades Unions, Statistics Canada, and the 

International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers. 

 And although I will speak primarily on the 

economic impacts of the Point Lepreau Nuclear Generating 

Station, on our community, and our region, I would like to 

start by recognizing the importance that the public and the 

business community place on the ongoing safe operation of 

the power plant.  Nuclear safety is paramount. 

 Assessments by NB Power continue to 

demonstrate that the plant has sufficient barriers and 



 

 

 

 

 

 
 

  

372 

processes in place to protect the public and the 

environment as well as the workers at the plant itself, and 

periodic evaluations identify opportunities for 

enhancements and improvements and continue to conclude that 

a strong nuclear safety culture exists at this station.   

 Conventional safety performance remains 

very strong and recent achievements include over 2 million 

person hours without a lost time accident, with continuing 

focus on improving safety. 

 In addition, the total radiation dose to 

the public over the 30 years of operation is less than half 

of a single chest X-ray and amounts to less than one per 

cent of the regulatory limits. 

 Hand in hand with safety of the public and 

the workers is safety for the environment.  The station's 

environmental record and performance has been reviewed 

numerous times either through environmental assessments or 

ecological and health risk assessments.  And all of these 

reviews conclude that the station has minimal impact. 

 NB Power and the Point Lepreau facility 

are an integral part of our community and our economic 

landscape.  Approximately 800 workers work on this site 

full time, and these are very highly technical and very 

well-paying jobs, and many of them are in high demand in 

the industry and attract workers and their families to our 
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region.  These jobs include power engineers, industrial 

mechanics, technicians such as electrical control, chemical 

and mechanical professional engineers, administrative 

staff, emergency response, and teams such as industrial 

fire brigades, emergency and medical services.  The annual 

salary for these direct jobs is equal to $100 million.   

 Using Statistics Canada data, we can 

estimate that the indirect and induced job effects are 

associated with more than 200 industries in New Brunswick.  

The in-province job multiplier for this industry is 2.12, 

and that simply means that for every direct job supported 

by the industry, there is another 1.12 associated with it 

indirectly through the supply chain and induced effects, 

which is the labour income spent throughout the economy.  

Using this methodology, we can estimate that approximately 

1,700 jobs are supported across New Brunswick by Point 

Lepreau and many of these are in the Saint John region.  

 During planned maintenance outages, over 

1,000 contractors joined the Point Lepreau team.  Various 

trades including boilermakers, pipefitters, labourers, and 

electricians worked for an average of 11 weeks.  This is 

very valuable employment, and it keeps our trades employed 

locally and presents an opportunity for apprentices to keep 

on training. 

 If Lepreau was to close and NB Power 
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replaced it with another form of in-province of power 

generation, it is very highly unlikely that the replacement 

would be anywhere near as job-intensive and therefore would 

have less economic activity. 

 The economic health of our region and of 

our province has been identified as a top issue for our 

membership.  Our membership is supportive because they 

recognize and understand the benefits that come to our 

region because of Point Lepreau.  In a region hard hit by 

unemployment and a large portion of our workforce is forced 

to travel to other provinces for work, the Point Lepreau 

Nuclear Generating Station has a tremendous effect on 

employment in our region.  Our NB Building Trades Unions 

represent 18 local unions with 8,700 members province-wide.  

Now, that includes approximately 7,000 journeypersons and 

1,700 apprentices.   

 This economic activity contributes to 

government tax revenues which support our social programs 

and social safety net upon which we have come to rely. 

 I thank the Commission today for the 

opportunity to speak with you, and I thank you and wish you 

a good evening. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Thank you very much, Mr. 

Duplisea. 

 We'll start with Dr. Berube, please. 
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 MEMBER BERUBE:  Thank you for your 

presentation.  I have no questions at this point. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Thank you. 

 Dr. Demeter? 

 MEMBER DEMETER:  Thank you for appearing 

before us and presenting.  I have no questions. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Okay, Mr. Kahgee? 

 MEMBER KAHGEE:  Thank you very much for 

your intervention.  I have no questions either. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Okay.  And Mr. Duplisea, 

neither do I, so thank for your submission, your 

presentation, and for staying here 'til late in the 

evening.  We very much appreciate it. 

 MR. DUPLISEA:  Well thank you, and welcome 

to Saint John. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Thank you.   

 So before closing,  I understand that New 

Brunswick Power folks have an update to give us around the 

question that was posed around fish impingement and 

entrainment, so over to you, Mr. Nouwens. 

 MR. NOUWENS:  Jason Nouwens, for the 

record.   

 Yes, that's correct.  Thank you for the 

opportunity.  I'll ask Andrea McGathey to provide some more 

details on the fish entrainment entrapment question that 
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was posed with respect to the actual quantities.   

 Andrea? 

 MS. McGATHEY:  Thank you.  Thank you, 

President Velshi and Members of the Commission, for the 

opportunity to return and provide an update on your 

question.  Andrea McGathey, for the record. 

 And I believe, Commissioner Berube, your 

question was around the biomass associated with the loss 

from impingement and entrainment.   

 So the studies that were completed, the 

models extrapolated out to indicate that approximately 58 

megatonnes is lost from impingement and entrainment, 

predominantly from the entrainment aspect.  They also did 

some modelling and they looked at the number of 

individuals, and it's approximately 900 million 

individuals. 

 Now, to put that in context, when they 

looked at commercially significant species in the Bay of 

Fundy, the loss associated with the impingement for herring 

was approximately 0.7 megatonnes, and Fisheries and Oceans 

Canada landed catch data was over 31,000 megatonnes. 

 And another example contributing to the 

statement that the mortality is not significant at a 

population level in the Bay of Fundy is looking at lobster.  

Two individuals were impinged and larvae was also 
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entrained.  And they extrapolated that through their models 

to indicate that that translated into 0.5 megatonnes lost 

due to the operation of the CCW.  But the landed catch data 

from DFO for 2014 was 71,000 megatonnes. 

 So those are the ratios of mortality 

associated with landed catch to arrive at the phrase “not 

significant.”  However, it is mortality.  It is serious 

harm under the Fisheries Act and requires offsetting. 

 MEMBER BERUBE:  Thank you for that, and 

we'll get back with DFO tomorrow to actually look at the 

offsets.  Okay. 

 MS. McGATHEY:  Thank you. 

 THE PRESIDENT:  Okay, thank you.  Thank 

you for that update. 

 This brings us to the close of the hearing 

for today.  The hearing will resume tomorrow morning at 9 

a.m. 

 Thank you all for your participation, for 

your attendance, and for your endurance.  Have a nice 

evening and we'll see you tomorrow. 

 

--- Whereupon the hearing concluded at 8:34 p.m. / 

    L'audience se termine à 20 h 34 


